il

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

9 October 2023

Committee Planning

Date Tuesday, 17 October 2023

Time of Meeting 9:30 am

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices,
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the
nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point;
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so.

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in
leaving the building.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 24 January 2023 of the
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 February
2023, as set out in Minute No. CL.72, Members are invited to declare any
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the
approved Code applies.

Gloucester Road Tewkesbury Glos GL20 5TT Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk



mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Item

MINUTES
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 September 2023.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH
COUNCIL

(a) 21/01307/FUL - Moat Farm, Malleson Road, Gotherington

PROPOSAL: Erection of four dwellings following the demolition of
existing agricultural buildings.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.

(b) 21/01496/FUL - Almsbury Farm, Vineyard Street, Winchcombe

PROPOSAL: Redevelopment and conversion of Almsbury Farm
Barns to provide a mixed residential and commercial development,

comprising circa. 900sgm of Class E commercial floor space and 18
new residential units including demolition of non-historic portal framed

barns and the provision of new car parking, landscaping and
associated infrastructure.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Delegated permit.

(c) 23/00044/0UT - Land at Horsbere Drive, Longford

PROPOSAL: Residential development of up to 21 apartments,
associated infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and
landscaping with all matters reserved (amended description).

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Delegated permit.

(d) 22/01004/APP - Parcel 2988 Downfield Lane, Twyning

PROPOSAL: Reserved matters application for 47 zero carbon
dwellings including layout, scale, appearance and landscaping
pursuant to original outline application 19/01084/OUT granted at
appeal ref: APP/G1630/W/21/3280979

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Approve.

CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE

To consider current planning and enforcement appeals and Department
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities appeal decisions.

27 - 56

57 -111

112 - 140

141 - 162

163



ltem Page(s)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
TUESDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2023
COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE

Councillors: M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, S Hands (Vice-Chair), D J Harwood, M L Jordan,
G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter, P E Smith (Chair), R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman
and | Yates

Substitution Arrangements

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take reasonable
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers,
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.




Agenda Item 4

TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held at the Council Offices,
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 19 September 2023 commencing

at 9:30 am
Present:
Chair Councillor P E Smith
Vice Chair Councillor S Hands

and Councillors:

H J Bowman (Substitute for M Dimond-Brown), M A Gore, D J Harwood, M L Jordan,
G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter, R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman and | Yates

also present:

Councillor N D Adcock

PL.29 ANNOUNCEMENTS

29.1 The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

29.2 The Chair gave a brief outline of the procedure for Planning Committee meetings,
including public speaking.

PL.30 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

30.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor E M Dimond-Brown.
Councillor H J Bowman would be acting as a substitute for the meeting.

PL.31 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

31.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Code of
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 24 January 2023 and took effect on
1 February 2023.

31.2 The following declarations were made:
Councillor Application Nature of Interest Declared
No./Agenda Item (where disclosed) Action in
respect of
Disclosure
M A Gore Item 5b — Had received Would speak
22/01317/FUL — correspondence and vote.
3 Consell Green, from, and had
Tewkesbury Road, discussed the
Toddington. application with, local

residents but had not
expressed an
opinion.



31.3

PL.32

32.1

PL.33

33.1

33.2

33.3

M A Gore

S J Hands

M L Jordan

R J E Vines

ltem 5d —
23/00476/PIP —
Hales Farm,
Malleson Road,
Gotherington.

Item 5¢ —
22/01343/0UT -
Land at Chestnut
Tree Farm,
Twigworth.

Iltem 5a —
22/01104/FUL —
Elms Farm, Main
Road,
Minsterworth.

ltem 5f —
23/00187/FUL —
Barn at Cold Pool

Lane, Badgeworth.

Had received an
email from the
applicant providing
additional information
which had also been
shared with Officers.

Is a Borough
Councillor for the
area.

Had received
correspondence in
relation to the
application but had
not expressed an
opinion.

Had received
correspondence from
the Harvey Centre in
relation to the
application but had
not expressed an
opinion.

Is a Gloucestershire
County Councillor for
the area.

There were no further declarations made on this occasion.

MINUTES

PL.19.09.23

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15 August 2023, copies of which had been
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL

The objections to, support for, and observations upon the various applications as
referred to in Appendix 1 attached to these Minutes were presented to the

Committee and duly taken into consideration by Members prior to decisions being
made on those applications.

22/01104/FUL - Elms Farm, Main Road, Minsterworth

This application was for residential development of 37 dwellings (Class C3);
vehicular and pedestrian access; landscaping; drainage attenuation; and other
associated works. The application was deferred at the Planning Committee meeting
on 15 August 2023 in order to obtain full information in relation to the drainage
strategy for the site and for a Planning Committee Site Visit. The Planning
Committee had visited the application site on Friday 15 September 2023.

The Senior Planning Officer noted that a question had been raised by Members
regarding the community contributions figure of just under £17,000 and explained
this came from a standard formula applied by the Council’s Community team

2



33.4

33.5

PL.19.09.23

through consultation and was not earmarked for any particular spending, therefore,
it could feasibly be spent on the Harvey Centre or other community needs. Since
the last meeting, the applicant’s agent had submitted a thorough explanation as to
how the drainage system would work in terms of foul and surface water disposal, as
set out in the Committee report along with an explanation from the Lead Local Flood
Authority and the Council’s Flood Risk Management Engineer who had looked at
the scheme in detail and raised no objections. With regard to the Harvey Centre,
the applicant had engaged with the trustees following the last meeting and had
volunteered to safeguard a small section of land which would appear in the
approved plans and be supported by an additional condition. The applicant’s agent
had also spoken to the Harvey Centre about highway improvements and County
Highways raised no objection in principle regarding removal of the central
reservation, shown hatched on the plan, from the A48 outside the Community
Centre which would allow eastbound traffic to turn directly into the access, although
that would be subject to formal agreement with County Highways.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent indicated that the Committee would be aware of the current challenges in the
borough regarding the amount of housing needed and the necessary pace of
delivery required. During the consultation stages of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan
preparation, his clients had worked proactively with Minsterworth Parish Council and
the Borough Council's Officer team to demonstrate how this site was an appropriate
development location in the village. This had culminated in the site being included
within the defined settlement boundary, to pave the way for this planning application
following adoption of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. As such, this proposal was
plan-led and the principle of development was established in accordance with the
Tewkesbury Borough Plan. The scheme would deliver 37 quality new homes,
including 15 affordable homes, which complied with policy at 40%. The houses
were designed to a very high specification, incorporating solar panels and air-source
heat pumps, and the scheme represented a vast improvement over and above
building regulation requirements. The submitted energy assessment showed the
scheme’s energy demand would be 89% less than the national benchmark with
carbon emissions reduced by 94%. The scheme was framed by generous
landscaping and public open space, including new planting to reinvigorate the
existing orchard and recreational walking loops to connect to the A48, Church Lane
and into the adjacent play area. The proposal also delivered 55% biodiversity net
gain — significantly above the mandatory 10% requirement from November. The
scheme had been amended during the determination period to ensure that a brick
barn, identified by the Conservation Officer as having heritage value, was retained.
This barn remained within the application boundary but would be transferred back
into the ownership of Elms Farmhouse so the buildings could retain their historic
association. As detailed in the Committee report, the additional clarifications
requested following deferral of the application at August Planning Committee had
been submitted and, in addition to these updates, the applicant’s agent confirmed
that he and his clients had met with the Harvey Centre representatives again last
week. The Harvey Centre representatives had confirmed they were happy with the
proposals to safeguard the land to enable widening of the access for two cars
passing, entering and exiting the site, and dialogue between the parties would
continue in recognition of the mutual benefits that could arise during the
development delivery stage. He hoped the Committee would agree with the Officer
recommendation by concluding that the application was policy compliant with no
technical objections and supported in principle by the Parish Council.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was that authority be
delegated to the Development Management Manager to permit the application,
subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement, and he sought a motion from
the floor. It was proposed and seconded that authority be delegated to the
Development Management Manager to permit the application in accordance with

3



33.6

33.7

33.8

PL.19.09.23

the Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Development
Management Manager to PERMIT the application, subject to the
completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

22/01317/FUL - 3 Consell Green, Tewkesbury Road, Toddington

This application was for construction of two dwellings. The application had been
deferred at the Planning Committee meeting on 18 July 2023 to obtain additional
information regarding highway safety and for the County Highways representative
to attend a site visit with local Ward Councillors. The Planning Committee had
visited the application site on Friday 14 July 2023 and the site had been visited by
the County Highways Officer, Planning Officer and local Ward Member on 8
August 2023.

The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that the Officer
recommendation had been changed from delegated permit, as set out in the
Committee report, to defer to allow Officers to assess further information in respect
of highways; he explained that new information had come to light around third
party land and ownership that required clarification and discussion with the
applicant’s agent, the landowners and County Highways.

The Chair invited a local resident speaking in objection to the application to
address the Committee. The local resident indicated that, with regard to highway
safety, County Highways had stated on 30 August 2023 that a site visit had been
carried out and that the Highways Authority had undertaken a robust assessment
of the planning application. She pointed out that the Planning Committee had
requested additional information regarding highway safety, including accident
records and speed measurements, and Members could not be expected to make
an informed decision if that had not been presented. She wanted to see the robust
assessment of the planning application that had taken place in August and felt it
should be available for others to view and comment upon. She wished to revisit
the calculations in the access statement dated 11 July 2023 which set out that the
speed survey had been undertaken using a handheld speedometer on Wednesday
25 May 2022 between 1400 hours and 1510 hours, and on Thursday 26 May 2022
between 1040 hours and 1200 hours, with the average speed calculated to be
36mph. As per the highways report and data collected, the stopping sight distance
was reported as 81m — the absolute minimum — and 103m — desired — and the
maximum stopping sight distance shown on the drawing representing the site was
83.4m. She explained that, not only was the data taken during the quietest time of
the day but a handheld speedometer was a very poor way to take accurate data as
it was well known that motorists would slow down when noticing it. More accurate
data from the speed sign recording unit for two hours every morning from 1
December to 5 December 2022 between 0600 and 0800 hours showed 228 cars
with an average speed of 40.9mph resulting in an absolute minimum stopping
distance of 102m. She reiterated there was only 83.6m available so almost 20m
was required to meet the absolute minimum stopping distance and she questioned
how that could be deemed by County Highways to be safe - observations from the
site visit would have shown how poor the visibility was. She went on to indicate
that the houses to either side of the proposed two-storey dwellings would be
impacted by loss of light with 1 Consell Green losing morning light into the back
rooms of their house and Mayfield losing late afternoon light. She asked whether a
daylight and sunlight assessment had been undertaken and noted that, under the
Rights of Light Act 1959, any property having uninterrupted enjoyment of light for
more than 20 years acquired rights to light. If the development was to go ahead,
the original single storey of plot one needed to be reinstated and plot 2 should also
be single storey. The bedroom windows on the first floor of plot 1 would look

4



33.9

33.10

33.11

PL.19.09.23

directly into the top floor bedroom windows of Mayfield and Mallory which was
another reason that plot 1 should revert back to a single storey.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was for a deferral and he
sought a motion from the floor. A Member noted that the reason for deferral was to
do with land ownership and he asked for more detail in relation to that as his
understanding was that you did not need to be the landowner to apply for planning
permission. In response, the Development Management Team Manager (East)
confirmed that it was possible to apply for planning permission without owning the
land, provided the requisite notice was served on the landowner; however, the
issue in this instance was in relation to achieving the required visibility splays and
there was ambiguity around the plan detail and the measurements which had been
taken at the site visit. It was necessary to clarify who owned the land as the
visibility splays must be maintained in perpetuity — if that could not be controlled it
would be an unsafe access, as such, it was necessary to establish if it could be
achieved through land ownership. Another Member pointed out that part of the
reason for the deferral, and included within the resolution, was to obtain accident
records and speed measurements which were not included in the Committee
report. The local resident speaking in objection to the proposal had clear
information on that which should be provided to the Committee. Furthermore,
Page No. 80, Paragraph 8.35 of the Committee report stated that the application
site benefited from good walking and cycling connectivity with bus stops, places of
employment, schools and convenience stores all within 10 minutes walking
distance; however, the school had closed eight years ago so that information was
incorrect and she asked that it be updated as part of any deferral. Accordingly, it
was proposed and seconded that the application be deferred to allow Officers to
assess further information in relation to highways, including clarification of land
ownership to ensure the required visibility splays could be maintained in perpetuity
and for accident records and speed measurements to be obtained. Upon being
put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be DEFERRED to allow Officers to assess
further information in relation to highways, including clarification
of land ownership to ensure the required visibility splays could
be maintained in perpetuity and for accident records and speed
measurements to be obtained.

22/01343/0UT - Land at Chestnut Tree Farm, Twigworth

This application was for erection of up to 85 dwellings with public open space;
landscaping and sustainable drainage system (SuDS); all matters reserved except
for means of vehicular and pedestrian access from Sandhurst Lane and a
pedestrian access onto the A38.

The Senior Planning Officer advised that this application was brought to the
Planning Committee further to the applicant’s appeal against non-determination of
the application to the Secretary of State. The Council must therefore advise the
Secretary of State of its views on the proposal. The application site comprised a
field of approximately 5.3 hectares, located on the northern side of the A38,
Tewkesbury Road, Twigworth. EXxisting residential properties on Tewkesbury Road
lined the site and the site backed onto them. Sandhurst Lane bounded the site to
the east and the site was bounded by the tree-lined, private access lane to the west
which led to the ‘Nature in Art’ Gallery and Museum; open fields/farmland lay to the
northern boundary. The supporting Design and Access Statement noted that the
site was currently in use as agricultural land for arable crop production use. It did
not fall within any national or local landscape designation and the south-western
corner of the site, and the adjoining land beyond to the west and the north, were
within Flood Zone 2 with the adjoining fields to the north and west within Flood Zone

5



33.12

PL.19.09.23

3. The village settlement boundary, as defined by the adopted Down Hatherley,
Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP), ran along the
southern and eastern boundaries of the site. As such, the site itself, with the
exception of a small portion which lay between existing built development fronting
the A38, fell outside of the identified settlement boundary. A Public Right of Way
ran parallel and just beyond the northern boundary of the site, continuing across
Sandhurst Lane in an easterly/south-easterly direction until it reached the A38. The
Twigworth Strategic Allocation site, which had been granted outline planning
permission for 725 dwellings, was on the opposite side of the A38.

A number of heritage assets lay in relatively close proximity to the site including
Twigworth Court, which lay to the western side of the Nature in Art access, and The
Manor House, located towards the entrance to Sandhurst Lane on its eastern side.
Furthermore, a number of existing utilities either crossed the site or were located in
close proximity to it. A public sewer ran along the eastern site edge at the rear of
the existing housing and a water main and low voltage cable ran along the southern
boundary to the ‘Nature in Art’ access/lane. In addition, existing electricity and BT
services run along the Sandhurst Lane frontage. The current application sought
outline planning permission for the erection of up to 85 dwellings and an indicative
masterplan had been submitted to accompany the application which proposed a
single point of vehicular access off Sandhurst Lane. The accompanying Design and
Access Statement noted the presence of a remnant orchard within the south-
eastern and eastern parts of the site adjoining the A38, containing a pond and
mature trees which were proposed for retention within the indicative masterplan as
part of new ‘wildlife areas’ to serve the development. An assessment of the main
material considerations was set out at Pages No. 99-115 of the Committee report
and a number of key harms and benefits had been identified. In terms of the
principle of development, the application site was not allocated for housing
development and did not meet any of the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the Joint
Core Strategy or Policy RES3 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan. The application
therefore conflicted with Policies SP2 and SD10 of the Joint Core Strategy, Policy
RES3 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Policy H2 of the Down Hatherley,
Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Plan. With regard to landscape and visual
impact, Officers had sought the advice of an external landscape consultant who had
concluded that, whilst the A38 provided a strong and defensible boundary and the
landscape impact was, on balance, acceptable, it did not meet the landscape
protection aims and objectives of Policy SD6 of the Joint Core Strategy and Policy
E2 of the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development
Plan. The application site comprised approximately 4.2 hectares of grade 2, 3a and
3b best and most versatile land; such land had some protection from development
by virtue of national policy. The applicant’s argument to negate these concerns was
that the site was small and the loss was not significant but that argument could be
repeated for any land, leading to the gradual loss of such land to agricultural
production and the suggested reasons for putative refusal reflected this issue. In
terms of highways and access, Officers noted that, whilst County Highways had
some concerns relating to details of access to the site, the harms identified were not
such that the application should be refused on the basis of highway danger or road
safety for all users and it was considered that the concerns raised could be
appropriately addressed through conditions recommended by the County Highways
at the reserved matters stage. Officers therefore considered that the access
arrangements put forward at this outline stage were acceptable in principle and
would accord with relevant development plan policy. In relation to design and
layout, Paragraph 50 of the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood
Development Plan stated that “A matter of profound importance to Twigworth is that,
whatever growth level is ultimately determined, it should be delivered steadily over
the plan’s period through a series of modest developments and not on a large site
delivered in a short space of time. The NDP proposes an organic, piece by piece,
approach to support sustainable growth in Twigworth in line with the available

6



33.13

33.14

PL.19.09.23

infrastructure.” Notwithstanding the applicant’s attempts to argue that the submitted
revised proposal overcame the previous reason for refusal, Officers considered that
the quantum, non-linear character, layout, and location of the development
proposed remained contrary to Joint Core Strategy Policy SD4, Policies RES3 and
RES4 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Policy H2 of the Down Hatherley,
Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development Plan with regard to the location
and character of development in the area. In terms of residential amenity, Officers
considered that the level of maximum residential development proposed, as set out
on the illustrative masterplan, could be accommodated within the site without
detriment to the residential amenity of existing adjoining occupiers within the village.
Officers were satisfied that the application was acceptable in terms of affordable
housing, biodiversity and ecology, drainage and flood risk and heritage impact and
were not contrary to policy. Putative refusal reasons 4 and 5 addressed the fact
that a Section 106 Agreement had not yet been completed; however, it was
expected that those reasons could be satisfied prior to the inquiry.

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was minded to refuse and he sought a motion from the floor. A
Member noted that Page No. 101, Paragraph 8.9 of the Committee report stated
that the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neigbourhood Development Plan
had been made on 28 May 2019; Paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy
Framework stated that Neighbourhood Development Plans needed to be two years
or less, therefore, she sought clarification as to whether it was correct that it could
be used as a reason for refusal and if that would be tested at appeal. In response,
the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that, whilst the Neighbourhood Development
Plan would be said not to be up to date, it was a relevant matter in so far as it
contained the views of the local community as to where development should be
located and would be tested at appeal. The Legal Adviser explained that the plan
period for the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development
Plan was 2011-2031 but it had only been formally made and adopted in 2019 and
was still applicable. The weight those policies could be afforded in terms of the five
year housing land supply position would be explored at appeal but, just because the
tilted balance was engaged did not mean those policies should be ignored; they
may attract less weight when other factors were taken into account, for example, if
they did not comply with the National Planning Policy Framework, but the Down
Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development Plan was made at
the time of the National Planning Policy Framework so it should be in compliance
and Officers would have considered this when producing the report and balanced it
in the round. In this case, the policies should still apply and be given weight in the
decision-making process. In terms of the updated position regarding the lack of a
five year housing land supply, the Senior Planning Officer explained that was not so
important here as the Council had, in its previous decision taken not too long ago,
decided that the proposal for development of the land was objectionable and that
decision was also taken at a time when the Council was unable to demonstrate a
five year housing land supply. The Legal Adviser explained that the policies within
the Down Hatherley, Norton and Twigworth Neighbourhood Development Plan did
not allocate housing and were not, therefore, the important policies for applying the
tilted balance in this case so she confirmed it was appropriate to reference the plan
in the refusal reasons.

It was proposed and seconded that the Council be minded to refuse the application
in accordance with the Officer recommendation and, upon being put to the vote, it
was

RESOLVED That the Council be MINDED TO REFUSE the application in
accordance with the Officer recommendation.



33.15

33.16

33.17

PL.19.09.23

23/00476/PIP - Hales Farm, Malleson Road, Gotherington

This was a permission in principle application for development of the site to provide
between one and five dwellings. The Planning Committee had visited the application
site on Friday 15 September 2023.

The Principal Planner advised that the application site was located on the north side
of Malleson Road in Gotherington, partly within, but mostly outside of, the
settlement boundary and partly within the Special Landscape Area. The site
consisted of a previous farmyard and part agricultural field with the former used as a
builder’s yard and for storage. The site was generally level, although dipped slightly
into the adjacent field to the actual trodden path of the defined Public Right of Way.
The applicant had provided a number of illustrative plans for potential different
layouts - although these were not for consideration at this point - most of which
retained the non-designated heritage assets of the traditional agricultural buildings
on the site. It was not within the scope of this application to determine the details of
site layout, design, access, landscaping or drainage. As explained in the
Committee report, the application for permission in principle was limited to
consideration of location, use and amount and, on that basis, it was considered that
the proposal complied with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy
SD10 of the Joint Core Strategy and, whilst there were tensions with Policy RES3 of
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and the Gotherington Neighbourhood Development
Plan, the proposal was considered by Officers to be acceptable.

The Chair invited the representative from Gotherington Parish Council to address
the Committee. The Parish Council representative noted that 37 letters of objection
had been received, as well as 17 letters of support, and he confirmed that the
Parish Council had objected to the application so he did not intend to repeat the
objections highlighted in the written submission. He explained that the Gotherington
Neighbourhood Development Plan was created on the basis of an indicative
requirement of 86 dwellings over the plan period 2011 to 2031. To date, 98
dwellings had been built and occupied; a further 95 dwellings on the Meadow and
Trumans Farm had been consented; and, including this application, a total of 20
dwellings had been validated but not decided. This amounted to approximately 213
dwellings against an indicative requirement of 86. The Inspector’s report on the
Trumans’ Farm appeal was published on 11 September 2023 and the Parish
Council disagreed strongly with the decision but his comments were relevant to this
application, specifically in paragraph 65 where he stated: “65. There is evidence
before me indicating that various local clubs or associations are stretched to, or
beyond, capacity (including the local football, cricket and history clubs). Inexplicably,
the Inspector had not taken a precautionary approach and had allowed the appeal,
adding a further 45 dwellings to the already consented 50 dwellings on the Meadow.
Anyone with a passing knowledge of Gotherington would know that it was not a
suitable location for unconstrained development, given issues around parking and
playing field and hall sizes with little prospect of any expansion to those facilities.
Unconstrained development also shattered trust in the planning system - why bother
to produce a Neighbourhood Plan if this was what happened? It may seem a small
increment in terms of numbers but the Parish Council view was that it was
significant and needed to be taken into account. In summary, Gotherington Parish
Council had objected to this application on the grounds that Gotherington had taken
a large number of additional dwellings in the past two years with a further 95
dwellings yet to be delivered. There was no qualitative or quantitative evidence to
suggest that Gotherington could accommodate additional residents and the
community should be allowed to integrate new residents before further applications
were consented. On a precautionary basis, the Parish Council representative urged
Members to refuse the application.



33.18

33.19

33.20

PL.19.09.23

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent advised that the proposal was presented following a comprehensive
discussion with Officers on the matters relevant to this application for permission in
principle which were restricted to location, land use and amount of development. As
part of this process, further information had been provided on ecology, the existing
use of the site, and further indicative plans. The applicant’s agent recognised the
comments of the Council’'s Conservation Officer and, should permission in principle
be granted today, they would work with Officers to ensure a successful development
in due course through the technical details consent process. In relation to location
and land use, the Committee report set out that the application site was partially
previously developed land, the redevelopment of which was strongly encouraged by
planning policies. In addition, there were a number of other advantages associated
with the redevelopment of the site. Firstly, in terms of removing a non-conforming
and unfettered builders yard use from a predominantly residential area which would
improve the amenity of neighbouring properties. The removal of this use would also
result in the removal of larger vehicles, and would reduce overall traffic. In addition,
the applicant’s agent had allowed for an expanded red line either side of the existing
drive for the access road to be widened if that was deemed necessary — this would
be something to discuss further with Officers at the technical details consent stage.
In relation to the amount of development, the application was for the development of
between one and five dwellings and the removal of the modern sheds and stables to
the north would provide a site that was more than capable of accommodating this
level of development, with suitable landscaping and biodiversity net gain. In
conclusion, the applicant’s agent concurred with Officers that the site related well to
the built form of Gotherington; the grant of permission in principle would create an
opportunity to remove a non-conforming use and provide a much better landscape
setting to the northern edge of the village. He hoped that Members could support
the Officer recommendation and resolve to grant permission in principle.

The Chair invited a local Ward Councillor for the area to address the Committee.
The local Ward Councillor indicated that, although not a planning consideration,
there was strong local opposition to the application. The main concerns related to
the narrow entranceway which would cause issues if two cars were entering and
exiting the site at the same time resulting in an unsafe situation where the one
entering from Malleson Road might be forced to reverse into the path of oncoming
traffic. Furthermore, it was a brownfield site and contained a farm building — a stone
barn with some historical value — and its loss would be felt deeply in the village. He
indicated that the footpath line at the top of the development was not the original as
the dropping of rubble had forced people to move away and he felt that the original
line should be considered. Most important, any infill to the north of Malleson Road
should be avoided as it was viewed from the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
and could set a precedent for the loss of other parcels on the northern site; the local
community sought to preserve the linear nature of the village on the northern side.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to permit the application
and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member queried why there was no
response from the Landscape Officer, given the sensitivity of the site within the
Special Landscape Area and its visibility from the Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty. In response, the Development Management Team Manager (East) advised
that the Landscape Officer was not specifically consulted on all applications and, in
this case, the Planning Officer had made an assessment themselves based on the
relevant policies and using their judgement. Another Member raised concern that
the legal footpath route was not shown on the plan as it may impinge on the location
of any future dwellings and, in response, the Principal Planner confirmed she was
aware of the legal route but the trodden path was shown clearly on the site and on
Google Earth; there would need to be a diversion of the formal route which was a
separate process. The Legal Adviser agreed that, if needed, a diversion was a
separate legal process and it would not prevent the scheme from going ahead

9



33.21

33.22

33.23

33.24

PL.19.09.23

should Members be minded to permit the application. The Member asked who
would be responsible for making the decision and the Legal Adviser explained there
were a number of ways to apply to divert or stop-up a footpath; in this case she
suggested a diversion would be needed and, for an application of this nature, the
process would normally be that Tewkesbury Borough Council would make the order
to do that.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in accordance with
the Officer recommendation. The proposer of the motion indicated that, whilst there
were clear objections to the proposal, they were subject to discussion later on in the
process and at this stage he could see no planning reason to refuse permission in
principle. Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the
Officer recommendation.

23/00212/FUL - Station House, 7 Newdawn Close, Bishops Cleeve

This application was for raised ridge height and installation of rear roof dormer and
front rooflights.

The Planning Assistant advised that a Committee determination was required due to
an objection from Bishops Cleeve Parish Council on design and amenity grounds.
The proposal would see an increase in the ridge height to facilitate the installation of
a rear box roof dormer which would allow for a bathroom and two additional
bedrooms within the loft space. The dormer would extend across much of the rear
roof slope but would be set back from the eaves and finished with hanging roof tiles
to match the existing, softening its appearance and limiting harm to the appearance
of the dwelling. The proposal would see elevated rear facing windows installed
facing toward the frontages of the dwellings on Newdawn Close to the rear. The
proposed windows would be approximately 20m from the front of those properties to
the rear. Due to the relationship and orientation of these plots, the main outdoor
amenity space of rear properties would not be impacted given the dwellings would
block views to the rear. As a result of the separation distances between the
properties, it was not considered that undue harm would arise from the residential
amenity enjoyed by the neighbouring occupants. As such, the proposal would not
result in undue harm to the character and appearance of the host dwelling, or the
residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, and it was therefore recommended
that Members permit the application in line with the Officer's recommendation.

The Chair indicated that there were no public speakers for this item. The Officer
recommendation was to permit the application and he sought a motion from the
floor. It was proposed and seconded that the application be permitted in
accordance with the Officer recommendation. In response to a query regarding
permitted development rights, the Planning Assistant advised that a rear dormer
could be carried out under permitted development rights in principle but planning
permission was necessary in order to achieve the required headspace so it may not
be achievable in practice. Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be PERMITTED in accordance with the
Officer recommendation.

10



33.25

33.26

33.27

PL.19.09.23

23/00187/FUL - Barn at Cold Pool Lane, Badgeworth

This application was for rebuild of a barn and subsequent use in C3 residential
along with associated infrastructure — resubmission of application 21/01263/FUL.

The Development Management Team Manager (South) advised that this application
sought full planning permission for the erection of a three bedroom dwelling. The
site was located outside of a designated settlement boundary, within the open
countryside and in the Green Belt. The site was previously occupied by a barn
which was granted planning permission for conversion to a dwelling; however, the
existing structure had been completely dismantled and the site cleared. As a result,
the previous permission for the conversion could no longer be implemented and the
application stood to be considered on the basis of a new dwelling in the countryside.
The site lay outside of any defined settlement and would not accord with any
exception for dwellings in rural areas. Furthermore, the proposal would constitute
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and no very special circumstances
existed which would outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by way of
inappropriateness. The site was presently clear of development and the
construction of a new dwelling would, by its presence, impact openness and the
purposes of the Green Belt. Whilst it was noted that the Council could not
demonstrate a five year housing land supply, as set out in the Additional
Representations Sheet, attached at Appendix 1, it was considered that the harms of
the development in terms of its location, impact on Green Belt, unsustainable
location and potential impact on highway safety would not significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development. It was therefore
recommended that planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in the
report and the additional reason set out in the Additional Representations Sheet.

The Chair invited the applicant to address the Committee. The applicant advised
that he had purchased The Old Barn on Cold Pool Lane in April 2021 and it had
come with planning permission to build his dream family home; however, this was
during a time of lockdown due to the pandemic and he had been unable to find a
builder that could start the build within the required timeframe to keep the planning
permission alive, so he had decided to at least start the build himself. After reading
up on building regulations, he had concluded that poured concrete foundations were
required. He had not been able to find any foundations in place beneath the
existing barn and, whilst looking for the foundations, part of the roof had collapsed
when he had opened one of the large barn doors. He had decided that the only way
to safely install the foundations was to carefully take down the barn, dig the footings,
pour the concrete and then rebuild the barn into a solid, structurally sound and well
insulated dwelling, using as much of the original building materials as possible. He
had carefully disassembled the barn, storing all the timber, tiles and stones blocks
on pallets and under cover. The footings had been dug and they had been
inspected by Building Control on 19 July 2021 when he had been given the green
light to pour the concrete, which had been done the next day. The following day, he
received an email from a Planning Enforcement Officer telling him to immediately
cease all works and the resulting emails between himself and the Officer had led to
the realisation that he had made a huge mistake in taking down the barn to which
he had held his hands up, admitted the error and stopped all building work. He had
been working since then to get back his planning permission which was a very
stressful and expensive process. He had been able to find two very similar cases
where Tewkesbury Borough Council had approved the rebuild of an old building
such as his and he wished to reassure the Committee that his re-application was for
the exact same plans that had previously been submitted and granted permission —
the same size footprint as the original barn, in the exact same location. He had
provided an artist impression based on these plans and believed it would vastly
improve the appearance of the area when compared to what was there before.
Given that a solid foundation, along with power, water, sewers and drainage, was

11



33.28

33.29

PL.19.09.23

now already in place, he felt it would be huge waste of resources for this project to
stop here. The Old Barn was included on the first ever Ordnance Survey map which
was drawn between 1844 and 1888 and it would be a great shame if this piece of
history was not rebuilt. The applicant indicated that he was truly very sorry for his
mistake and begged Members to give him permission to rebuild The Old Barn into
the dream family home he had excitedly purchased nearly two and half years ago.
With reference the recent comment made by County Highways he confirmed he had
been accessing the site for the last two years without issue, but the hedge in
guestion was on his land so could be easily timmed back to give greater visibility.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application
and he sought a maotion from the floor. A Member asked for clarification as to
whether planning permission for the conversion of an existing barn had been
granted but since expired and the Development Management Team Manager
(South) advised that it was not that it had expired but it could no longer be
implemented by virtue of the fact that the building was no longer there so,
technically, there was no planning permission. The Member indicated that similar
cases had been brought to the Committee before and, in those cases, she
understood that the principle of development on site had been established through
the previous planning permission so she asked why that was not the case here. In
response, the Development Management Team Manager (South) explained that the
principle of conversion of an agricultural dwelling in a rural location was compliant
with policy, subject to the caveat that the building was structurally sound to be
converted which had not proven to be the case. As the building was no longer in
existence, implementation of that planning permission was no longer possible and
Members were required to determine the application before them — as there was no
longer a building to convert, the previous conversion policies were not applicable
and it was necessary to apply new dwelling policies which would not allow
permission to be granted in this location. A Member noted that the applicant had
stated that the materials from the original building had been preserved for reuse and
she asked if that provided mitigating circumstances. The Development
Management Team Manager (South) advised that, unfortunately, that was not the
case; Officers had assessed the application on its own merits and, whilst technically
the building would appear the same, it was not an appropriate location for a new
dwelling. Another Member sought confirmation as to whether the planning
permission would stand if the site had not been cleared and had been left in a state
of collapse and the Legal Adviser explained that if the building, or part of, was still
there, planning permission would stand; unfortunately, the building was no longer
there so there was nothing left to convert and the original planning permission could
not be carried out so it was necessary to start afresh which required assessing the
application on the basis of a clear site in the open countryside. She recognised it
was a very difficult situation, and she had sympathy with the applicant, but the
position would not be altered by using the same materials and rubble did not
amount to a building which could be converted in terms of planning legislation. In
response to a query as to whether demolition of the building constituted the start of
development, the Development Management Team Manager (South) advised that
was not true in this instance as the planning permission was for conversion rather
than demolition and rebuild.

A Member expressed the view that planning permission had already been granted,
the work had been started at a strange time during the pandemic and the applicant
had been in the process of implementing the build when the building had become
unsafe and he been told by the Planning Enforcement Officer to stop. The applicant
had confirmed that he intended to put the building back as it was and had retained
the materials to do that and he questioned whether the Council should be
encouraging work to be undertaken when the conditions made that dangerous. In
response, the Legal Adviser explained that it was the applicant’s responsibility to
take all steps necessary to make the building safe. She appreciated it was a very

12



33.30

PL.19.09.23

difficult period of time but scaffolding would usually have been put up to retain some
part of the building to allow it to be converted. The current position was that the
building had gone and it would be necessary to start again from scratch. A Member
questioned whether this meant that Members’ hands were tied and it was not legally
possible to give consent to go ahead with the application. In response, the
Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that the relevant National
Planning Policy Framework and Joint Core Strategy policies were set out within the
Committee report and it was for Members to determine the application based on
what was before them. The Legal Adviser added that, whilst it was within Members’
gift to go against the Officer recommendation, as the site was located within the
Green Belt, very special circumstances were required in order for planning
permission to be granted and, based on Officer’s advice, none had been put forward
to warrant that. If Members considered there were very special circumstances, that
may lend itself to an alternative motion. A Member drew attention to the
recommended refusal reasons, set out at Page No. 198 of the Committee report,
and suggested that these needed to be considered as a whole without focusing
solely on the conversion aspect.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be refused in accordance with
the Officer recommendation. The proposer of the motion acknowledged the difficult
situation and sympathised with the applicant but, by his own admission, the
applicant had demolished the building of his own accord — this was not his fault and
had not been intentional but planning permission had been granted to allow
conversion of an existing building to be utilised as a dwelling and there was now no
existing building so erection of a new dwelling would be at the expense of the Green
Belt and protection policies were in place for that very reason. A Member made
reference to the malicious demolition of Crooked House near Dudley, and the calls
for the person responsible to rebuild it on the basis that it was a heritage asset, and
she asked if Tewkesbury Borough Council would have required a rebuild in that
scenario. In response, the Development Management Team Manager (South)
reminded Members that it was necessary to look at the application before them and
to make an assessment based on its own merits and the relevant planning policies.
Another Member recognised this was a complicated application and raised concern
that planning permission had previously been granted for conversion of the existing
building on the basis that it was structurally sound and capable of conversion which
had evidently not been the case. He had great sympathy with the applicant but
noted that this application was for a new building in the Green Belt which conflicted
with policy; however, if Members were minded to refuse the application in line with
the Officer recommendation, he was sure the applicant would appeal and the
Inspector may take a different view given the five year housing land supply position.
In addressing the points raised, the proposer of the motion indicated that if the
building had been a heritage asset then it was possible that the Council would
require a rebuild but that was not the situation here. There was no suggestion that
the barn had been unsafe for conversion, and he presumed the relevant checks had
been carried out in that regard, rather the applicant had felt the appropriate thing to
do was to deconstruct the existing building. The application was now for a new
dwelling in the Green Belt and, although it may seem heartless, Members needed to
assess the proposal before them today. The Development Management Team
Manager (East) advised that the previous application was a prior approval
application which was a permitted development application to convert a building and
the tests for that were slightly different to a full planning permission application. He
confirmed that the necessary information had been provided in terms of a structural
study on the basis of what was proposed at that stage and that type of application
did not look at the Green Belt or locational tests in strategic policies for housing so
Members were considering a different raft of policies in relation to this application.

13



33.31

33.32

PL.19.09.23

A Member noted that Officers had got the recommendation right based on policy
but, looking at it in the round, he felt it would be harsh to refuse the application given
that there was no ill will on the part of the applicant and it was a very unfortunate
situation — if permitted, the barn would be reinstated and he felt that was the right
thing to do. Another Member asked whether permitting the application would set a
precedent and was advised that each application must be considered on its own
merits based on interpretation of planning policy. With regard to the earlier
comment regarding the five year housing land supply, a Member expressed the
view that this was a single home in the Green Belt with other objections, including
highway grounds, so she did not feel that would apply in the same way as it would
for a development of 20 houses outside of the Green Belt - in her opinion, the
planning balance was weighted the other way. Another Member indicated that she
considered that the principle of development had already been established on this
particular site and, taking into account the purpose of the Green Belt - to check
unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas, prevent neighbouring towns merging,
assisting with safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, preserving the
setting and special character of historic towns and assisting with urban regeneration
- she did not feel that permitting the application would go against the fundamental
principles of Paragraph 138 of the National Planning Policy Framework. It was a
sad situation and one which had happened before with a similar barn being taken
down in Twigworth where the Planning Committee had resolved that the principle of
development had been agreed. As such, she believed that planning permission
should be granted on the basis that it did not go against the fundamental aims of the
Green Belt. Another Member indicated that he could not support the motion as the
applicant had taken down the building with good intentions and had kept the
materials for the rebuild; he did not consider it to be a new building as there had
been one there previously. Upon being put to the vote, the motion to refuse the
application was lost.

The Legal Adviser indicated that a new motion must now be put forward and
Members needed to demonstrate why the Committee considered that very special
circumstances outweighed the harm to the Green Belt and the issues around
transport choices and the fact that the site was unsustainable. In response to a
Member comment regarding the original reasons for planning permission being
granted, the Legal Adviser explained that the policy and legislation was different
when there was an existing building on the site and what was being considered
today was a vacant site with no development which was the basis for the policy
applied — had there been an existing building the Officer recommendation may have
been different. A Member expressed the view that building had already been
started due to the footings being poured and the Legal Adviser reiterated that the
position was that the building had been removed and the planning permission was
for conversion as opposed to removal and rebuild. Building Control was a separate
legislative process — it did not give consent for development but controlled what was
being done to ensure it was in accordance with the proper regulations; it was not
their remit to pick up on the unauthorised removal of the building and that was why
the Planning Enforcement Officer would have gone out the following day. A
Member noted that the building had been dismantled but was still in situ, as could
be seen from Google Earth, and the Legal Adviser explained that legally there was
no building on site. The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised
that the policies which would have applied in 2017 were the rural conversion
policies and building needed to have commenced to be able to apply those policies
in this instance; he appreciated there was material on the ground but there was
nothing to convert.

14



33.33

33.34

PL.19.09.23

It was proposed and seconded that authority be delegated to the Development
Management Manager to permit the application on the basis that very special
circumstances existed as there had been a longstanding structure on the site and
the principle of development had already been established; there was no conflict
with the fundamental aims of the Green belt policy and would be no impact on its
openness; and the proposal would accord with the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and
Planning Policy Guidance which recognised there were thriving rural communities
which did not have public transport options and had to rely on private vehicles,
subject to conditions. The Development Management Team Manager (East) drew
attention to the additional refusal reason, outlined on the Additional Representations
Sheet, in relation to the failure to demonstrate that safe and suitable access could
be achieved. He was unsure whether this could be dealt with by condition so it may
be necessary to obtain further information in relation to that. The proposer and
seconder of the motion indicated that they were happy for this to be included within
the delegation and brought back to the Committee if it could not be resolved by
condition. In terms of conditions, the Development Management Team Manager
(South) suggested it would be necessary to refer to commencement of
development, the development being carried out in accordance with approved
plans, details of materials, details of new windows and doors, highways conditions
regarding visibility splays and parking, landscaping, restriction of permitted
development rights, and ecological enhancements and protection and mitigation
measures as set out in the Ecological Protection Report. The proposer of the
motion asked for provision of an electric vehicle charging point to be required by
condition and the Development Management Team Manager (South) advised that
this was a requirement under building regulations so would not require a condition.
The proposer and seconder of the motion confirmed they were happy with the
suggested conditions. With regard to the visibility issue, the County Highways
representative advised that the previous condition was for a very large visibility
splay of 147m which seemed excessive and could impact the hedgerow — that had
been based on an approach speed of 60mph so, if the true approach speed could
be ascertained, it may be possible to reduce the size of the splay.

A Member asked that it be noted that, in his view, if the application was permitted,
the Council was essentially giving licence to the demolition and rebuild of existing
buildings in the Green Belt. Another Member disagreed with this view and felt it was
about different interpretation of policies. The Development Management Team
Manager (South) clarified that the building was not being replaced with the same
use — there were caveats to Green Belt policy which applied to the conversion of
buildings which did not apply to this application. Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Development
Management Manager to PERMIT the application on the basis
that very special circumstances existed as there had been a
longstanding structure on the site and the principle of
development had already been established; there was no conflict
with the fundamental aims of the Green belt policy and would be
no impact on its openness; and the proposal would accord with
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Planning Policy Guidance
which recognised there were thriving rural communities which did
not have public transport options and had to rely on private
vehicles, subject to conditions in relation to commencement of
development, the development being carried out in accordance
with approved plans, details of materials, details of new windows
and doors, highways conditions regarding visibility splays and
parking, landscaping, restriction of permitted development rights,
and ecological enhancements and protection and mitigation
measures as set out in the Ecological Protection Report.

15



33.35

33.36

33.37

PL.19.09.23

23/00477/FUL - Land to the South of Blacksmith Lane, East of Cyder Press
Farmhouse, The Leigh

This application was for the erection of a 1.5 storey, one bedroom, oak-framed
dwelling.

The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that the application
site related to a parcel of land to the south of Blacksmith Lane, The Leigh. The site
had an existing access from Blacksmith Lane, to the northeast of the site, and
featured many established trees and boundary hedgerow, as identified within the
submitted tree survey. To the west lay Cyder Press Farmhouse, which was a Grade
I listed building. The land was separated from the main building by Mary’s Cottage,
a detached annex building within the curtilage of the listed building. The dwelling
would have a bedroom and bathroom in the loft and would be constructed with an
oak frame, painted black, with brick and weatherboard walls, slate roof tiles and
oak-framed windows and doors. The building was in the form of a traditional timber
weatherboarded building but with a flat roof extension down one side. The
application was recommended for refusal for the reasons stated within the
Committee report. As set out in the Additional Representations Sheet, attached at
Appendix 1, since the publication of the Committee report the Council could not
currently demonstrate a five year housing land supply and the application of
Paragraph 11(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework had been assessed
and considered in the planning balance in terms of this proposal. Whilst a single
new dwelling would contribute to the shortfall, it would be negligible and the harms
identified were considered to outweigh the benefits of the scheme. The site was
considered to be in an unsustainable location and there would be harm to the
setting of the listed building, as well as landscape harm. Furthermore, there were
highways issues in terms of substandard access and questions over whether
adequate visibility splays could be achieved. Updated ecology and tree
assessments were required in order to fully assess the proposals.

The Chair invited the applicant to address the Committee. The applicant explained
that she had withdrawn her previous application in January, based on the
Conservation Officer's comments, and had incorporated all of the
recommendations, reducing both bulk and height - with a smaller footprint on the
same site and the same access, the previous surveys and tree reports remained
relevant. According to The Leigh Neighbourhood Development Plan, priority was
given to existing residents; it asked that houses were aesthetically in-keeping and
provided infill between existing houses and she believed this application ticked all of
the boxes. The site was a small strip of land that was bought by the previous
owners of Cyder Press Farm in the 1980’s to extend their garden, with a wood
store, chicken run and large concrete pig sty. In the 1990’s it had become a
substantial vegetable garden with two greenhouses and two sheds. In 2017, she
had removed most of the vegetable garden and two greenhouses as they were too
much to manage and it had been laid to lawn with smaller vegetable plots and two
sheds ever since. She had made a pre-planning application to Tewkesbury
Borough Council in 2019 to build an art studio with occasional sleep-out. The
Conservation Officer had agreed, subject to obtaining the appropriate planning
permission, that a structure measuring 4m x 6m, with substantial glazing to the
south side, would be acceptable. The applicant indicated that, whilst she was now
seeking residential use, the application was based on the confidence she had
gained at that meeting. She wanted to build a sustainable timber frame house with
an electric car charging point, a self-contained sewage system, a heat pump and
drainage on site, thus allowing her to live a simple life with a reduced carbon
footprint. She had already established a nature reserve on the south side of the site
and planted 400 trees and, if she was able to build her house, this land would
remain within the title. She indicated that the list of previous applications in the
Committee report related to Cyder Press Farm as a whole, not the site she was

16



33.38

33.39

PL.34

34.1

34.2

PL.19.09.23

referring to. Unfortunately, her experience with the planning office has been
unorthodox and, should she need to appeal, she would be using a documented
timeline that would look like sharp practice in a commercial situation, for example,
her application had been validated within hours of being submitted, but her agent
was not notified and they were told it was too late to go to Committee but then given
only a few hours to put her case together, she was then told that her letter of
representation, sent on 20 July, was too late for the Committee meeting. In
conclusion, she hoped Members would support her vision for a small project that
was considerate, well thought through and put the environment at the forefront of
planning.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application
and he sought a motion from the floor. It was proposed and seconded that the
application be refused in accordance with the Officer recommendation. A Member
indicated that he could not see any stairs within the plans and the Development
Management Team Manager (East) explained that the application had been
amended to include a first floor, making it 1.5 storey, and it appeared that the plan
of the first floor had been omitted from the Committee report. Notwithstanding this,
the internal layout of the building did not have to be determined through the
planning process. A Member sought clarification of the date of the appeal
referenced at Page No. 215, Paragraph 8.7 of the Committee report, and was
informed the Inspector’s decision had been issued on 3 September 2021 — the tilted
balance had been engaged at that point which was the same situation as currently.
The Member questioned whether that was before or after the adoption of the
Tewkesbury Borough Plan and was advised it was before, with the Tewkesbury
Borough Plan having been adopted in June 2022; however, the plan was emerging
at that point and the policies within the emerging plan had been taken into
consideration, albeit with less weight. The Member indicated that Tewkesbury
Borough Plan Policy RES4 allowed small scale development and she could see no
reason why The Leigh should not be considered within that context; however, she
appreciated that Officers did not feel that the scale and form of this particular
property was appropriate for the area — Policy RES4 stated that it needed to be
proportionate to its size and function. On that basis, she was not adverse to a
planning application if the plans could be changed to address the concerns. In
response, the Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that, as set
out in the Committee report, there was an issue with the building in terms of its
impact on the setting of the listed building but there were also locational issues — the
Inspector had given Policies RES3 and RES4 notable weight despite the tilted
balance being engaged, thus considering it an unsuitable location, and Officers
continue to recommend refusal on sustainability grounds. A Member asked if the
applicant was on the self-build register and was advised that, as far as Officers were
aware, she was not.

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be REFUSED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation.

CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE

Attention was drawn to the current appeals and appeal decisions update, circulated
at Page No. 234. Members were asked to consider the current planning and
enforcement appeals received and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and
Communities appeal decisions issued.

A Member wished to record her thanks to Enforcement Officers for their exceptional
work in relation to the enforcement appeal at Plot 19, Warren Fruit Farm; residents
had felt that they had been listened to and that the matter was being dealt with.

17



PL.19.09.23

34.3 It was

RESOLVED That the current appeals and appeal decisions update be
NOTED.

The meeting closed at 11:52 am

18



PL.19.09.23
Appendix 1

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS SHEET

Date: 19 September 2023

The following is a list of the additional representations received since the Planning Committee
Agenda was published and includes background papers received up to and including the
Monday before the meeting.

A general indication of the content is given but it may be necessary to elaborate at the meeting.

Agenda
Item No

General Update

Since the last meeting of the Committee, the Council has received the appeal
decision relating to an application (22/00650/FUL) for the development of 45
dwellings at Trumans Farm Gotherington. The Inspector, in allowing the
appeal, confirmed an independent view from the Planning Inspectorate that
the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five year housing land supply.

In light of this appeal decision, it is considered that the Council cannot at this
time demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land. The Council’s
policies for the provision of housing should not therefore be considered up to
date in accordance with footnote 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF).

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that, where policies
which are most important for determining the application are out of date,
permission should be granted unless: i) the application of policies in the
Framework that protect assets of particular importance provides a clear
reason for refusing the development; or ii) any adverse impacts of doing so
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

The application of Paragraph 11(d) in respect of each Agenda item before the
Committee has been assessed by Officers and considered in the planning
balance, which has been updated. Officers will address the revised balance
for each item in this update sheet below and the Officer presentations.

5b 22/01317/FUL - 3 Consell Green, Tewkesbury Road, Toddington

Revised Recommendation:

Following the publication of the Agenda further highway information is
required for assessment. It is therefore recommended that this item is
DEFFERED to allow the necessary assessment of such additional
information, prior to planning Committee determination.

5c 22/01343/0UT - Land At Chestnut Tree Farm, Twigworth

An additional representation has been received from Twigworth Parish
Council - the comments reiterate the concerns that have already been taken
into account as part of the assessment of relevant planning considerations as
part of the published Committee report. A copy of the additional comments
is attached to this Additional Representations Sheet.

19



PL.19.09.23

Five year housing land supply - given the updated position whereby the
Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply, it is considered
that Paragraph 11(d)ii. of the NPPF is engaged and there are significant and
demonstrable harms resulting from the proposed development, as set out in
the report, that are not outweighed by the benefits. It is considered that the
recommendation should therefore still be minded to refuse for the reasons set
out in the published report.

5f

23/00187/FUL - Barn at Cold Pool Lane, Badgeworth

The Highways Officer has further reviewed the site and the proposed
development and has raised concerns in respect of visibility from the
proposed site access. The Officer has advised that it is likely that a significant
length of hedgerow would need to be removed to achieve necessary visibility
splays and that this may be over third-party land over which the applicant may
have no control.

In the absence of a an up to date speed survey to inform any reduction in
visibility splays and plans to accurately reflect what is achievable, the
Highways Officer objects to the proposal.

Five Year Housing Land Supply - the provisions of NPPF Paragraph 11(d) i.
(relating to Green Belt) are relevant to refusing this application and the tilted
balance therefore needs to be assessed in light of this. The balance of the
policies and the weight to be attributed to them is therefore reassessed as
follows:

The main benefits of the scheme are the provision of a single dwelling.

The NPPF sets out that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics
of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. As set out in the
Committee report, there is clear conflict with Green Belt policy.

Furthermore, the proposal is also considered to be in an unsustainable
location for residential development and it has not been demonstrated that
adequate visibility splays can be achieved.

Whilst a new dwelling would contribute to meeting the housing shortfall, this
contribution of a single dwelling would be negligible. It is therefore considered
that the harms identified above significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits of the development. As such para 11 d) ii of the NPPF would also
apply.

In conclusion it is considered that the tilted balance is engaged and that in
considering the planning balance overall, the harms of the proposal clearly
outweigh the benefits.

Additional Reason for Refusal

Refusal Reason 4

The applicant has failed to demonstrate that safe and suitable access can be
achieved. The proposal would therefore conflict with policy INF1 of the of the
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031

20




PL.19.09.23

59

23/00477/FUL - Land To South of Blacksmith Lane, East of Cyder Press
Farmhouse, The Leigh

The provisions of NPPF Paragraph 11(d) i. (relating to listed buildings) are
relevant to refusing this application and the tilted balance therefore needs to
be assessed in light of this. The balance of the policies and the weight to be
attributed to them is therefore reassessed as follows:

The main benefit of the scheme is the provision of a single dwelling.

Notwithstanding this, the site is within the setting of Grade Il listed building
and as such a judgement must be made as to whether the proposal would
sustain and enhance the significance of the heritage asset, and whether any
impacts provide a clear justification for refusing permission.

As set out in the Committee report, following consultation with the Council’s
Conservation Officer, the proposal in its current form would cause a moderate
degree of less than substantial harm to the setting of the nearby Grade Il
Listed Building which would not be outweighed by the public benefits
attributed to the proposal and would be contrary to paragraph 202 of the
NPPF and the statutory duty set out at s66 of the Listed Buildings and
Conservation areas Act 1990.

It is therefore considered that applying the NPPF policies for designated
heritage assets here provides a clear reason for refusing the proposed
development.

With this in mind, whilst a new dwelling would contribute to meeting the
housing shortfall, it must also be acknowledged that this contribution of a
single dwelling would be negligible. It is therefore considered that the harms
identified above and in the published Committee report significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development. As such para 11 d) ii
of the NPPF would also apply.

In conclusion it is considered that the tilted balance is engaged and that in
considering the planning balance overall, the harms of the proposal clearly
outweigh the benefits.

Amendments to refusal reasons

Refusal Reason 2 (Amendment):

The proposal, by virtue of its siting, layout and design would have a harmful
impact on the character and the setting of the listed building. A moderate
degree of less than substantial harm would be generated and this would not
be outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme. As such the proposal
would be contrary to Section 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy SD8 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 (2017), Policy HER2 of the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (2022) and policies H1 and E3 of
The Leigh Parish Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2031 (2022).

Refusal Reason 7 (New Additional Reason):

7. The location of the proposed development results in no realistic transport
choices other than the private vehicle to gain access to the site and to access
local and community facilities. The scheme is therefore contrary to Policy INF1
of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-
2031 (2017) and would conflict with the sustainable transport aims of the
NPPF.

21




PL.19.09.23

Updated Information from Agent

The agent would like the Planning Committee to know that they have seen the
comments in regards to Drainage and Trees and would like to issue the
following reply:

Drainage — due to timescale between comments submitted and committee a
new drainage survey/statement cannot be provided. Suggest a pre-
commencement condition regarding an updated drainage report should the
Council support the application to demonstrate that drainage issues can be
adequately addressed.

Trees — disagree with some concerns raised. Suggest a pre-commencement
condition regarding an updated tree survey is suggested should the Council
support the application to demonstrate that tree issues can be adequately
addressed.

Updated Information from Applicant

Infill - as per the submitted photographs (on the planning portal), the proposed
site is a small area of vacant land wedged between Mary's Cottage and
Stonehouse Cottage and has a significantly narrower frontage than the
property opposite. The site was a former vegetable plot between 1998 and
2015, with a tennis court-sized area of raised beds around a large fruit cage
plus two greenhouses and a shed. Prior to that, there was a large concrete
farm building for pigs, a three metre square folly and between 1998 - 2010
there was also a manmade pond approximately 20 metres in diameter. Since
2015, the plot has had no other use.

Street scene - set back at an angle, six - nine meters from the road, the
proposed building would be behind a high hedge, several trees, and a fence.
There would be no visibility to the street during the summer and only partial
visibility in the winter months. Windows are minimal on the street side and the
construction is wooden clad and barn-like in appearance.

Access and traffic - with an existing driveway already in daily use for many
years, the access is proven to be safe. It blends in neatly with the local scene
and has a wide splay, allowing offroad parking in front of the gate. The
visibility extends in excess of 50 metres one way and 27 metres the other. The
road is on a circular loop at the end of the village and services two or three
other dwellings, depending on which way they are exiting the village, as there
are two exit points.

Height of proposed dwelling - the comparable height of buildings erected in
recent history are closer to the listed building.

1. The neighbouring house (Mary's Cottage) is situated between Cyder Press
Farm and the proposed site. It was built in 1989, is a two-storey building and
is 7.5 metres high.

2. The triple garage with an additional lean-to, built in 2004 and situated
adjacent to the listed building is 6.5m high.

Bulk of proposed dwelling - the revised proposal is significantly reduced in
overall size, as requested by the former conservation officer.

Hidden flat roof on proposed dwelling - it was felt that this was an ideal
solution to further reduce the bulk of the proposed building.

Ecological impact by access - there are overhanging shrubs and trees on the
access drive which have been assessed in the tree survey and are on the tree
report. Currently, cars and delivery vans pass easily beneath, however, the
lower canopies can all be safely cut back, without harm, to allow greater
access if needed. The proposal is based around the conservation of nature,

22



PL.19.09.23

and the dwelling is a sustainable eco-house, constructed mainly off-site. The
modules can be reduced in size and brought in on smaller vehicles if needed,
however, there is an additional driveway to the proposed site on the southwest
side, which currently provides access for lorries and a full-sized oil tanker that
delivers heating oil to Mary's Cottage and Cyder Press Farm several times a
year.

23



PL.19.09.23

Item 5c - 22/01343/OUT - Land At Chestnut Tree Farm, Twigworth- Additional
representation from Twigworth Parish Council

Comments for Planning Application 22/01343/0UT
Address: Land At Chestnut Tree Farm Twigworth

Proposal: The erection of up to 85 dwellings with public open space, landscaping and sustainable
drainage system (SuDS). All matters reserved except for means of vehicular and pedestrian
access from Sandhurst Lane and a pedestrian access on to the A38.

The Twigworth Parish Council OBJECTS to this application.
Comments
Severn Trent Water - Sewage issues in Down Hatherley & Twigworth

In Zoom meetings in March and May 2021, residents showed- of STW (and other
agencies) evidence of floodwater bursting up through manholes in properties in Ash Lane during
the winter of 2020/1, and reported the distress and difficulty caused to residents. At the same time
Twigworth’s northern two pumping stations caused sewage to back up in people’s houses — this is
a routine event in times of moderate or worse rainfall.

The system was not fit for purpose at that point, and this was prior to the addition of a hundred plus
houses at Yew Tree Farm in Twigworth and in Down Hatherley.

The Ash Lane sewage pumping station is particularly vulnerable, for it is the convergence point for
multiple other sewage pumping stations, including Twigworth’s, with the exception of Twigworth
Green, whose new pipeline runs directly to Innsworth. Since the pumping station failures in 2020/1,
several new sites have been added to the system, and other applications are in process.

Planning
Brook Lane, Down Hatherley

There is currently an application for a further 160 houses at Brook Lane (21/00976/OUT) seeking
to discharge to three outpoints: Ash Lane, Twigworth, and Innsworth via the new Twigworth Green
pipeline.

Surely Ash Lane is already at critical point? And do not Twigworth’s pumping stations only channel
sewage back to Ash Lane? Moreover, the new pipeline for Twigworth Green failed in January 2023,
overwhelming the local meadows and public right of way with sewage pouring out of a manhole.

We understand that STV is not a statutory consultee, but that should not serve as an excuse to
duck the issue. As ClIr Bocking explained on Wednesday, planning committees do listen to what
STW says, and most of STW's comments up until now have failed to acknowledge the reality of
this area’s predicament, but waved applications through regardless. We understand that STW is a
business and needs to be profit-minded, but we believe that this policy is leading to catastrophe for
this area.

Chestnut Tree Farm, Twigworth

A further alarming example of STW's failure to acknowledge the scale of the problem arose
recently, relating to STW comments (6th June 2023) on a development at Chestnut Tree Farm:

| can confirm that we have no objections in principle to the proposals subject to the inclusion of the
following condition:

24



PL.19.09.23

The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage plans for the disposal of
foul and surface water flows have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority

[Twigworth (STW ref P-230104-38824 / 22/01343/OUT / Land At Chestnut Tree Farm, Twigworth
GL2 9PL]

Surely this is wholly misleading? If STV does not report accurately to planning teams the
limitations of its service, they will of course be ignored.

Twigworth Green pipeline

m of STW emailedF (18.01.23) to say he would respond with a report
on the fallure of the new Twigwo reen pipeline. Residents would like to have an explanation of
cause, and what the developer needed to do to prevent a repeat. Has this remedial work been
carried out? Presumably STW commented on sewerage at the planning stage? Had the work been
done as STW guided?

STW review of the area infrastructure

We appreciate that STW is now undertaking a much-needed review to establish what can be done
to ameliorate the service, and that this will take some years.

Until this is completed and necessary works then carried out, we ask how STW can reach a view of
‘no objection in principle’ to 100s more houses being added to the network.

Size and location of the development

The proposed location of the development is adjacent to the Twigworth Settlement Boundary and
totally inappropriate for a site so close to other residential properties in the rural village of
Twigworth.

The visual impact of such a large housing development would fundamentally change the tranquil
character of the area.

The proposed development conflicts with Policies SP2 and SP10 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham
and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011 -2031 (December 2017)

The proposed development contravenes Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-23 Policy H2
Significant negative visual impact for residents living adjacent to the site boundary
There are a number of residential properties located adjacent to the site boundary.

The development will have a significant adverse visual impact to these properties, especially from
first floor windows.

The proposed development contravenes Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-23 Policy H2
Negative impacts on landscape character

The housing development would significantly and adversely, impact the character and appearance
of the local landscape.

We consider the proposed development contravenes Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-23
Policy H2

25



PL.19.09.23

Negative visual impact for users of the footpath and bridleway across the site

The site cuts across a Public Right of Way running from Sandhurst Lane (nr Telephone Exchange),
to the Nature in Art access Lane; which is well used by dog-walkers from the local area, ramblers
as well as people from further afield.

Currently there are extensive open views of green fields and agricultural farmland.

We consider the proposed development contravenes Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-23
H2

Loss of Productive Arable Land

It is very important to prevent arable land being lost to development, which would otherwise allow
food to be grown in the UK and thereby reduce the reliance on imported food.

Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) is a system used in England and Wales to grade the quality
of land for agricultural use. The proposed site has a mix of Graded Land and is capable of
producing moderate yields of a narrow range of crops, principally: cereals and grass, lower yields
of a wider range of crops. high yields of grass which can be grazed or harvested over most of the
year.

We consider the proposed development contravenes Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011-23
H2 Policy

Traffic Concerns

The proposed development will create a significant impact on Sandhurst Lane and the A38 during
development.

The proposed access route to the site is via the A38 which is a busy road, this section of the road
is within a 40mph limit, heavy lorries will undoubtedly bring mud and debris onto this section of
road, presenting a serious traffic safety issue.

The junction from Sandhurst Lane onto the A38 has poor visibility when turning onto the A38 due to
existing hedgerows and the bends in the A38.

Heading southbound on the A38 the turn into Sandhurst Lane is very blind due to the hedgerows
and sharp corner.

The village is popular with walkers, cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders and are already
overburdened and totally unsuitable for large vehicles.

The access route will be significantly impacted by the noise and vibration caused by the very large
increase in HGYV traffic during the construction phase.

Local community
Residents living adjacent to the site will have a significant adverse visual impact from the site,

whilst there will also be a loss of the rural amenity of the extensive open views along the footpath
crossing the site.

26



Agenda Iltem 5a

Planning Committee

Date 17 October 2023
Case Officer James Lloyd
Application No. 21/01307/FUL

Site Location

Moat Farm, Malleson Road, Gotherington

Proposal Erection of 4 dwellings following the demolition of existing agricultural
buildings.

Ward Cleeve Hill

Parish Gotherington

Appendices Site Location Plan

Proposed Site Plan
Proposed Site Overview
Plot 1 Elevations

Plot 2 Elevations

Plot 3 Elevations

Plot 4 Elevations
Garage Elevations
Appeal Comparison Plan

Reason for Referral
to Committee

The application requires a Committee determination as the Parish
Council has objected to the proposal as outlined in Paragraph 4.1.

Recommendation

Permit

Site Location

creation Ground

Cornerways

Mdiat Farm

a9
’Oq"llo)s

Tpoef{-lay

Soélth Court,
%anerCranlea arn_.,
one

ohouse
ews

27




The Proposal

11

1.2

1.3

14

15

Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=R1POF

PQDHO000

The application seeks full planning permission for the redevelopment of the site with 4
detached dwellings. The site would be laid in a courtyard arrangement and the proposed
amenity space would projects out from the dwellings, leading to a concentrated built form in
the centre of the site (See attached site plan).

The buildings are designed to reflect the existing functional agricultural character of the site
(See attached elevation plans). The finished materials would include timber cladding,
standing seam roofs and metal sheet cladding in order to maintain the functional appearance
of the site.

The development is designed to be accessed from the existing entrance to the southwest of
the site. This is served from Malleson Road, which leads out of the village and joins with the
A435.

Previous Planning Application (14/00749/0UT) & Dismissed Appeal

A planning application was submitted in July 2014 seeking outline consent for a residential
development of up to 42 dwellings and associated infrastructure. The application site
comprised of a parcel of land at Moat Farm, located to the northern edge of the village of
Gotherington. This site encompassed the area of Moat farm that the current planning
application relates to (See attached site comparison plan).

The application was recommended for refusal by Officers on several grounds, these are
summarised below;

e The proposal would not respect the form, character and history of the adjacent area
and fail to achieve high quality and inclusive design.

o The proposal would have a harmful impact upon the character and appearance of the
landscape within a Special Landscape Area on the basis that it would encroach into
the rural landscape.

Would not provide appropriate affordable housing

¢ Would not provide adequate provision for on or off site play pitches and sports
facilities.

¢ Would not make provision for the delivery of secondary education infrastructure and
library provision

e The application does not make provision for improved local public transport, highway
improvements and access.

28


http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;

1.6 Members resolved to refuse the application at committee in November 2014. Following the
Council’s refusal an appeal was submitted to the Planning Inspector. A Public Inquiry followed
in which the appellants reduced the scheme to 35 units (although the application site
remained the same size).

1.7 The Inspector subsequently dismissed the appeal on the following grounds;

e Whilst the Council could not demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply at the time,
and there was a strong requirement for affordable housing, it was judged that the
proposed development would cause substantial harm to the valued landscape
(Special Landscape Area) and to the setting of the non-designated heritage asset.
The Inspector concluded that the harm would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the scheme’s benefits in terms of housing provision and any associated economic
benefits.

1.8 The appeal was dismissed, the full decision can be found here;

14/00749/0QUT | Outline planning application for a residential development of up to 42
dwellings and associated infrastructure, including the demolition of an annex to the existing
property in order to enable vehicular access. | Moat Farm Malleson Road Gotherington
Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL52 9ET (tewkesbury.gov.uk)

2. Site Description

2.1 The application relates to a parcel of land at Moat Farm (approximately 0.4 hectares) which is
located to the northern edge of the village of Gotherington (see attached location plan). The
site has previously been utilised for agricultural and equestrian uses and currently comprises
of a number of existing agricultural buildings that are formed around a yard area, which are
associated with the surrounding agricultural land that is also in the applicant’s control. The site
is generally flat with a gradual fall towards the south. The site is currently accessed off
Malleson Road via an existing domestic access and a via a farm track to the southwest.

2.2 Immediately to the south of the site is existing residential development which straddles
Malleson Road. To the west is a large playing field and to the north and east are open fields
and countryside. The north-western corner of the site is located within a designated Special
Landscape Area which provides the foreground setting for the Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) to the north of Gotherington. To the east of the site is a public footpath which
links to Malleson Road. The nearby Moat Farmhouse is considered to be a Non-designated
Heritage Asset. The site is wholly located within Flood zone 1.

2.3 The existing buildings on site vary in scale and means of construction, with elements of
concrete block, timber and metal cladding utilised as walling materials. Roofing materials
generally comprise a mix of metal cladding and cement fibreboard. Buildings on site are
single storey, with the largest of the barns on site positioned to the northeast portion of the
site. This has been most recently used for the storage of machinery and tools used on the
holding.

29


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N9B217QDG1O00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N9B217QDG1O00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N9B217QDG1O00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N9B217QDG1O00

3. Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision Decision
Number Date
14/00749/0UT Outline planning application for a residential Refused 11.11.2014
development of up to 42 dwellings and associated | (Committee
infrastructure, including the demolition of an Decision)
annex to the existing property in order to enable
vehicular access.
15/00004/DECISI | Outline planning application for a residential Appeal 23.09.2015
development of up to 42 dwellings and associated | Dismissed

infrastructure, including the demolition of an
annex to the existing property in order to enable
vehicular access.

4. Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

4.1  Gotherington Parish Council — Objection on the following grounds:

e The Gotherington NDP allows for redevelopment of existing buildings.
The proposal buildings are of no architectural merit and will stand prominently in the
landscape when viewed from Woolstone Hill.

e They do not replace the 25% occupancy of the site as at present.

e A Change of use has not been applied and we are concerned that the storage
provided by these barns and the yard will need to be replaced elsewhere.

4.2 Building Control — No objection — Building Regulations Approval required.

4.3 Environmental Health (Air Quality) — No adverse comments to make.

4.4 Environmental Health (Noise & Nuisance) — No objection.

4.5  County Highways — No objection, subject to conditions.

4.6 Conservation Officer — No objection.

4.7 Flood Risk & Drainage Officer — No objection, subject to conditions.

4.8 Landscape Officer — Additional information requested and received, no objections, subject
to conditions.

4.9 Ecology — No objection, subject to conditions.

5. Third Party Comments/Observations

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

30



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

5.1

The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days and 13 representations have been received. The contents of these are summarised
below:

5.2  Objection
e This proposal is not included in Gotherington's NDP, the Tewkesbury Local Plan or
the Joint Core Strategy of Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury. Neither is it
infill".
e Loss of Farmland
e Outside of the settlement boundary
¢ Harmful impact upon views around Gotherington
e Gotherington has had sufficient housing and met its requirement for the plan period
e Impact upon the Special Landscape Area
e Impact upon the Non-designated Heritage Asset known as Moat Farmhouse
e The inspector concluded the benefits of using previously developed land for housing
carry only modest weight in any decision
e The proposal will have substantial negative impact to the nature and character of the
village but offers little benefit (i.e. only 4 houses) and should be refused.
e The proposal for having 4 dwellings is not the same as having farm buildings and will
be incongruous
e The proposal will encourage further applications to build more housing on land
surrounding these fields, which the village does not want or need, and it is not for
affordable housing
e The development of this land is likely to increase surface run off and cause increase
flood risk for the housing in the downstream village of Woollstone
5.3  Support
e The proposal would be a good use of a brownfield site
e The erection of dwellings would enhance the area
54  Natural
e Two factors that require consideration — where would the current machinery and
equipment be stored? The height of the proposed hedge should be limited so as not
to obstruct any views.
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations
6.1  Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise
The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:
6.2 National guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

31



6.3  Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017
Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development)
Policy SP2 (The Distribution of New Development)
Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)
Policy SD6 (Landscape)
Policy SD8 (Historic Environment)
Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)
Policy SD10 (Residential Development)
Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
Policy INF1 (Transport Network)
Policy INF2 (Flood Risk Management)
Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure)
6.4  Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
Policy RES1 (Housing Site Allocations)
Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)
Policy RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)
Policy RES5 (New Housing Development)
Policy LAN1 (Special Landscape Area)
Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character)
Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)
Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)
Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards)
Policy HERS5 (Locally Important Heritage Assets)
Policy COM4 (Neighbourhood Development Plans)
6.5  Neighbourhood Plan
Gotherington Neighbourhood Development Plan — 2011-2031
Policy GNDPO1 (New Housing Development Within The Service Village)
Policy GNDPO02 (Meeting Strategic Development Needs)
Policy GNDPO03 (New Housing Development in the Open Countryside)
Policy GNDP04 (Securing A Suitable Mix Of House Types And Sizes In New Development)
Policy GNDPQ7 (Gotherington Design Principles)
Policy GNDPOS8 (Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets)
Policy GNDPQ9 (Protecting and Enhancing The Local Landscape)
Policy GNDP10 (Protecting Locally Significant Views)
Policy GNDP11 (Development Outside of the Defined Settlement Boundary)
Policy GNDP12 (Biodiversity)
7. Policy Context
7.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals

be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

32



7.2

7.3

7.4

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), saved
policies of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a
number of 'made' Neighbourhood Development Plans.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Principle of development

Gotherington is identified as a Rural Service centre in the JCS and Policy SP2 sets out that
Service centres will accommodate lower levels of housing which will be allocated through
the Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Neighbourhood Plans, proportional to their size and
function, reflecting their proximity and accessibility to Cheltenham and Gloucester and
considering the environmental, economic and social impacts including existing levels of
growth over the plan period.

A small part of the application site, which would comprise of the access, is within the defined
settlement boundary, the majority of the site is adjoing but outside of the defined settlement
boundary.

As the site is not allocated in the TBP or a Neighbourhood Plan, Policy SP2(6) of the JCS
states that in the remainder of the rural area, Policy SD10 of the JCS will apply for proposals
for new residential development.

With relevance to the application, Policy SD10 follows that housing development on other
sites will only be permitted where it is previously developed land in the existing built-up
areas of Service Centres, or it is:

i. It is for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance with Policy SD12, or;

ii. It is infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester, the Principal Urban
Area of Cheltenham or Tewkesbury Borough's towns and villages except where otherwise
restricted by policies within District plans, or;

iii. 1t is brought forward through Community Right to Build Orders, or;

iv. There are other specific exceptions / circumstances defined in district or neighbourhood
plans

The site does not represent previously developed land within the built-up area of a service
village. Whilst the site comprises of a range or rural buildings, paraphernalia and
hardstanding, the NPPF states that land last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings is
not considered to be previously developed. The site not a rural exception scheme; and does
not represent 'infilling'. It has not been brought forward for development through a
Community Right to Build Order and there are no policies in the existing TBP or GNDP
which would allow for the type of development proposed. The proposal therefore conflicts
with Policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policies GNDP01, GNDP02, GNDPO03 and
GNDPO11 of the Gotherington neighbourhood Development Plan.

33



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

In terms of the Borough Plan, Gotherington is identified as a Service Village. The site is not
an allocated site as set out in Policy RES1, nor is it located within the defined settlement
boundary of Gotherington and therefore Policy RES2 does not apply. Notwithstanding, the
site is located adjacent to the settlement boundary of a defined Service Village; the
application site is not located in an isolated rural location and future residents would have
access to services in Gotherington, Bishops Cleeve and beyond. The NPPF seeks to
promote sustainable development in rural areas and housing should be located where it will
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities (Paragraph 79). The location of the site
immediately adjacent to a defined Service Centre, which would have access to services,
weighs in favour of the proposal.

Five Year Housing Land Supply

The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply
of deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply
of deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that housing policies
contained within development plans should not be considered up-to-date.

Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL), the
Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing land. The position of the recent appeal decision is that the Council’s five year
supply of deliverable housing sites is, at best, 3.39 years, and that this shortfall is significant,
which is accepted. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing should not therefore
be considered up-to-date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

It is notable that the Council is shortly due to publish its annual housing monitoring Housing
Land Supply Statement which will confirm that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five
year housing land supply. The final figure is not yet confirmed. A further update will be
provided to Members at the Committee meeting.

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are
most important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be granted
unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any adverse impacts
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

Status of the Gotherington Neighbourhood Development Plan (GNDP)

Paragraph 14 of the Framework states that in situations where the presumption (at
paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of housing, the adverse
impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

I.  the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less
before the date on which the decision is made;

II.  the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified
housing requirement;

34



8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

lll.  the local planning authority has at least a three-year supply of deliverable housing
sites (against its five-year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate
buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and

IV.  the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over
the previous three years.

The GNDP was adopted as part of the development plan on the 19" September 2017 and is
therefore older than two years. Consequently, it no longer benefits from the protection that
would have been afforded by paragraph 14 of the Framework. However, the GNDP remains
an integral component of the adopted development plan and decision makers should
continue to have full regard to it in determining planning applications.

Conclusions on Principle of Development

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The application conflicts with policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS, Policies GNDPO1,
GNDPO02, GNDP03 and GNDP11 of the Gotherington neighbourhood Development Plan
and Policies RES1 and RES2 of the TBP, therefore the starting point is that the proposal
should be refused in accordance with the development plan unless other material planning
considerations indicate otherwise.

However, as set out above, the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing land and therefore the most important policies for determining the
application are deemed out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF. On that basis
the application must be determined in accordance with paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF (the
tilted balance), i.e. planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the policies of NPPF as a whole.

Landscape impact

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF sets out that the planning system should contribute to and
enhance the local environment by, inter alia, protecting and enhancing Valued Landscapes
in @ manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the
Development Plan.

JCS Policy SD6 states that development will seek to protect landscape character for its own
intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, environmental and social well-being.
Proposals will have regard to local distinctiveness and historic character of different
landscapes and proposals are required to demonstrate how the development will protect
landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and features which
make a significant contribution to the character, history and setting of a settlement area.

35



8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

Policy RES5S bullet point 3 of the TBP states that new housing development should — where
an edge of settlement is proposed — respect the form of the settlement and its landscape
setting, not appear as unacceptable intrusion into the countryside and retain a sense of
transition between the settlement and the countryside.

The application site is located outside and adjacent to the residential development
boundary. Part of the site is located within the Special Landscape Area (SLA) as designated
in Policy LAN1 of the TBP. SLAs are a local landscape designation and are defined as
areas of high-quality countryside of local significance. The Reasoned Justification for
Policy LAN1 states that while SLAs are of a quality worthy of protection in their own right,
they also play a role in protecting the foreground setting for the adjacent Cotswolds AONB.

Policy LAN1 of the TBP states that proposals within the SLA will be permitted providing that
the proposal would not cause harm to those features of the landscape character which are
of significance; and the proposal maintains the quality of the natural and built environment
and its visual attractiveness; and all reasonable opportunities for the enhancement of
landscape character and the local environment are sought. Policy LAN1 goes on to state
that where a proposal would result in harm to the SLA having regard to the above criteria,
this harm should be weighed against the need for, and benefits from, the proposed
development. Proposals causing harm to the SLA will only be permitted where the benefits
from the development would clearly and demonstrably outweigh the identified harm.

Policy LAN2 of the TBP states that all development must, through sensitive design, siting,
and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing landscape setting.

Policy GNDPOQ9 of the GNP states that to protect and enhance the landscape of the
Gotherington neighbourhood development plan area, where appropriate, development
proposals will have to demonstrate, inter alia, that they would not have a detrimental impact
on the views to and from surrounding hills (e.g. Crane Hill, Nottingham Hill, Prescott Hill and
Cleeve Hill), or the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, and views of the Vale of Gloucester.
The sense of enclosure found in Gotherington village should also be maintained along with
the strong separation of Gotherington village from Bishop’s Cleeve, Woolstone and the
A435. It also states that existing settlement patterns should be preserved, including the
strong east-west form of Gotherington, particularly by avoiding encroachment into open
countryside ridgeline development, or development that intrudes into the foreground of
surrounding features such as hills, and the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Policy GNP10 of the GNDP follows and sets out a number of significant views that will be
given special consideration when assessing planning applications. Of particular relevance to
this application are the views into Gotherington from Moat Farm, as identified as site D
(views 9 & 10) in the Gotherington NDP.

The effect on the character and appearance of the landscape was a key consideration in the
previous appeal on this site and the findings of the Inspector are a material consideration
(the indicative site layout for application ref: 14/00749/0OUT is included in the Committee
Presentation). The Inspector noted that in their opinion regarding the development as a
whole:

36



8.24

8.25

8.26

“Possibly the most damaging of all would be the effect on the views from the opposite side
of the Tirle valley, within the AONB. From just north of the footbridge, Footpath 23 climbs
the lower slopes of Crane Hill, giving elevated, panoramic views over the valley, in which the
appeal site is seen close behind the Brook. From this direction, the proposed development
would appear as a rather randomly-sited urban sprawl, extending into the open valley. As
such it seems to me that this development would be quite different from the established and
relatively discreet urban edge that currently exists in this part of Gotherington, mainly
following the line of Malleson Road and Gretton Road.”

However, whilst the Inspectors’ comments are relevant in this case, it must be noted that the
current application comprises of a much smaller area of the former appeal site and consists
of an existing developed agricultural unit. At the time of the Appeal the Inspector also
referenced this part of the site:

“Part of the appeal site is outside the SLA, and in general terms | agree that development on
that part of the site would cause less harm than that within the SLA itself. But there is no
suggestion that the number of dwellings now proposed could be accommodated without
encroaching significantly into the SLA.”

“l acknowledge that there is some other existing development to the north of Malleson Road,
including the row of houses at Woolstone Lane. But the latter are visually well contained by
existing woodland, and do not intrude on the more open part of the Tirle valley. There is also
the Freemans Field sports ground itself, and the tennis courts to the rear. But these do not
have the same impact as buildings. None of the other development identified at the inquiry
encroaches on the open landscape in the way that the appeal proposal would. And to the
extent that any such existing development did, that would not necessarily make it an
example to be repeated.”

“The existing buildings on the rear part of the appeal site are utilitarian and have no
aesthetic merit. But they are agricultural in style, and to that extent they are in keeping with
the rural nature of the surroundings. In any event, they cover a relatively small proportion of
the site, and due to their siting, they are not intrusive in the landscape. Their removal would
be a minor benefit, but would not offset the impact of the much larger and more extensive
development now proposed.”

The current proposal is confined within the existing developed land, saved for a small stirp
of agricultural land that runs along the eastern edge, outside of the SLA. This land is
covered with hard surfacing and contains several delipidated agricultural buildings and
associated structures. Whilst the Inspector acknowledged that the buildings are utilitarian
and agricultural in nature, they also considered that they cover a relatively small portion of
the site and are not intrusive into the landscape.

The application proposes the removal of these buildings and the replacement with
residential housing. The new dwellings have been designed to mimic a rural courtyard and
appear agricultural in nature. The design of the buildings is contemporary with a nod to
modern agricultural form and materials, three of the plots are single storey and relatively low
in profile. The dwellings are centred within the site around a courtyard, with the gardens
orientated as such that they create a soft buffer between the site boundary and open fields
beyond.

37



8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted with the
Application. The report sets out that the proposal would be noticeable in views from
Woolstone to the North and North East of the Site, and then from elevated points on the
Cotswold escarpment to the East.

The LVIA concludes that the visual envelope for the development extends from the
immediate vicinity, to North to Woolstone and then to elevated viewpoints to the East, over a
kilometre away. Most viewpoints are within the Cotswold AONB. The viewpoints to the North
are within half a kilometre, so any changes will be noticeable to receptors. It notes that the
significance of visual impacts vary from Minor to Moderate/Major at three viewpoints,
namely from the path to the north of the Site (viewpoint 7) and the lane to Woolstone Hill
Farm (viewpoints 10 and 11). However, given that the proposal is on land already built over
with poor quality agricultural buildings and surfaces, the significance criteria is not
necessarily adverse.

The LVIA further concludes that in respect of the Landscape effects, with appropriate
mitigation, the development will have a minimal effect on any national or local landscape
designations. In relation to the Visual impacts, the report concludes that the visual envelope
for the development extends from the immediate vicinity, to North to Woolstone and then to
elevated viewpoints to the East, over a kilometre away. Most viewpoints are within the
Cotswold AONB. The viewpoints to the North are within half a kilometre, so any changes will
be noticeable to receptors. The sensitivity of receptors within the AONB has been
accommodated in the site, building and landscape design so that overall, the changes from
the development will be perceived as an improvement to the vista, with Moderate Beneficial
significance.

The Councils Landscape Consultant has assessed the submitted LVIA and advises that the
report is an objective and unbiased appraisal, based on the professional judgement of a
suitably qualified and experienced landscape architect and meets the requirements of the
relevant Regulations. The Councils Landscape Consultant generally concurs with the
findings, however, raised some points of clarification around the requirement for additional
agricultural buildings, the drainage impacts, proposed planting and road surfacing details.

Subsequently the applicant has submitted supporting information to these questions and the
Landscape Consultant is now satisfied with the proposals. Given this, it is considered that
some harm would arise from the site becoming more formal and urban in appearance within
the rural context. However, the LVIA has identified that the proposed layout and design of
the new buildings, over an already developed site, would provide a moderate benefit subject
to appropriate landscaping and planting.

The previous inspector’s decision is a material consideration when assessing the proposal,
however, the primary difference between the two applications is the size and scale of
development and the design of the new dwellings.

It is also worth noting that since the previous appeal decision, the context of the application
site has also altered to some degree, following the construction of 9 dwellings to the
northeast of the application site at land adjoining 59 Gretton Road (19/00422/APP).

In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed development at worst would result in a
neutral impact on the landscape and at best a moderate benefit particularly when assessed
against the site in its current form. Furthermore, the proposal would allow delivery of further
planting and landscaping which would benefit the natural environment. This would weigh in
favour of the development.

38



8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

Access and highway safety

Policy INF1 ‘Transport Network’ states that developers should provide safe and accessible
connections to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters.

A transport assessment has been submitted in support of the application; this outlines that
access into the site would be taken from the existing access point along Malleson Road
(which is within the applicant’s ownership). The access would be widened to approximately
4.8m. The assessment highlights the visibility splay analysis that has been undertaken,
along with a review of the local highway network and collision data. The report concludes
that the approval of this scheme would not result in severe or unacceptable impact upon the
safety or operation of the local highway network.

The report also advises that the parking allocation has been undertaken in accordance with
local highway standards and the forecast trip generation is not considered significant.

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have assessed the proposal and advise that there are
no recorded incidents near the vicinity of the site within the most recent 5 years and that the
relevant visibility splays can be achieved within land under the applicants ownership. The
LHA advise that the trip generations would not result in any safety or capacity concerns. In
conclusion the LHA raise no objection to the proposal.

The LHA have proposed the inclusion of a condition (should permission be granted) for the
installation of vehicular charging points. Whilst this is acknowledged, recent changes in the
Building Regulations (2010) require the erection of new residential dwellings to provide
access to a vehicle charging point. Given this it is not considered reasonable to apply a
condition to any grant of permission in relation to charging points.

Given the above it is considered that the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on
highways safety or the capacity of the network. Access can be achieved and sufficient
turning and parking provisions would be available.

Design and layout

The NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and
places fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good
design is a key aspect of sustainable development. This is now reflected in the National
Design Guide, which provides planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and
successful places.

JCS Policy SD4 provides that new development should respond positively to, and respect
the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, and
addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout,
mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to the site
and its setting. Criterion 6 of Policy SD10 of the JCS states that residential development
should seek to achieve maximum density compatible with good design, the protection of
heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality of the local environment, and the
safety and convenience of the local and strategic road network.

39



8.43

8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

Policy GNDPO7 of the GNP sets out a number of design principles for development within
Gotherington, which include:

a) Preservation of the setting and separate identity of the village;

b) New boundary treatments should be appropriate to their immediate surroundings;

c) Existing routes including roads, lanes and footpaths should be retained and new
links provided where appropriate and reasonable;

d) New buildings, by way of design, materials, height and layout should seek to
enhance the distinctive village character of Gotherington;

e) Use of features to minimise light pollution and maintain the area’s dark skies; and

f) All new development, where appropriate, should provide off-road car parking.

The application site lies beyond, but adjacent to the residential edge of the village and
presently comprises a cluster of agricultural buildings. While such structures and ancillary
storage and activities are not an uncommon feature to the rural landscape, the scale,
condition and juxtaposition with the edge of the residential development in the village and
creates a somewhat jarring feature.

The design and layout of the proposals have evolved through a period of negotiation during
the lifespan of the current application. The layout has been designed in a courtyard
formation around a central access point, whilst the buildings have been designed with in an
architectural style that represents the edge of settlement location. The scheme proposes to
replicate the appearance and form of a range of rural buildings around a yard with a palette
of material that would complement the local vernacular and rural edge.

Initially concerns were raised by officers regarding specific design details of the plots, such
as roof alignments, chimney flues, roof lights and materials details. Concerns were also
raised regarding the proposed surfacing of the accessway in. the applicant responded
positively to these concerns and amended the scheme accordingly, providing a revised suite
of plans to reflect the changes.

Following receipt of the revised designs, Officers and the Conservation Officer have
assessed the details and consider that the proposal broadly reflects the local vernacular,
and the design approach is considered acceptable. Notwithstanding this, detailing around
the proposed materials is still required and should the application be permitted, a suitably
worded condition could be applied to ensure an appropriate and high quality of materials are
secured for the development.

In addition to the built development the application also proposes additional landscaping
throughout the site and the introduction of tree and hedgerow planting to the site
boundaries, which would serve to soften the development and reflect the rural character of
the area. The Councils Landscape Consultant has reviewed the proposals and raises no
objections subject to a suitable condition requiring details of the planting species etc.

In light of the above, the design and layout of the proposal are considered acceptable.
Residential amenity

JCS policies SD4 and SD14 require development to enhance comfort, convenience and
enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external space.

Development should have no detrimental impact on the amenity of existing or new residents
or occupants.

40



8.51

8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

The proposed development is separated from adjoining dwellings in the village by a private
drive and the development would be screened by the hedges running along the southern
boundary of the site. As a result, the proposal would not result in any demonstrable harm to
the living conditions of adjoining occupiers.

In terms of future occupiers of the development, the proposed plots would be laid out in an
acceptable manner and would not result in any adverse impacts from loss of light,
overlooking or overbearing impacts. Furthermore, the proposed gardens are commensurate
with the proposed dwellings and would provide adequate private amenity space for future
residents.

Housing mix

Policy RES13 of the TBP (in accordance with SD11 of the JCS) seeks to ensure that an
appropriate mix of dwelling sizes, types and tenures are achieved with new housing
developments. The Policy advises that the appropriate mix of house types and sizes for
each site will depend upon the size and characteristics of the site and the viability of the
scheme. Policy GNDPO04 of the GNDP echoes this, although advises that on sites less than
5 dwellings the mix requirement is not necessary, and proposals will be permitted where
they are in accordance with other policies in the NDP.

The scheme proposes four detached dwellings, two 3 bedroom units and two 4 bedroom
units. The proposal would provide three single storey units and only one two storey unit.
Given the low density of the site, the type and amount of units and the semi-rural context of
the site it is considered that the mix would be appropriate for the area and would comply
with the Polices set out in the TBP, JCS and GNDP.

Affordable housing

JCS Policy SD12 sets out that on sites outside of strategic allocations, a minimum of 40%
affordable housing will be sought, this is mirrored in Policy RES12 of the TBP. It follows that
they should be provided on site and should be seamlessly integrated and distributed
throughout the development scheme. Similarly, Policy GNP04 of the GNDP requires a
proportion of affordable housing where the viability of development allows.

Policy SD12 of the JCS and RES12 of the TBP both set out that the threshold for requiring
affordable housing provision is 10 or more dwellings or a site area of 0.5 hectares. The
proposal is for 4 new dwellings and the site area is 0.10 hectares, therefore the provision of
affordable housing is not required on this site.

Drainage and flood risk

JCS Policy INF2 advises that development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding
and must not increase the level of risk to the safety of occupiers of a site and that the risk of
flooding should be minimised by providing resilience and taking into account climate
change. It also requires new development to incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems (SuDS) where appropriate to manage surface water drainage. This is reflected in
Policy ENV2 of the TBP and the NPPF.

41



8.58

8.59

8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

The application has been accompanied by a Drainage Statement, which advises that a
SUDs system would be designed to ensure that there would be no increase to surface water
run-off by utilising the existing farmland around the site. It also advises that any hard
standing areas would be finished with permeable materials. ‘Grey Water’ would be saved
on-site for re-use through water butts. The Existing sewer system would be utilised to
dispose of foul water.

The submitted details have been assessed by the Councils Flood Risk Management
Engineer who raises no objection but would require the final details by way of a planning
condition, should the application be permitted.

Biodiversity

Government Circular 06/05 states that it is essential that the presence or otherwise of
protected species, and the extent that they may be affected by the proposed development,
is established before the planning permission is granted, otherwise all relevant material
considerations may not have been addressed in making the decision. When determining
planning applications, Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states if significant harm to biodiversity
resulting from a development cannot be avoided through locating on an alternative site with
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then
planning permission should be refused.

JCS Policy SD9 seeks the protection and enhancement of biodiversity and geological
resources of the JCS area in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are
resilient to current and future pressures.

Policy GNDP12 of the GNP states that development that is likely to have either a direct or
indirect adverse impact upon areas of local biodiversity should be avoided. Where this is not
possible adequate mitigation should be proposed or, as a last resort, compensation should
be provided at a suitable location within the Parish. The protection and enhancement of
biodiversity by enhancing or creating new wildlife corridors and stepping stones, including
hedgerows, ditches, strips of tree planting, green open spaces with trees and grass verges
to roads, both within and adjacent to the borders of Gotherington parish will be supported.

The application was accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, following review of
this appraisal by the Councils Ecologist further survey works were requested due to bat
droppings being found in one of the buildings. A request was also made with regard to an
updated ecological assessment into the impact upon Great Crested Newts (GCN).

The requested works were undertaken throughout 2023 and the results have been
submitted to the Council and Ecological Adviser for review. The Ecologist has requested
further information prior to the determination of the application regarding the GCN surveys
and clarification over the proposed bat mitigation strategy. The applicant has submitted this
information, which is currently under review by the Ecological Adviser. Given this a further
update will be provided to members in relation to the ecological impacts.

Heritage assets
JCS Policy SD8 concerns the historic environment, stating that development should make a

positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness, having regard to valued and
distinctive elements of the historic environment.

42



8.66

8.67

8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

8.73

Policy HERS5 (Locally Important Heritage Assets) states that: Locally Important Heritage
Assets will be conserved having regard to the significance of the asset and its contribution to
the historic character of the area. Proposals affecting a Locally Important Heritage Asset
and/or its setting will be expected to sustain or enhance the character, appearance, and
significance of the asset. Proposals that seek the preservation and/or enhancement of these
assets will be encouraged. Historically important groups of farm buildings will be protected
from proposals for destructive development or demolition.

The proposal is to create four new dwellings on land currently occupied by
agricultural/storage buildings and an associated storage yard. None of the buildings to be
developed are thought to be historic. The development site is accessed via Moat
Farmhouse drive but is located obliquely behind post war residential development lining
Malleson Road.

Moat farmhouse is not listed; however, it is a historic building which contributes positively to
the historic appearance and character of the locality and is considered to be a
non-designated heritage asset. The NPPF defines a heritage asset as a building,
monument, site, place, area, or landscape identified as having a degree of significance
meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest.

The Conservation Officer has been consulted and advises; “The design of the buildings is
contemporary with a nod to the modern agricultural form and materials. They do not relate to
any historic style. Due to location, distance and form it is not considered that the residential
development itself would impact upon the setting of Moat Farmhouse or its historic
outbuildings as non-designated heritage assets”.

The Conservation Officer has also referred to the previous appeal, noting that this was one
of the reasons for dismissal; “The previous appeal regarding a proposal for 47 houses on
the site was dismissed for a number of reasons including the impact upon the setting of the
farmhouse as a non-designated heritage asset. The inspector was particularly critical of the
scale and appearance of the access driveway which was suburban and dominant and a
departure from the agricultural character of the existing access. In this case, and for the
number of dwellings, it may be possible that the driveway would change little from its
present state.

Following the Conservation Officers comments further information was sought from the
applicant in relation to the proposed new surfacing of the road. The applicant has responded
advising that the shared access road would be Cotswold stone coloured resin bound gravel,
the kerbing/edging would be a Marshalls “Tegula” block.

Revisions were also made to the designs of the plots, these included re-orientating the
garages to a more traditional position in relation to the dwellings and changes to the
fenestration.

The Conservation Officer was reconsulted and advises that there are now no objections to
the proposal given the additional information and proposed changes. It is therefore
considered that the scheme would not cause harm or loss of the setting of the
non-designated heritage asset in this instance.

43



Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of
the Act provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the
development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

The application site lies outside of the defined settlement boundary for Gotherington and is
not allocated for housing development. The site does not represent previously developed
land within the built up areas of a service village; is not a rural exception scheme; and does
not represent 'infilling'. It has not been brought forward for development through a
Community Right to Build Order and there are no policies in the existing TBP which allow for
the type of development proposed here. The proposal therefore conflicts with the spatial
strategy and Policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS, Policy RES3 of the TBP and Policies
GNDPO1, GNDPO03 and GNDP11 of the GNP.

However, On the basis the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply of
deliverable housing land, the Council's policies for the supply of housing are out of date. In
accordance with Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable
development indicates that permission should be granted unless policies for protecting
areas of assets of particular importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed, or any adverse impacts of permitting the development would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in
the NPPF as a whole.

As detailed throughout the analysis section of the report, there would be no clear reasons
for refusal arising from NPPF policies for the protection of areas or assets of particular
importance in this case and therefore, it is clear that the decision-making process for the
determination of this application is to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting
planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

Benefits

The development would contribute towards the supply of housing to help meet the housing
need which attracts significant weight in favour of granting permission in light of the
Council's housing land supply position.

The scale of development, its relationship with and proximity to a service village and the
existing built-up area, is a benefit that, in light of the Council's housing land supply position,
would attract fair weight in favour of granting permission. Furthermore, the development
would replace a substantial agricultural building and associated yard area which are in a
poor state.

Although the development is relatively modest in scale , in economic and social terms a
number of benefits would flow from this development if permitted, including during the
construction process. There would also be economic and social benefits arising from spend
from future residents which would help sustain local services and facilities, which is
considered a moderate benefit.

44



9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

10.

In environmental terms the redevelopment of the site would allow the opportunity for
substantial new planting and biodiversity net gain which would be a significant benefit.

Harms

Harm arises from the conflict with development plan policies and the spatial strategy relating
to housing, particularly Policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS, although it is accepted that the
Council's housing policies must now be considered in light of the tilted balance.

Neutral

In design terms, notwithstanding the final materials details, the design and layout are
considered to be acceptable given the constraints of the site. The proposal also does not
raise any residential amenity issues in terms of a loss of light, outlook and privacy. The
development would not be at an unacceptable risk of flooding and appropriate drainage
infrastructure can be provided. Contrary to the previous appeal decision, the proposal would
not have an adverse impact on designated heritage asset or wider landscape impact
including the SLA. The proposal is considered acceptable in regard to highway safety and
accessibility. The proposal also provides an acceptable housing mix and ecological
mitigation.

Overall conclusion

There would be some harm arising from the development, namely harm arising from conflict
with development plan policies and the spatial strategy relating to housing.

Significant weight should be given to the provision of housing and this benefit would attract
weight in favour of granting permission in light of the Council's housing land supply position
along with economic and environmental benefits of the scheme.

Taking account of all the material considerations and the weight to be attributed to each
one, it is considered that the identified harms would not significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits in the overall planning balance.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

In the absence of policies in the NPPF which would provide a clear reason for refusal, and it
is not considered that the harms of the development would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits set out above. It is therefore recommended the application be
permitted subject to the conditions listed below.

Conditions

The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

45



The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
documents:

Site Location & Block Plan - 1772-01
Proposed Site Plan - 1772-10B
Proposed Site Overview - 1772-05C
Plot 1 Elevations - 1772-15A

Plot 2 Elevations - 1772-16B

Plot 3 Elevations - 1772-17A

Plot 4 Elevations - 1772-18A
Garage Elevations - 1772-20B

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans

Notwithstanding condition 2, no development hereby permitted shall take place until details
of site and development levels have been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the local
planning authority. Details shall include the existing levels on site and adjoining land,
finished ground levels and ridge heights. The development shall accord with the agreed
details.

Reason: In order to define the permission and ensure that the development is of a scale and
height appropriate to the site.

Before their use as part of the development hereby permitted, samples or details, or both, of
all external building, boundary treatment and surfacing materials to be used shall have been
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the local planning authority. The development shall
accord with the agreed samples and detalils.

Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development will be of an
acceptably high standard.

No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a landscaping scheme encompassing
both hard and soft landscaping has been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the local
planning authority. The landscaping scheme, including the boundary planting around the
paddock/field, shall be in broad accordance with approved plan no. 858 002, and shall
include, by way of annotated plans or otherwise, details of:

i. all existing trees and hedges on the application site (including in respect of the
accurate position, canopy spread and species of each tree and hedge, and any
proposals for felling or pruning and any proposed changes within the ground level, or
other works intended to be carried out, within the relevant canopy spread), the layout
of proposed trees, hedges, shrubs and grassed areas,

ii. aschedule of proposed planting (indicating species, sizes at time of planting and
numbers or densities of plants),

iii.  awritten specification outlining cultivation and other operations associated with
planting, the treatment of pedestrian links to the site,

iv.  aprogramme for undertaking landscaping, and

v. aschedule of landscaping maintenance for a minimum period of five years from first
installation.

46



All planting, seeding and turfing shall be carried out in line with the agreed details in the first
planting season following the first occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted. Any planting,
seeding or turfing carried out shall be maintained in accordance with the agreed schedule of
maintenance. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from the carrying out of
landscaping pursuant to this condition, are removed, or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and
species.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

6 No development shall commence on site until details of the design, implementation,
maintenance and management of foul and surface water drainage works to serve the
development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out, and the drainage maintained/managed, in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure development would not result in unacceptable risk of pollution or harm to
the environment.

12. Informatives

1 In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to

determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

a7



oV

V0-CLLY | e

L20ZNYF 0
ONINNYId | “vomwn
oo

s

SNV1d NOILYOO1

SONITTIMA M3N A3S0dONd

NOLONIN3IHLOD
avoyd NOS3TIVIN
WYVd LVOW 1V ONV1

K i
A0 uBjsapaiEIEDWEpE

GHS 519 ‘Sol9 ‘weyualjoud

oBiepuog oluels ‘e ueg Aojueis
PV uBjseq oyeid 'y
SAVIAMAS NUISIU IVENIUILINOYY

NOIS3a YT’V

w NouaosIa ava |

LVY®O0SGZL:] - ue|d uoneoo

e

48




)

/
{

1772-10B

LARK ESIGN
’ E Gl
A.C

b
- FoT

l
A

ite Plan
ed Si
Propos




v,

L20ZNVF
ONINNYId| vdosz:t

uuuuu

060-¢L.L — % MBIAIBAQ 8)IS pasodoid

MIIAYIAO LIS 3S0d0dd

SONITTIMA M3IN A3S0dOdd Z

NOLONINIHLOD
avoyd NOS3TIVIN
WYV4 LYOW 1V ONVT

/IEYap PEo] SS8008 S0BJINS PAIEUS

R
RREDRIRIREE

S RIRIIRK
QILILLRELLIEKL

X RRHX XX KX AKAR X XXX XX
e 22

50




ONINNYTd % o

1202 VP,

VSITLLL | oo

1 701 - suoneAs|3 pesodoid

sBuyjjamp pasodoid

uojBuneyion
sue uojBuiayion
wued jeojy

[
A oo ubisepayieieDuepe
$90029-Z5Z10
GHS $519 ‘SOID "WEYUNIND
oBiepuog Asjuers ‘wiey wieg Aojueis

N9IS3a IW 1DV

UOJeAa[g YJION pasodoid

g

s \\

G

100p 90UBJJUD JUOL)
pawesy wnuwn|y

it

Buipseoq yjbus| Jepenb
93JY} U}IM UOIBAS|S JUO) O}
wuJoy a|qeb sjdwig

sainjonyis [einynoube Jad se [ejow
pajebnuioo yoe|g

- sBuip|ing |ednynoube

JB|NOBUIBA JO WO SOIWIW
uonens|d a|qeb ajdwis

UONJEAS[T yInog pasodoid

U

llem

100dse Jeal 0} sloop
Buipi|s wniuiwnie
/Buize|b sjoui0)
\\ // \\ S S, s ‘s
7 \\ Gz

Buippejo |ejow
payebnuod yoeg

SFIT i i
i ‘
" oF e L
A 11
I
. | I Il

sainjonu)s |eunynoube Jad se |ejow

pajebnuiiod yoelg

- sBuip|ing |eunynolbe
JEJNJBUISA JO WO} SOIWIW
uoneas|e a|qeb ajdwig

Aiepunoq ajealo o}
papus)xe uoneAs|d
juoly 0} Bulljepm

/ o4, /,

Buijlem auoys pjoms}oD
palayjeam [einjeN

i

Buijjem suojs ploms}o)
paJayyeam [einjeN

mopuim yBiay [Iny
pawely wniuwnpy

Buipseoq aJlys}IOA
olww o} uleped
pJeoq uo pJeoq ul
Buippeo Jaquui |

-

jJool

|ejow pajebnilod yoe|g

000

Buipieoq
BIIYSHIOA [eanynonbe ojwiw o}
Buippejo pJeoq uo pieog

Joou 0} Buippe|o [ejow
pajebniiod yoe|g

51

UONEAd[T JSeg pasodoig

i

juiod abejuen ojgnd
woly paje|aouod
syBiyood abie




ONINNYTd o o

1202 Nvr.

q91-¢LLL [

Z101d - SuoneAs|3 pesodold

sBuijjamp pasodoid

uojbuuayjon
sue uojBuiayion
wued jeoly

__ﬁ‘a..s_!u!:._u-@..;u-
ya00z9-25710
e 11 110 D WibtitD.
oBiepuog Aojums ‘wuey weg Aoeis
€331AHTS NOISIO TVHAIOILINOEY Buijjem suojs pjomsjod

NOIS3A IXY 12V paJsayjesm |einjeN

Buipseoq
QIIYSHIOA [ednynoliBe ojwiw o}

] Buippe|o pJeoq uo pieog

T T UONeAd[J YHON pasodoid

i

Buipseoq
BUIYSHIOA [ednynoLiBe ojwiw o}

JAeig ayoeiuy, ul
Bulppelo pJeoq uo pieog

Buiyool jeyow
13UINGPOOM WO} paweas
anjj [eyaw xoe|g Xd ¥eoojedls

52

uoneAs|e Woly yoeq
189S 90UBLUS PBJesdU0D) Buijjem suojs ploms}o)
paJayyeam [esnjeN

T T

Buipseoq aysyIoA
olwiw o} uiayed
pleoq uo pieoq ui
Buippeyo Jaqui|

mopuim ybiay |iny
pawely wnuwny

JAa19 ayoeuyiuy, ul Bulool jeyow
pawess Xd }1e02|9a)S
ejosey 0} ,Aa16 sjoeIyIuY, X 1d 1BODISBIS




ov

ONINNY T g Id-su

VLVTLLL [

€301d - SuoneAs|3 pasodoud

sBujjiemp pasodoid

uojbunayjon
sue uojbuniayjon
w4 Jeoy

E
Ao ubisapayiepre@wepe
ya00z9-25710
QHS F$19 $0ID "WRIUANIND
obiepuag Aojums ‘uuey weg Aoeis

S30/AMIE NDISIO AVEALIILINOEY

NOIS3A 3N 1DV

Buipseoq yjbus| Jopenb
931U} Y}IM UOIIBAS|D JUOI) O}
wuoy a|qeb ajdwig

1JeAs|d

sBuip|ing |einynoube
JB|NOBUISA JO WO} SOIWIW
uopeas|s a|qeb ajdwig

1d

pua a|qeb oy Buippejo
|ejow weas Bulpuels

j0adse Jeal 0} sloop
Buipiis wnuiwnie
/Buize|b Jsui0)

100p 80oUBIUS JUOl
pawel) wniuwn)y

e10sE} 0} X1d 1800[99)S

Buijlem auojs pjoms}oD)
paJayjeam [einjeN

Buipseoq
B1IYSHIOA [BInynoLBe ojwiw o}
Buippejo pJeoq uo pieog

Aa19 ouiz, ul
Buljoou [eyow

paweas
X7d 1802|8813

Buijlem auojs pjomsjoD mopuim yBiay [|ny

paiayjeam [einjeN N

%

Buipieoq allysyIoA
olwiw 0} uiaped
pJeoq uo pieoq ui
Buippeo Jequui .

JAa19 ouiz, ul Buyoou |eyaw
pawess Xd 1800[99)S E_oﬁﬂmwwchm_mumwm
sjyBiyood abie

53




ov

ONINNY T = $701d - SUOTIEAd[] 1d

1202 VP,
meg.

V8L-CLLL |

¥ 10]d - suoneas|3 pasodoid

sBuljjamp pasodoid

uojbuuayjon
aueT uojbunayjon
wie 1ol Aumn
__.,s.._.,._s!u_iﬁ.__a.ii j0edse Jeal 0} |sued epis paze|b
0} s1oop Buiplis pue Joop ss800y

QHS $510 SOID "WEYUANID
aliepuog_Aojuerg ‘uuey weg Aowels
£321AHIS NDIS3ID TVHALIAILINAEY

N9IS3a INA 1OV

pawesy wniuwn|y

K19 ouiz, ul
Buljoou [eyow

paweas
X7d 1802|8813

mopuim ainjoid
pawel) wnjujwnie able

54

Buipseoq
JAa19 ouiz, ul Buyoou |eyaw QUIYSHIOA [eanynoliBe ojwiw 0y
pawess X1d }e00[99)S Buippelo pieoq uo pleog MO[Bq JBUINGPOOM
wouy anyy yoelg
sbuip|ing |eanynoube 5
UllIEM BUOIS PIOMSIO JOOP 90UBJjUS PaWE) WNIUIWN)Y

JE[NOBUISA JO WO} SOIWIW

uoiens|a ajqeb ajdwig paJayjeam einjeN

Buipieoq allysyIoA
olwiw 0} uiaped
pJeoq uo pieoq ul
Buippeo Jequui |

Apms o) Bul

IpIBOQ SIIYSHIOA g

Jono sybiyooy oW o) useped ) .
DB uppe sequi a1 auiz, Ui Buyoos jerous Siwotb pUS 81066

. . PBWESS X'd Je00[881S BUIPPED [E}oW POWESS



ONINNYTd

a0c-cLL)

Sebeieo pesodoid

sBuijjamp pasodoid

uojBuneyion
sue uojBuiayion
wieq Jeoly

ki
Wn oz ubisapayepe@uepe
ya0029-25210
QHS F§19 $0ID "WEILOUND
Biepuog A “ue, Aouerg

30 Tvenio

NOIS3a INY 1Y

o]

Joop ss822e apIs
pawelj wniujwnje
paze|b Ajjened

Joop
abe.eb Jano

pue dn Jaqui]

UOIJEAd[] JuOJ] pasodoid

TUOIJeAd[] JUuoi] pasodoig

777000000000 77

JAa19 ouiz, ul \
Buippejo jeyow % P
paweas JAS19 duiz, ul
X7d 1e09|881s Buyool [ejow
P pue ¢ S)o|d - sabeles) psweas
X1d jeodjesls

Joop ssaooe aplis
pawely wniuiwnie
paze|b Ajjemed

316 ayoeiyuy,
ul Buippeo

pue

Buijoou jeyow
psweas

Xd ¥e0999)s

2 10|d - 0mm._wmu

JO0l pue sjjem 0}
3oe|q ul
Buippeo [eyawl
pajebnuo)

Joop
abeueb Jono
pue dn Jjaqui]

JO0U pUE S|[EM 0}

[ J0Id - 9beien

3oe|q ul
Buippeyo |ejew JOOI PUE S||EM O}
pajebnuo) 3Oe|q ul
Buippelo [eyaw
pajebnuo)




1N0/6¥L00/vT :9MS |eaddy

e LS =
R Ed S

At
R ]

Llﬁ T
__ \ oo

D
i
1

=1 U
g

s
i Ik

i
sunog
susua)

1N4/L0€T0/TT :91S uonedljddy juatin)




Agenda Item 5b

Planning Committee

Date 17 October 2023

Case Officer David Lowin

Application No. 21/01496/FUL

Site Location Almsbury Farm, Vineyard Street, Winchcombe, Cheltenham
Proposal Redevelopment and conversion of Alimsbury Farm Barns to provide a

mixed residential and commercial development, comprising of circa.
900 sgm of Class E commercial floor space and 18 new residential units
including demolition of non-historic portal framed barns and the
provision of new car parking, landscaping and associated infrastructure

Ward Winchcombe
Parish Winchcombe
Appendices Site location plan

Proposed site plan

Landscape Strategy

Farmhouse Elevations 1

Farmhouse Elevations 2

Farmhouse First and Second Floor Plan
Farmhouse Ground Floor Plan

Existing Barn GF plan, Elevations & Sections
Proposed Barn GF, Elevations & Sections
Barn Ground Floor

Barn Elevations 1

Barn Elevations 2

Barn Elevations 3

Barn Elevations 4

Terraced Home Elevations 1

Terraced Home Elevations 2

Terraced Home Ground Floor Plan
Terraced Home First Floor Plan

New single storey barn elevations

New single storey barn GF and FF Plans

Reason for Referral | Full or outline application for the erection of 10 or more residential units
to Committee and Councillor call in.

Recommendation Delegated Permit

Site Location

Vineyard

57



The Proposal

11

1.2

Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=R3UV8

RQDI8000

Redevelopment and conversion of Almsbury Farm Barns to provide a mixed residential and
commercial development, comprising of circa. 900 sqm of Class E commercial floor space and
19 residential units, following revision of design now 18 units. Including demolition of
non-historic contemporary portal framed barns and the provision of new car parking,
landscaping and associated infrastructure.

This proposal includes 14 new residential build houses to replace existing non-historic portal
framed barns, with the remainder of the commercial units and four residential uses proposed
through conversion and redevelopment of the existing traditional listed barns.

The site will comprise of the following elements:

e The conversion of the listed buildings to a mix of four residential and commercial uses in
the remaining area.

o A U-shaped terrace of ten 3 bedroomed ‘alms house’ type cottage accommodation, and
4 new dwellings, comprising one three bed dwelling and three 4 bed homes in the South
east corner of the site. Three of the homes are designed as terraced and have the
external appearance of single storey agricultural buildings, with the final detached
dwelling being of similar design.

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

The Application Site lies wholly within the Winchcombe Conservation Area and incorporates,
the Grade Il listed Almsbury Farmhouse (list entry no. 1340288) and the adjacent Grade Il
listed farm buildings, currently in a derelict condition (1304848). The site is also within the
Cotswolds AONB. Adjoining but not within the site the land immediately to the North is within
Flood Zone 3, however the site is within flood zone 1, the lowest risk of flooding associated with
the River Isbourne and Beesmoor Brook located near to the site.

The site also adjoins and comprises a very small part at the extreme South of the application
site (not proposed for development) which falls within the Sudeley Historic Park and Gardens.

The farm buildings of Almsbury Farm were listed in 1960; the list description was amended in
1984 (Grade ll, list entry no. 1304848). The farm complex lies just to the east of Vineyard
Street, between the Isbourne and Vineyard Bridge to the north, and the Listed Historic Park and
gardens of the Sudeley estate to the south. To the north and within the site is situated the listed
Almsbury Farmhouse as described below. To the east is an open field sloping down to the
Beesmoor Brook.

The barn at Almsbury dates from the 18th century or earlier. Most of the other buildings now
present date from the 19th century.

Almsbury Farmhouse within the application site was listed at Grade Il in 1984 (list entry no.
1340288). The farmhouse appears to date from the 18th century, although with substantial 19th
century modifications. It had assumed its present L-shaped arrangement by 1884. The house is
of cut and squared limestone, with a stone slate roof to a coped gable.

58



2.6 The farmhouse’s setting to the south is defined, as it has been since the late 19" century, by its
relationship with the buildings enclosing the northern farmyard. To the east, a range of sheds
abutting the granary building extend in front of the eastern elevation of the farmhouse; these
historically faced a produce garden to the east. Somewhat overgrown by 2005, this is now an
open grassed area. The setting of the farmhouse to the north and the west remains essentially
as it would have been following the erection of Vineyard Bridge and the realignment of Vineyard
Street in the early 1890s, bounded by mature trees.

3. Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
00/00753/FUL Conversion, change of use of farmhouse & PER 17.04.2003

buildings, erection of new buildings to provide a
new visitor centre including retail, restaurant and
new estate office. New car park. Creation of visitor
toilets & ticket office at Sudeley. Erection of new
walls, railings & temporary barriers.

00/00754/LBC Conversion and change of use of farmhouse and | CONSEN | 29.01.2002
farm buildings including demolition and erection of
new buildings to provide a new visitor centre
including retail, restaurant and new estate office.

91/96330/LBC Re-roofing (Grade Il Listed Building Ref: 4/210) CONSEN | 24.09.1991

94/01040/LBC Re-roofing of Agricultural Barn (listed Building CONSEN | 13.12.1994
grade 1l 4/209)

97/00839/FUL Conversion of coach house/bothy into holiday let | PER 14.10.1997
accommodation/ bed and breakfast use

97/01084/LBC Internal alterations to Bothy to create holiday-let CONSEN | 17.11.1997
accommodation

04/01674/LBC Replacement roof structure and internal CONSEN | 01.06.2005
structures. General reinstatement following a fire.
(Grade Il Listed Building ref:10/210.)

16/01453/FUL Proposed construction of a 52 bed care home and | REF 12.10.2017
53 assisted living units (C2 use), including the
conversion of Almsbury Barns. Associated hard
and soft landscaping and parking.

21/01497/LBC Internal and external works in association with the | CONSEN | 21.09.2023
redevelopment and conversion of Almsbury Farm
Barns to provide a mixed residential and
commercial development.

Recent planning history

3.1 In 2002-3, planning permission and listed building consent were granted for the conversion
and change of use of the farmhouse and farm buildings, together with the erection of new
buildings, to provide a new visitor centre and estate office (refs. 00/00753/FUL & 00/00754/
LBC). These permissions were not implemented.

59




3.2

3.3

3.4

In 2008, planning permission and listed building consent were granted for the restoration and
extension of the farmhouse (refs. 07/01279/FUL & 07/01277/LBC). Extension of these
permissions with some minor amendments was granted in 2011 (refs. 11/00225/FUL &
11/00209). It is understood that footings for this consent were dug, and that approved scheme
forms part of the current proposals for that building.

In 2017 an application for a 52-bed care home, and 52 assisted living units was refused by
Members at Planning Committee. The reasons for refusal were; contrary to the Councils
locational hosing policies, significant harm to the AONB, harm to the setting of the nearby
heritage asset and an unsafe highways impact. It should be noted that the application site
formed a larger parcel of land than the currently proposed site.

An EIA Screening opinion was requested by the applicant as set out above and resulted in a
determination that the development did not fall within Schedule 2 of the EIA Regulations.

Consultation Responses

4.1

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

Winchcombe Town Council — Objection to this proposed development but for only one
reason, set out below. Convincing proposals for traffic management in the street are the
obstacle. “The overall view of the Town Council is that the development set out in the
application is, in itself, a far better proposal than previous applications for this site. We
welcome:

o The investment in a new use of the long empty barn building (and the opportunity to
create local employment through commercial use).

e The reconstruction of the single storey buildings lost over the years, enabling them to
be brought back into suitable use; with a view to sustainable development, increasing
local employment opportunities is a positive goal;

¢ The replacement of ramshackle modern barns and farm buildings with a terrace of
modest homes, with some provision for affordable housing;

e The opportunity to use the site to construct new detached homes, using the same
style and construction materials.

However, while the Town Council welcomes the overall project as set out, it's a fact that any
additional development would increase traffic flows in Vineyard Street. There are currently
only 16 residential properties in Vineyard Street (the steep hill down from Abbey Terrace in
Winchcombe Town Council) and another 5 in the Old Brockhampton Road, a no through road
that extends into Sudeley Parish and serves significant farming operations. The application
would create more traffic from the new homes and proposed commercial uses of the main
barn and some other parts of the site.

The challenge here is that the street is also the main entrance route to Sudeley Castle, a very
popular tourist destination attracting about 80,000 visitors a year and organising various
festival and trade fairs on their extensive parkland. There are already occasions when the
diagonal parking in Vineyard Street constricts farm machinery traffic and HGV deliveries. And
when there is additional traffic to the Castle for special events, the additional marshals laid on
to direct traffic at the junction with Abbey Terrace can be overwhelmed by the flow of traffic.
Any new development is going to increase the challenge and potentially back traffic up to the
main road through Winchcombe. If the Borough Council is minded to approve this
application, the Town Council would want a condition applied with the effect of. ensuring no

60



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

development is started until there is a suitable County Council designed traffic management
scheme for Vineyard Street to replace the diagonal parking, to take account of the needs of
Vineyard Street and Old Brockhampton Road residents and businesses, and of the need for
easy access for visitors to Sudeley Castle; ensuring that no part of the development is
occupied on completion until the full implementation of that traffic management scheme. A
local resident has provided the Town Council with a very thorough explanation of the
challenge Vineyard Street sets for any development at Sudeley Castle or along the Old
Brockhampton Road. It’s clear from his assessment that normal County Council standard
formulae approaches don’t easily help to identify solutions in such an unusual location. It may
be that converting Vineyard Street from diagonal to parallel parking would help the traffic
flow, but it would also deny the residents of the street of perhaps 15 easy parking spaces on
their doorstep. Where would they park? Abbey Terrace spaces are not a suitable alternative
as it is operated with time limits to underpin access to the local economy - the vet, the dentists
surgery, and shops and local services. The main town car park is some distance away in
Back Lane. The Town Council would therefore welcome a proper County Council
assessment of how these challenges can be addressed. Until there is a convincing way
forward we do need to sustain a formal objection and ask the Borough Council not to
determine the application."

Highway Authority - No objection subject to conditions. The County Highway Authority
consider that further to the Highway Authority’s recommendation dated 4th July 2022, and
after extensive discussions and negotiations, it has been agreed that by virtue of the resulting
intensification of the number of vehicle and pedestrian movements from the development
proposal onto Vineyard Street and the junction with B4632 Gloucester Street, the proposal is
dependant on the introduction of a Traffic Regulation Order in order to restrict the number of
on-street parking along this road that will allow for the safe operation of the road and junction
without detriment to highway safety.

All the remaining matters set out in the HA’s previous correspondence have been
incorporated in subsequent submissions made by the applicant’s transport consultant, and
we are satisfied that these address the matters set out. The Highway Authority has
undertaken a robust assessment of the planning application. Based on the analysis of the
information submitted the Highway Authority concludes that there would not be an
unacceptable impact on Highway Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no
justifiable grounds on which an objection could be maintained.

Land Drainage Officer — The submitted drainage strategy report shows sufficient evidence
that an appropriate drainage system incorporating the use of a sustainable urban drainage
system can be introduced on this site. No objection subject to recommended conditions.

Conservation Officer — Following considerable negotiations and submission of revised
scheme , including redesign of some dwelling units and a reduction of dwellings to 18 so that
5 of the new dwellings resemble the scale and massing of agricultural buildings and revisions
to proposals for external areas, including the setting of the listed tithe barn and the two north
and south orientated wings of that building by deletion of a hard surfaced area immediately
adjoining these buildings frontage to the Road and revision to original landscape proposals to
continue an open frontage from the Road to the barn’s elevation . No Objection subject to
recommended conditions.

Environmental Health Officer — No objection subject to recommended conditions.

61



4.6 Housing Strategy and Enabling — No Objection subject to confirmation that the applicants
have correctly applied the principle of the vacant building credit correctly to off site provision
of residual ‘new floorspace’

4.7 Lead Local Flood Authority — The site is within flood zone 1 and is at low risk of flooding.
The LLFA has no objections to the to the proposal subject to recommended conditions.

4.8 Minerals and waste Planning Authority — No objection subject to recommended
conditions.

4.9 National Highways — No objections.

4.10 Ecology — No objections subject to recommended conditions.

4.11 Gloucestershire County Community Infrastructure — Contributions required for education
in particular secondary education via a S106 agreement.

4,12 County Council Archaeology - No objection subject to recommended condition.

4.13 Historic England — Objection to the impact of on the registered Park and Garden of
Sudeley Castle

5. Third Party Comments/Observations
Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.1 The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days.

5.2 Some 11 representations have been received expressing opposition to the proposed

planning application, including a representation from the ‘Friends of Winchcombe’ in
summary;

Highway impact on Vineyard Street by reason of increased traffic.

Deleterious effect of construction traffic

Concern about proposal proceeding prior to a by -pass on Sudeley estate land.

Site outside development boundary of Winchcombe on a greenfield site

Increase of light pollution

Density of development excessive

Undesirable impact of greenfield aspects of proposals

Site within a protected landscape

Danger to pedestrians on Vineyard Street by reason of increased usage and no

footways.

e Contrary to provisions of the National Planning Guidance (NPPF) which seeks to
protect national landscape (Cotswold AONB)

e Existing parking via angled spaces reduces width of Vineyard Street which will be

exacerbated by proposed development.

Two letters of support were also received in support of the submitted scheme.

62



Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SP1 (The need for new development)

Policy SP2 (Distribution of new development)

Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

Policy SD 7 (The Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty)
Policy SD8 (Historic Environment)

Policy SD10 (Residential Development)

Policy SD11(Housing Mix and standards)

Policy SD12 (Affordable Housing)

Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)

Policy INF1 (Transport)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

Policy RES 2 (Settlement Boundaries)

Policy RES 3 (New housing outside Settlement Boundaries)
Policy RES 5 (New Housing Development)

Policy RES 7 (Re-use of rural buildings for residential use)
Policy RES 12 (Affordable Housing)

Policy RES 13 (housing Mix)

Policy EMP3 (Employment site within settlement boundariesO
Policy EMP4 (Rural Employment development)

Policy HER 1(Conservation areas)

Policy HER 2 (Listed Buildings)

Policy HER 3 (Historic Parks and Gardens)

Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

Policy NAT1(Biodiversity, Geodiversity, and Important Natural Features)

Neighbourhood Plan

Winchcombe and Sudeley Neighbourhood Development Plan — 2011-2031(WSNDP)
now in excess of 5 years since achieving made status.

Policy 1.1 (Protecting the Distinctive Character of the Area)
Policy 2.1 (New Commercial and light Industrial Development)
Policy 5.1 (Design of New Development)

Policy 5.2 (Off Street Parking)

Policy 5.3 (Winchcombe Conservation Area)

63



6.6

Policy 5.5 (Extensions and Alterations to existing buildings)

Cotswolds National Landscape Management Plan (CNLMP) 2023-2025

Policy CE3 (Local Distinctiveness)

Policy CE5 (Dark Skies)

Policy CE10 (Development and Transport -Principles)
Policy CEG6 (Historic environment and Cultural Heritage)

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

Section 16 (2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
special regard to be had to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses. As such when determining
planning applications this authority has a duty under sections 16(2), 66(1) & 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area and listed
buildings and their settings.

Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out the importance of protecting
and enhancing the historic environment and conserving heritage assets in a manner
appropriate to their significance. Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that:

In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe
the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their
setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets importance and no more
than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of ‘'made'
Neighbourhood Development Plans. In this case the Winchcombe and Sudeley
Neighbourhood Plan.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.
Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the

National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

64



Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Principle of development
Employment Use
Paragraph 84 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should enable;

(a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through
conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;

(b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural businesses;

(c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the
countryside; and

(d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, such
as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses
and places of worship.

The principle of commercial use development on this site is governed by WSNDP Policy 2.1,
which supports, and specifically notes the Almsbury Farm site. This policy provides support
for ‘New and expanded business uses’ for the site. The development of the non-residential
use sought is as set out in the applicant’s planning statement:

‘The proposed Class E use is likely to be of an office/light industrial nature (i.e. former B1
uses).’

The E class as currently set out in the Use Classes Order as amended (2023) under which
the following uses under class E(g) can comprise uses that can be carried out in a residential
area without detriment to its amenity including Offices, research and development, and
industrial processes. Class E(c) allows for the provision of financial services, professional
services or other appropriate services in a commercial, business or service locality.

Policy 2.1 of the WNDP has a footnote (2) allows for residential in connection with
commercial proposals. Whilst the application site is not within the settlement boundary it
does adjoin. The TBP gives encouragement to the establishment of employment uses within
the settlement boundary and in terms of the urban morphology of the Town has a clear
functional relationship. Policy EMP3 encourages employment uses albeit within settlement
boundaries. Outside of settlement boundaries TBP Policy EMP4 makes reference to Policy
AGR2 which allows for farm diversification where they enhance the operation of the
agricultural business and do not prejudice the existing agricultural business. It is noteworthy
that the Policy requires the maximisation of redundant building and where new buildings or
extensions are proposed they are necessary for the new use, and of a scale and use
appropriate to the rural setting and character of the surroundings.

The application site comprising vacant buildings and the original farmhouse is contended by
the applicant to no longer be in use for agriculture as the farm’s agricultural hub has now
been established elsewhere. The proposals as discussed elsewhere do not adversely
materially affect the adjoining landscape or the character of the area. The buildings whilst not
within the settlement boundary have a clear relationship to the Town, and the employment
use provides an appropriate use for a Listed Building. The re use for employment use
provides a new use for an existing listed building in compliance with Policy AGR2, EMP4 and

65



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

HERZ2 the latter policy envisaging the re-use of Listed buildings. The neighbourhood plan
specifically identifies the site irrespective of it being outside the settlement boundary as being
acceptable for employment use. Whilst there is conflict with EMP3 of the TBP by way of its
location outside of the settlement boundary, the proposals are compliant with other relevant
employment and heritage policies and when taken together the commercial proposals
submitted are consistent with relevant local and national policy.

Residential use

In order to further sustainability objectives and in the interests of protecting the countryside,
the housing policies of the JCS set out the development strategy for the Borough. Strategic
Policies SP1 and SP2 of the JCS set out the scale and distribution of development to be
delivered across the JCS area in the period to 2031.

JCS and Policy SP2 sets out that to meet the needs of Tewkesbury Borough, none of which
is being met by the urban extensions to Gloucester and Cheltenham, the JCS will make
provision for at least 9,899 new homes. At least 7,445 dwellings will be provided through
existing commitments, development at Tewkesbury town in line with its role as a market
town, smaller-scale development meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service
Villages. Winchcombe is identified as a Rural Service Centre.

In this case, JCS Policy SD10 is the relevant starting point in considering the principle of
development. Policy SD10 of the JCS states that within the JCS area new housing will be
planned in order to deliver the scale and distribution of housing development set out in
Policies SP1 and SP2. Housing development will be permitted at sites allocated for housing
through the development plan, including Strategic Allocations and allocations in district and
neighbourhood plans.

On sites that are not allocated, housing development and conversions to dwellings will be
permitted on previously developed land in the existing built-up areas of Gloucester City, the
Principal Urban Area of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury town, rural service centres and service
villages except where otherwise restricted by policies within District plans.

The site comprises a number of existing buildings that have been used in conjunction with the
Sudeley Estate. Formally the site was used for agricultural proposes which is evidenced by
the previous planning history. However, the applicant has provided evidence that for the past
10 years there has been no agricultural activities on site, and there has been additional uses,
such as storage, associated with the Sudeley estate and their tourism operations.

The site is located outside and adjoining the existing built-up area of Winchcombe, in open
countryside and does not meet any of the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS and the
conflict with these adopted development plan policies are the starting point for decision
making. However, the situational context of the proposed development and its proximity to
the development boundary is still relevant. The site is located in such close proximity to the
primary services and facilities available in Winchcombe. The site is within convenient walking
distance to the Winchcombe High Street, which contains shops, community facilities, public
transport, public open space, places of worship, libraries and schools. Although there is no
public footpath linking the application site to the town along Vineyard Street, this route is
already very well used by local residents, including frequently by dog walkers and visitors to
Sudeley Castle. There are also other public rights of way links from the rear of the site to the
town.

66



8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. In this instance, there are material considerations which weigh in favour
of the development, including the proximity and accessibility of the application site to
community infrastructure, and the benefits to the community of additional employment
facilities. These material considerations must be weighed against the harms of the
development and each application must be determined on its own merits and this is a matter
for the overall planning balance.

Tewkesbury Borough Plan (TBP)

In terms of the Borough Plan, Winchcombe is identified as a Rural Service Centre. The site is
not an allocated site as set out in Policy RES1, nor is it located within the defined settlement
boundary of Winchcombe and therefore Policy RES2 does not apply. Notwithstanding, the
site is located adjacent to the settlement boundary of a defined Rural Service Centre; the
application site is not located in an isolated rural location and future residents would have
access to services in Winchcombe, Bishops Cleeve and beyond. The NPPF seeks to
promote sustainable development in rural areas and housing should be located where it will
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities (Paragraph 79). The location of the site
immediately adjacent to a defined Rural Service Centre, which would have access to
services, weighs in favour of the proposal.

Neighbourhood Development Plan

Paragraph 14 of the Framework states that in situations where the presumption (at
paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of housing, the adverse impact
of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply:

l. the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less
before the date on which the decision is made;

Il. the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified
housing requirement;

M. the local planning authority has at least a three-year supply of deliverable housing
sites (against its five-year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate buffer as set
out in paragraph 73); and

(\VA the local planning authority's housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over
the previous three years.

The Winchcombe & Sudeley Neighbourhood Plan (WSNDP) was adopted as part of the
development plan on the 24th January 2017 and is therefore older than two years.
Consequently, it no longer benefits from the protection that would have been afforded by
paragraph 14 of the Framework. However, the WSNDP remains an integral component of the
adopted development plan and decision makers should continue to have full regard to it in
determining planning applications.

Policy 3.1 of the WSNDP advises that residential development on infill and redevelopment
sites will be supported, provided they are within the Built-up Ares (as defined on the
proposals map). The application site lies outside the Built-up Ares although it does abut it at
the northern extent of the site.

67



8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

However, Policy 2.1 (New Commercial and Light Industrial Development) identifies the site
as an area where business uses are encouraged. Footnote 2 of this policy states: “if not
developed as part of a wider housing and care home development” which is applicable in this
instance as it seeks to ensure that the redevelopment of the site can accommodate a mixture
of uses. This footnote indicates that there is a mechanism to allow housing to help support
the viability of the site. It is worth noting that the Town Council have not objected to the
principle of housing on this site to help support the commercial uses.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in conflict with Policy 3.1 of the WSNDP, however,
is supported by Policy 2.1.

Five year Land Supply

The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply
of deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that housing policies contained
within development plans should not be considered up-to-date.

Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL), the
Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing land. The position of the recent appeal decision is that the Council’s five year supply
of deliverable housing sites is, at best, 3.39 years, and that this shortfall is significant, which
is accepted. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing should not therefore be
considered up-to-date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

It is notable that the Council is shortly due to publish its annual housing monitoring Housing
Land Supply Statement which will confirm that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five
year housing land supply. The final figure is not yet confirmed. A further update will be
provided to Members at the Committee meeting.

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are most
important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be granted
unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any adverse impacts
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

Conclusion on the Principle of Development

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the Local
Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as
material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not meet any of the
exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS or Policy RES1 and RES3 of the TBP and does not
meet the criterion of Policy 3.1 of the WSNDP. However, some housing is supported on the
site through Policy 2.1 of the WSNDP and the conflict with these adopted development plan
policies are the starting point for decision making.

68



8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

However, as set out above, the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five year supply of
deliverable housing land and therefore the most important policies for determining the
application are deemed out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF. On that basis
the application must be determined in accordance with paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF (the
tilted balance), i.e. planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts of
granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the policies of NPPF as a whole.

Other Material matters
The relevant detailed matters are examined in the following sections of the report as follows:

Landscape Impact

Access and Highway Safety
Design and Layout
Residential amenity
Affordable Housing
Drainage and Flood risk
Biodiversity

Heritage Assets

Landscape impact and impact on the AONB

Policy SD6 of the JCS requires applications to protect or enhance landscape character. A
Landscape Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA) and Landscape Strategy have been submitted
alongside the planning application. The LVIA concludes that the site can accommodate
redevelopment and new residential dwellings in accordance with the proposed development,
with no predicted significant landscape impact It is also noteworthy that Policy SD7 of the
JCS does not preclude development in the AONB only that the development conserve and
where appropriate enhance its landscape and scenic beauty wildlife, cultural heritage and be
consistent with the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan Policy.

It is Officers view that the development hereby analysed is consistent with those policies and
that view is supported by consultee responses and the Town Council. Policy 2.1 of the
WSNDP implicitly supports, by reason of the wording of that policy, the re-use and
development of the application site.

The applicant’s report notes that overall, the development offers potential for beneficial
enhancement which will benefit landscape character and visual amenity through the removal
and redevelopment of existing detractor structures, the contemporary farm buildings, and
introduction of new built form consistent with the prevailing landscape. The Landscape
Strategy proposes new native tree planting within the existing woodland belt to reinforce the
boundary with Sudeley Castle grounds.

The sense of openness to Vineyard Street is retained by keeping the area to the north free of
built development. New native hedge planting is proposed to help maintain a sense of rural
character along the road. Hedge and tree planting is proposed within the adjoining paddock
to filter views from Winchcombe to the north. A new native hedge is proposed along the
length of the eastern boundary to create a soft defined boundary and enclose the built form.
In addition, new tree and hedge planting within the development and high-quality finishes to
hard landscaping proposals complement the architecture and together, create an attractive
environment for future occupiers of the site.

69



8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

Within the accompanying information, it has been demonstrated that the proposed
development would not cause significant landscape harm and a comprehensive landscape
strategy affords significant landscape enhancements. The proposed development is in
accordance with Policy SD6 and SD7of the JCS. Officers having considered the submitted
LVIA and the relevant consultee responses together with the advice given in the Cotswolds_
National_Landscape Management Plan (CNLMP) 2023-2025 are of the view that the
proposal is acceptable in landscape terms.

Access and highway safety

Policy INF1 of the JCS sets out that development should ensure safe and efficient access to
the highway network. The NPPF requires safe and suitable access to be provided.
Paragraph 110 states that development should only be refused on transport grounds where
the cumulative impacts of development are 'severe', which is a high-level test of harm.

The site is currently served by a single point of vehicular access from Vineyard Street which
is the existing access to the farm together with a new access. The submitted Transport
Statement includes detailed site access drawings, which demonstrates that visibility splay
standards are met along Vineyard Street in accordance with highway standards. Swept path
analysis plans are also provided to demonstrate that vehicles can turn and manoeuvre within
the site in a safe and convenient manner. There has had to be some compromise in terms of
internal road standards, particularly in terms of footpath provision. This is an important
heritage site, and the introduction of engineered highway features would cause substantial
harm to the character and setting of heritage assets, in particular the highway approach to
Sudeley Castle, the Conservation Area and the AONB. The existing grass verges on
Vineyard street adjoining the site between the two proposed access points are to be
upgraded by virtue of a suitable bound material to accommodate pedestrian routing and
occasional vehicle overrunning to ensure the continued safe and suitable operation of
Vineyard Street.

The site proposals provide some 65 vehicle parking spaces which the applicants consider is
the minimum required for the submitted proposal consistent with respecting the important
heritage assets present on site and in the vicinity. The site in any event is located within close
proximity to the Town centre. The Highways Authority (HA) have raised no objections to the
guantum of parking.

Although there is no public footpath linking the application site to the town along Vineyard
Street, this route is already very well used by local residents, including frequently by dog
walkers and visitors to Sudeley Castle. There are also other public rights of way links from the
rear of the site to the town.

Given the restricted width of Vineyard Street the existing presence of pedestrians the result is
that overall, the risk to road users is slight as driver behaviour has and does adjust to the
situation. The Highway authority, whose comments are set out above have carefully
considered the matter and subject to recommending a Traffic Regulation Order to restrict and
re-order existing parking on Vineyard Street are content that the proposals are appropriate.
Extensive discussion has been had between the Applicant, the HA and the Town Council in
relation to the TRO. However, the final details of the TRO are still under discussion and the
applicant is seeking to provide an updated plan prior to the Planning Committee meeting.
Given this Members will be updated accordingly.

70



8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

Design and layout

The NPPF at chapter 12 deals with ‘achieving well-designed places’ requiring that
development is visually attractive and consistent with local landscape and history. The
Framework seeks development to maintain a strong sense of place. Policy SD10 of the JCS
at criteria 6 seeks to achieve an appropriate density, the protection of heritage assets, local
amenity and the character and quality of the local environment. TBP policies DES1,HER 1,2
and 3 dealing with space standards, development in conservation areas and development
relating to alterations to Listed Buildings are all relevant in consideration of this matter. In
addition, the CNLMP Policies CE 6 is relevant seeking to protect the historic Environment
and CE 3 seeking to conserve local distinctiveness.

The applicants have submitted a Heritage Statement alongside the application for planning
permission and the listed building consent application reported separately under that
reference number. The site is within the Winchcombe Conservation Area and within the
AONB and abuts and comprises a small area of the Sudeley Castle Registered Park and
Garden (RPG) and comprises Grade Il listed buildings.

The submitted scheme seeks to balance the viability of a scheme that preserves the historic
interest has been at the heart of the design process. The proposed development conserves
and restores the listed buildings on site in accordance with relevant policy and removes
modern, unsightly agricultural sheds. The Heritage Statement confirms that the proposed
works have been conceived to minimise harm to significant fabric as much as possible, giving
the buildings a long-term viable use.

The submitted report goes on to note that care has been taken to minimise harm to significant
fabric as much as possible, where significant harm to fabric has been identified, it is at the low
end ‘less than substantial’. Changes to the setting improve the site’s appearance and
improve the legibility of the historic farmstead layout recreating in Plan form the appearance
of a home farm complex.

The terraced ‘Alms houses’ proposed are typical in design of others in Winchcombe and such
dwellings are common at ‘Estate Home Farm’ complexes common in providing
accommodation for farm workers.

A small part of the Conservation area would be affected by the proposed development. The
Heritage Statement concludes that any harm caused to the special interest of the
Conservation area as a whole would be at the low end of less than substantial.

The layout has been designed to minimise the effect on the Sudeley Castle registered Park
and garden (RPG). Consultation responses confirm that the impact on the RPG is slight,
though the Historic England have expressed concern that the setting of the RPG is
significantly compromised and this matter is considered later in this report. During the course
of consideration of the proposals Officers in concert with the applicants considered that the
original design of the non-alms terraced dwelling development did not respect the overall
design concept for the site. As a result the number of dwellings were reduced to 18 in total
and the design of the new dwellings on the southernmost part of the site were reconsidered
to provide an agricultural external appearance, both in terms of massing, height, and external
finishes, to recreate and add to the Home Farm typology prevalent within the proposed
conversion of the existing Listed Buildings.

71



8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

8.52

The materials to be used in the development of the new buildings are proposed to accord
with those most typically used in the area and a recommended condition requires details to
be submitted in accordance with Policy CE3 of the CNLMP. Officers consider that Policy
SD10 of the JCS, and policies DES1,HER 1,2 and 3 of the TBP and chapter 12 of the NPPF
are complied with.

Officers now consider that the submitted scheme is compliant with relevant Development
Plan Policy as set out above and conclude that the proposal as submitted is satisfactory.

Residential amenity

Policy SD4 of the JCS together with RES 5 of the TBP both seek that new residential
development should be of a design and layout that respects the character, appearance and
amenity of the surrounding area.

The layout of the site has been designed insofar as residential amenity within the site to
ensure that the reuse of the listed barns for commercial use as offices do not adversely affect
residential amenity of residents of the new dwellings proposed. The site is self-contained and
therefore no residential dwelling adjacent to the site will be affected. The Environmental
Health officer has considered the proposals and is content that the development will not
produce a material impact in terms of noise, air quality and that a recommended planning
condition should be considered to ensure that policy in the CNLMP (CE5) relating to dark
skies is complied with.

In addition, the Environmental health officer, given the site is a mixed-use proposal, has
considered it appropriate in terms of the protection of residential amenity to recommend a
noise condition. In addition, the EHO advice on the site has recommended a site
investigation as a precautionary measure completed in accordance with an approved
site-specific methodology, given Officer’s understanding of previous site use, including
storage of unknown materials.

Officers have concluded that the residential amenity of prospective occupiers of the new
residential development will be protected and that the site complies with the relevant
development plan policies relating to residential amenity.

Housing mix

Policy SD11 of the JCS requires that housing development shall provide an appropriate mix
of dwelling sizes, and shall meet national space standards and be located in accessible
locations. The relevant policy in the TBP Policy RES13 mirrors the requirements of the JCS
Poalicy.

The submitted scheme provides for a mix of re use of existing Listed Structures on the site
together with new homes. The housing proposed on the site comprises a mixture of dwelling
sizes. Officers consider that the proposals as they are driven by the context of the site, the
important heritage, conservation and landscape designation of the site to be consistent with
the requirements of TBLP’s policy RES13 Housing Mix and SD11 of the JCS.

Affordable housing

In accordance with the requirements of Policy SD12 of the JCS together with Policy RES 12
of the TBLP the scheme proposes compliance with those policies.

72



8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

8.60

However, the standard 40% requirement, is contended by the applicants who consider that it
should be reduced by reason of the discount afforded by the demolished floorspace using the
provisions of Vacant Building Credit.

Under national planning policy in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), to support
the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being re-used or redeveloped, any
affordable housing contribution due on the redevelopment should be reduced by an amount
proportionate to the existing buildings. This is known as the vacant building credit.

The NPPF 2021 states at para 64;

“Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are
not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a
lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant
buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should
be reduced by a proportionate amount.”

VBC is equivalent to the existing gross floor space of the existing buildings to be demolished.
This provision is applicable in circumstances where the buildings have had no relevant
agricultural use, not abandoned, are structurally sound and are on brownfield land. The
structural report submitted with the application confirms this.

Given this the applicant has sought to demonstrate that the vacant former agricultural
buildings are sited on previously developed land i.e brownfield land. Initial concerns were
raised that the site was still under agricultural use and therefore the VBC could not apply as
agricultural land is not deemed to be previously developed.

The applicant has submitted a sworn affidavit from the CEO of Sudeley Castle and has been
formally sworn in front of a solicitor, under section 5 of the Perjury Act 1911. This affidavit
details the type of storage use carried out at the buildings and states that this is in relation to
the operations of the wider estate including the events held on the castle grounds. Officers,
along with the Planning Lawyer, have assessed this information and consider that, in the
absence of any contrary evidence and on the ‘balance of probabilities’ that the buildings have
been used for the purposes of general storage, in association with the commercial and tourist
businesses of Sudeley Castle. With this in mind it is considered that through the passage of
time, the site use has changed away from agricultural and therefore can be considered as
brownfield or previously developed for the purposes of VBC which is cross referenced in the
glossary of the NPPF.

Given this Officers accept that the former agricultural buildings on the site do constitute,
having been used for non-agricultural purposes on Brownfield land and are therefore relevant
in terms of qualifying for VBC. Accordingly, the 40% requirement for affordable housing by
relevant policy is reduced. The resultant calculation produces a need for 1.2 units, confirmed
by the Council’s housing officer based on the revised number of 18 dwellings. As it is unlikely
that any affordable housing provider will be prepared to build just one dwelling on the site
Officers have accepted that the development should contribute a sum of £99,000 to provide
for the quantum required offsite.

The Councils Affordable Housing Officer has been consulted and confirms that the

methodology used to calculate the VBC is correct and the provision of an offsite contribution
is acceptable in this instance, in accordance with Policy SD12 (criterion 3) of the JCS.

73



8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

Drainage and flood risk

Policies INF 1 of the JCS and ENV2 of the TBP require that development should avoid areas
of flood risk. The NPPF section 14 seeks to protect prospective occupiers and users of new
development and others in the area from flood risk.

The applicants have submitted a flood risk and drainage strategy. The submitted report
considers the existing ground conditions, the existing drainage arrangements and the
hydrology of the site. The River Isbourne flows east past the site, which is located
approximately 12m north of the application site boundary. The Beesmoor Brook flows north
past the site, approximately 78m to the east. Both watercourses are non ‘main river’. The
Beesmoor Brook reaches its confluence with the River Isbourne upstream of Castle Street
Bridge circa 192m north east of the site.

Severn Trent Water asset plans show that there are no public sewers serving or in the vicinity
of the site. The site is located within flood zone 1. This is the area shown to be at low risk of
river flooding associated with the River Isbourne and Beesmoor Brook. The development
proposals are not classed as ‘more vulnerable’ within Flood Zone 1 and therefore an
exception test is not required. No historic records exist to show flooding. In terms of flooding
caused by rainfall data from the Environment agency indicate that the site is at low risk of
pluvial flooding. The response to the application in particular the Drainage and flooding
strategy from the Lead Local flood authority and the Council’s drainage engineer raise no
objections to the scheme subject to the imposition of recommended planning conditions.
Officers are content that the proposals are in conformity to the relevant planning policy at
National and local level subject to conditions.

Ecology

The NPPF at section 15 requires that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local environment by inter alia by protecting and enhancing Biodiversity net
gain. (BNG). TBP policy NAT 1requires that development proposals to be permitted shall
conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity.

The applicants submitted an ecological assessment and an arboriculture assessment as part
of the submission. Those found that:

e There are not considered to be any significant adverse effects on any other statutory and
non-statutory sites of nature conservation interest from the development proposals.

¢ No evidence of Badgers such as any setts, latrines, mammal paths, snagged hairs,
foraging marks or footprints were recorded within or immediately adjacent to the site.

¢ None of the trees within the site were recorded as having developed features suitable to
support roosting bats.

e The site supports a low population of Slow Worms and therefore prior to the removal of
suitable reptile habitat, a reptile translocation exercise will be undertaken in which all
reptiles will be moved through a simple in situ translocation exercise to a retained area of
improved grassland located in the north of the site. To ensure opportunities for reptiles
are retained post development it is recommended areas of open space are retained and
managed for reptiles.

e The development proposals are feasible from an arboricultural perspective for the
following reasons:

¢ No highly important landscape feature trees will be removed.

e Tree protection measures can be put in place to ensure that construction works do not
result in damage to retained trees.

74



8.66

8.67

8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

8.73

The response of the Council’s ecology advisor is set out above considering that the
submitted material is that the proposals are acceptable subject to the imposition of planning
conditions. Officers consider that the requirements of the NPPF and TBP Nat 1 are complied
with and therefore in terms of ecological issues the scheme is satisfactory.

Heritage assets

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

Section 16 (2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires
special regard to be had to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest it possesses. As such when determining
planning applications this authority has a duty under sections 16(2), 66(1) & 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area and listed
buildings and their settings.

Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out the importance of protecting
and enhancing the historic environment and conserving heritage assets in a manner
appropriate to their significance. Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that:

In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe
the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their
setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets importance and no more
than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance.

In particular, paragraph 197 states that in determining planning applications, local authorities
should take account of 'the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation'.
Paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.

Paragraph 200 of the NPPF states that: Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.

Policy HER1 of the adopted Local Plan states that: Proposals for development in or within the
setting of a conservation area will need to have particular regard to the potential impact on its
character and setting. New development will be expected to preserve or enhance the
character and appearance of conservation areas through high quality design and use of
appropriate materials. Proposals will be required to demonstrate a thorough understanding of
the significance, character and setting of conservation areas and how this has informed
proposals, to achieve high quality new design which is respectful of historic interest and local
character. Policy HER2 of the adopted Local Plan states that: Alterations, extensions, or
changes of use to Listed Buildings, or development within their setting, will be expected to
have no adverse impact on those elements which contribute to their special architectural or
historic interest, including their settings. Policy RES7 of the adopted Borough Plan states

75



8.74

8.75

8.76

8.77

8.78

that:

The re-use and conversion of redundant buildings in the rural areas (the areas located
outside of defined settlement boundaries) for residential use will be permitted provided that:

1.The building is of a substantial construction, is structurally sound and is capable of
conversion without the need for significant new building works and/or extension.

2.Where the proposal involves a traditional building, any new works are of a scale, form, type
and materials sympathetic to the character and appearance of the original building;

3.The proposal does not result in the requirement for another building to fulfil the function of
the original building to be converted.

4.The proposal preserves or enhances the landscape setting of the site and respects the
rural character of the area

Policy HER2 of the Borough Plan requires that development which comprises the change of
use of listed Buildings or development within their settings will be expected to have no
adverse impacts on the elements which contribute to their special architectural or historic
interest including their settings. The materials to used on building works should normally be
undertaken using traditional materials and building techniques.

Policy HER3 of the Borough Plan requires that proposals which affect historic parks and
gardens will not adversely affect their character.

The Winchcombe and Sudeley Neighbourhood plan at Policy 1.1requires that development
should respect local character. Policy 5.1 echoes Policy 1.1 requiring new development to
reflect the character of its surroundings in terms of form, massing, and materials. Policy 5.3
requires development to conserve the Conservation area. Finally, Policy 5.5 requires
extensions and alterations to existing buildings to utilise complementary materials.

The scheme as submitted includes the already approved extension to the farmhouse as
noted above, that planning permission and listed building consent were granted for the
restoration and extension of the farmhouse (refs. 07/01279/FUL & 07/01277/LBC). Extension
of these permissions with some minor amendments was granted in 2011 (refs.
11/00225/FUL & 11/00209). It is understood that footings for these consents were dug, and
that the approved scheme forms part of the current proposals for that building. It is proposed
to retain the existing Almsbury Farmhouse as a discrete residential property. No new internal
works to it would be undertaken, and thus it is not included in the total of 18 new residential
units cited above within the description of development as amended. It is proposed to build
out the new-build extension to the farmhouse granted planning permission and listed building
consent in 2011 (refs. 11/00225/ FUL & 11/00209/LBC), rather than forming part of the
farmhouse dwelling this would become a new discrete residential property. The three existing
ground-floor openings in the eastern side of the farmhouse (two windows and a door), which
under the previously permitted scheme were to have been altered to allow passage between
the farmhouse and the extension, would be closed-up to affect the separation.

76



8.79

8.80

8.81

8.82

Almsbury Farm buildings

The farm buildings of Almsbury Farm were listed in 1960; the list description was amended in
1984 (Grade ll, list entry no. 1304848). The farm complex lies just to the east of Vineyard
Street, between the Isbourne and Vineyard Bridge to the north and the parkland of the
Sudeley estate to the south. To the east is an open field sloping down to the Beesmoor
Brook. The barn at Almsbury dates from the 18th century or earlier. Most of the other
buildings now present date from the 19th century

Granary and adjacent shelter shed.

Under the scheme permitted in 2011 (refs. 11/00225/FUL & 11/00209), the granary building
to the south east of the farmhouse (converted to holiday-let accommodation under ref.
97/01084/LBC) was to have been combined with the northern end of the shelter shed to its
south — north of a new east-west passageway through the latter — to form a further extension
to the farmhouse, connected via a new doorway into the new-build element. Under the
current Application scheme, the granary and the northern end of the shelter shed would
become a further discrete residential property. With the exception of the omission of the new
doorway in the northern side of the granary, the works here would be essentially as per those
permitted in 201.

New internal walls would be constructed to form the new passageway through the shelter
shed and to affect the separation of the shelter shed into two parts. New gates would be fitted
to the opening at the western end of the passageway. Most of the western pitch of the roof
over the shelter shed is covered with stone slates, although there is a small section at its
southern end with a modern profiled metal covering. The whole of the eastern pitch is of
profiled metal, and the whole length of the ridge is finished with sheet metal. Under the
current Application scheme, it is proposed to replace the profiled metal with stone slates, and
to replace the sheet metal ridge with appropriate ridge tiles. Much of the western side of the
shelter shed is currently clad in timber weatherboarding. This would be removed, and new
bronze-framed windows glazing would be set behind the restored timber posts, in places
supplemented with hit-and-miss hardwood panels.

The works proposed to create the residential unit to the north would involve:

e an overhaul of the roof and walls of the granary;
brickwork repairs to the northern end of the adjacent shelter shed;

e the creation of two new doorways in the existing wall between the granary and the
shelter shed, one to affect the main connection between the two parts, and the other
accessing a WC,;

e the removal of the existing timber partition forming the southern side of the existing
log store;

o the opening-up of the existing window opening in the brick part of the western
elevation of the shelter shed,;

¢ the closing-up of the existing window opening in the eastern elevation of the shelter
shed, and the insertion here of a new appropriately detailed timber door and window;

o the relocation westward of the internal doorway in the existing east-west internal wall
that forms the southern end of the brick-built part of the shelter shed;

¢ the restoration of the simple timber post columns along the western side of the shelter
shed; and

o the insertion of new bronze-framed windows set behind the timber posts.

77



8.83

8.84

8.85

8.86

Under the current Application scheme, the southern end of the shelter shed — to the south of
the new east-west passageway — would be converted into a single self-contained commercial
unit. The works proposed to create this commercial unit would involve:

o the restoration of the simple timber post columns along the western side of the shelter
shed,

e the insertion of large bronze-framed windows set behind the timber posts,
complemented by hit-and-miss hardwood panels.

¢ the reinstatement of a dilapidated section of masonry wall to the east;

e the removal of an existing east-west timber partition towards the southern end of the
shed; and

e some subdivision of the southern end of the shed to form an entrance lobby, two
WCs, a ‘brew station’ and an IT cupboard.

Yard to the east

To the east of the shelter shed as described above there is a short projection. This historically
extended further to the east to join up with what is now a detached and very dilapidated
shelter shed. Under the current Application scheme, it is proposed to preserve or re-use the
historic fabric of these two elements where possible, to re-instate the footprint of the lost
connection between them, and to extend the footprint of slightly to the south. The resulting
L-shaped range would become two discrete single-storey residential units. The courtyard
enclosed by the L-shaped range and the southern end of the previously described shelter
shed would be closed off to the south by a new range with a vehicular opening through it. To
the east of the opening, this range would accommodate part of one of the residential units,
whilst to the west it would accommodate part of the commercial unit to be formed through the
development of a new L-shaped range reinstating the footprint of a lost building.

All the buildings would be faced with rubble stone with simple dressed surrounds to correctly
detailed timber windows and doors and roofed with stone slates. The proposal incorporates
the reinstatement of the ‘lost building described above. The material from the surviving gable
end to the north, and the surviving parts of the external walls to the south and east of the lost
building are proposed to be preserved or re-used where possible, and the new construction
would be faced with rubble stone with simple dressed surrounds to correctly detailed timber
windows and doors. The range would be roofed with stone slates.

The Tithe Barn

The current proposal seeks to divide the most dominant building on the entire site, the tithe
barn into two separate business units. This building in the early part of the 21 Century
suffered a fire and destroyed much of its roof. In 2005, following the fire, listed building
consent was granted for the replacement of most of the roof structure (and the adjacent parts
of the buildings fronting Vineyard street, together with the insertion of a replacement timber
staircase and some internal partitions and work benches (ref. 04/01674/LBC). The latter
elements were not implemented. Part of a potentially 18th century queen-post truss survives
over the north porch, and there are some old timbers in the hipped northern end of the porch.

78



8.87

8.88

8.89

The present roof covering over the entire barn post-dates the fire and sits over a modern
membrane, although the stone slates may have been reclaimed from elsewhere. Inspection
of the barn’s fabric indicates several blocked openings. In the eastern half of the barn, there
are at least four blocked ventilation ‘slits’ (two each to the north and south); these narrow
vertical openings were intended to prevent rain penetration and were splayed on the inside to
allow greater air flow and natural internal lighting. There is evidence of a further two blocked
‘window’ openings in the eastern gable end. At the eastern end of the southern elevation
there is a planked door (boarded-up externally), but there was evidently a much larger
opening here at one time. Similarly, there is a boarded-up doorway in the eastern side of the
south porch; there was evidently also a wider opening here historically. It is unclear when all
these openings were infilled. There are surviving openings, one to the north and one to the
south (now boarded-up), to the west of the central crossing. In the western gable end, there
are two segmental arches with voussoirs and key, backed with brickwork. The central pier
between these two openings looks to have been replaced since 1972, perhaps following the
fire.

A new partition is proposed to be inserted at first-floor level (atop the existing masonry wall
here) to affect the subdivision into two separate units. In respect of the commercial unit to the
west, these works would involve:

¢ the insertion of a new bronze-framed glazed screen with door behind the existing
openings to the west;

e the direct glazing of the 4-light cusped 15th century window in the western gable;

¢ the insertion of conservation rooflights;

¢ the insertion of a galleried mezzanine level, accessed via a new stair with half landing;
and - the subdivision of the ground floor beneath the mezzanine to form an entrance
lobby, office space, two WCs, a brew station and an IT cupboard.

In respect of the commercial unit to the east, the works would involve:

¢ the insertion of new glazed screens with doors into the porch openings to the north
and south;

¢ the re-opening and glazing of an existing blocked window to the south;

¢ the pinning back of an existing door to the south (west of the porch), and the insertion
into its opening of a glazed screen;

e the repair, or replacement to match, of an existing door to the south (east of the
porch);
the insertion of a glazed screen into an existing door to the north (west of the porch);

e the re-opening and direct glazing of the existing ventilation slots to the north (east of
the porch);

¢ the insertion of conservation rooflights;

e the insertion of a galleried mezzanine level at the eastern end of the space, accessed
via a new stair with balconied half landing (as well as a fire-escape stair); and

e the subdivision of the space beneath the mezzanine to form an entrance lobby, two
WCs, a ‘brew station’ and an IT cupboard.

79



8.90

8.91

8.92

8.93

8.94

Cow shed/stable range

The cow shed/stable range that extends northwards from the western end of the barn is
proposed to be converted into commercial units. The works here involves:

e the repair, or replacement to match, of an existing west-facing window;

e the re-opening, repair, or replacement to match, of all the existing east-facing doors
and windows;

¢ the removal of the existing subdivision, first-floor, stair, stalls and troughs; and

o the subdivision of the space to form two office spaces, two WCs, a ‘brew station’ and
two IT cupboards.

Cart shed range

The existing range that extends southwards from the western end of the barn would be
extended and converted into commercial units. The present breeze-block structure at the
southern end of the range (with a shallow mono-pitch roof of profiled metal) would be
removed and replaced with a natural stone-faced structure with an east-west aligned stone
slated pitched roof. This element’s western side would be set back from the western
elevation of the main part of the range, but it would project further eastward, suggesting
containment of the southern yard formed by the Tithe barn, the reinstated lost building and
the cart shed range. The detailed proposals for this area will comprise:

e the repair, or replacement to match, of an existing east-facing window;

e the insertion of bronze-framed glazing with a door to enclose the east-facing open
bays; and

¢ the subdivision of the southern end of the space to form an entrance lobby, two WCs,
a ‘brew station’ and an IT cupboard.

South of the main farm complex

The existing contemporary, vacant and visually unremarkable agricultural buildings are
proposed to be demolished and the site developed with an extended range of U shaped
buildings comprising 10 new terraced ‘alms house type design dwellings’. The new range —
faced with natural stone and with stone-slated pitched roofs — would adopt a Cotswold
vernacular style, with gabled porches, projecting bays, gables, and chimneystacks. The
fronts of the four houses making up the U’s southern side would be orientated to the north,
whilst the fronts of the houses forming the U’s eastern and western sides (three to each side)
would be outward facing. The architectural style of these terraced dwellings is consistent with
‘alms house’ designs elsewhere in the settlement.

To the east of the terraced units the submitted scheme proposes 5 new build dwellings within
the curtilage of the listed buildings present on the site. The architectural form of these
dwellings has undergone significant changes following discussions with officers. The form of
the dwellings now mirrors the form and massing of single storey agricultural buildings.

English Heritage were consulted on the Planning Application as first received and did not
oppose the principle of re-use and converting the existing historic rural buildings on the site
The site-specific concerns of that body have been taken into account during detailed
negotiations with the Conservation Officer and the applicant and have resulted in a very
revised scheme as set out in this report which the Conservation Officer supports. It is
noteworthy that the previous application for the redevelopment of this farm building complex
was objected to by Historic England. Following the submission of the revised scheme which

80



8.95

8.96

8.97

8.98

8.99

has produced agricultural style new dwellings at the southern end of the site Historic England
have expressed concern whilst noting that the revisions to the landscape have reduced the

harm as previously identified to the registered park and garden (RPG), however, HE remain
concerned that the new housing remains harmful to the setting of the RPG. Following these
concerns, the Council’s Conservation Officer considered the HE’s submission noting that:

The proposed terrace is arranged in a ‘C’ shaped footprint creating a quadrangle. The scale
and design of the buildings is based on cottages and alms-houses nearby. In my assessment
I have considered that this part of the site is largely screened by mature trees and contains a
collection of derelict modern agricultural sheds which are visually detrimental. It is not
unusual for Cotswold estate farmsteads to include some workers cottages. | considered that
albeit this development is for ten units most of the cottages would be screened from general
view and those that were glimpsed from vineyard street would not appear numerous or
disproportionate in character. As such, in this context | have considered the proposal to be
acceptable.

The impact on the RPG is considered in detail in a following section.
Impact on listed buildings

As stated above the works to the existing farmhouse are minimal and it remains as per the
planning history as a dwelling. Officers consider that the proposals to the listed agricultural
buildings are also acceptable in terms of the specific heritage policies set out above. That
view is supported by the Town Council, the Conservation Officer and HE who have all raised
no objections to the proposals to convert the existing Listed Buildings on the application site.

Impact on Conservation Area

The application site lies within the Wincombe Conservation area and policy 5.3 of the
neighbourhood plan seeks to conserve that area, in particular identify, heritage assets. The
Conservation officer’s consideration of the submitted proposals coupled with the views of the
Town Council are that the proposals as submitted are acceptable in terms of impact on the
Conservation area. A conclusion that Officer’'s agree with and conclude that the proposals in
terms of compliance with heritage and allied policies are complied with.

Impact on Sudeley Castle Registered Historic Park and Garden (RPG)

The application site comprises a small area of land within the RPG proposed to be
undeveloped by the application at the extreme Southern end of the application site. Policy
HER3 of the TBP seeks to protect the existing character of the Historic Park and Garden
(RPG)of Sudeley Castle. The Council’'s Conservation Officer raises no objections to the
proposal’s impact on the ‘listed’ RPG and the recently submitted landscape plan in July which
reinforces the area of the site within the RPG by a significant degree by new native tree
planting to re-enforce the boundary to the RPG.

The recent and subsequent concerns raised by HE to the revised landscape provisions, in
summary objecting to the new housing, as that development in and of itself fails to provide a
positive transition between the abrupt edge of Winchcombe and the RPG, as set out above,
have been considered by the Conservation Officer, as also set out above. The new
development replaces in part some contemporary agricultural building of no particular merit.
The revised landscape plan responds to the Tree officer and landscape assessment of the
site and as a result Officers consider the impact on the RPG does not significantly materially
harm the setting of the RPG in the area, and is compliant with Policy in particular HER3 of the

81



8.100

8.101

8.102

8.103

8.104

TBP and Policy 2.1 of the neighbourhood plan which envisages the redevelopment of the site
as a whole for expanded business uses and by reference to the footnote 2’ if not developed
as part of a wider housing and care home development’, by inference implying acceptance of
housing proposals.

Given the above, Officers have considered the consultation responses on heritage impact
and the submitted representations of the applicants and conclude that the proposal, subject
to compliance with conditions would conserve the historic significance of nearby heritage
assets and the proposal would comply with the relative Heritage Policies as detailed above.

Section 106 obligations

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise funds
from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst the Council does
have a CIL in place, infrastructure requirements specifically related to the impact of the
development will continue to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement. The CIL
regulations stipulate that, where planning obligations do not meet the tests, it is ‘unlawful’ for
those obligations to be taken into account when determining an application.

These tests are as follows:

e necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.
e directly related to the development; and
o fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development.

JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any infrastructure
requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or having regard to the
cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate and appropriate on/off-site
infrastructure and services. The Local Planning Authority will seek to secure appropriate
infrastructure, which is necessary, directly related, and fairly and reasonably related to the
scale and kind of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of the JCS requires appropriate
social and community infrastructure to be delivered where development creates a need for it.
JCS Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct implementation or financial contributions
towards the provision of infrastructure and services should be negotiated with developers
before the grant of planning permission. Financial contributions will be sought through S106
and CIL mechanisms as appropriate.

Requests have been made by consultees to secure the following contributions via S106
obligations:

Offsite contribution for provision of affordable housing of £99,000
Waste receptacle £73 per dwelling

Education obligation for secondary education £62,377.

Funding for TRO £15,000

Conclusion & Planning Balance

9.1

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be had
to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70(2) of
the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the
development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

82



9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

The application site lies outside of the settlement boundary for Winchcombe, as defined
within Proposal Map of the Winchcombe and Sudeley NDP and is not allocated for housing
development and there are no policies in the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2031 which
allow for the type of development proposed. However, the site is identified for mixed use
(including housing) within the Winchcombe and Sudeley NDP.

The Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing land,
the Council's policies for the supply of housing are out of date. In accordance with Paragraph
11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development indicates that
permission should be granted unless policies for protecting areas of assets of particular
importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed, or
any adverse impacts of permitting the development would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.

As detailed throughout the analysis section of the report, there would be no clear reasons for
refusal arising from NPPF policies for the protection of areas or assets of particular
importance in this case and therefore, it is clear that the decision-making process for the
determination of this application is to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting
planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

Benefits

The scheme as proposed will produce first and foremaost an acceptable regeneration of a
range of buildings of recognised and protected significance with a viable mixed-use scheme.
In addition, the scheme will produce a betterment to visual amenity within the Conservation
Area by reason of the removal of modern and visually unattractive modern farm buildings.
The effect of the scheme will be to increase the availability of appropriate employment space
in Winchcombe a matter encouraged by Policy 2.1 of the neighbourhood plan.

The scale of development, its proximity to the existing built-up area, its relationship with the
village and its proximity to a rural service centre is a benefit that would attract fair weight in
favour of granting permission in light of the Council's housing land supply position.
Furthermore, the development would replace substantial agricultural buildings and
associated yard area which are in a poor state.

In economic and social terms, a number of benefits would flow from this development if
permitted, including during the construction process. There would also be economic and
social benefits arising from spend from future residents which would help sustain the local
facilities in nearby settlements and this is considered a moderate benefit.

In environmental terms the redevelopment of the site would allow the opportunity for
significant new planting and biodiversity net gain which would be a significant benefit.

Harms
Harm arises from the conflict with development plan policies and the spatial strategy relating
to housing, particularly Policy SD10 of the JCS and Policies RES1 and RES2 of the TBP,

although it is accepted that the Council's housing policies must now be considered in light of
the tilted balance.

83



9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

10.

The use of undeveloped land within part of the application’s area for new residential
development will by reason of being located partially on previously undeveloped land have by
definition a negative effect. Officers judge this effect as a low level of harm by reason that the
effect of the scheme is not, after relevant consideration be other than a marginal extension to
the settlement area of Winchcombe and views into the site from the AONB are acceptable.

The re-development of the site will produce an increase of traffic; however the level of
parking provision is acceptable and the increase in traffic emanating from the site is at worst
marginal compared to the existing and previous uses of the site for agriculture purposes, and
most recently commercial and residential use.

Neutral

The effect of the development on ecology, residential amenity, drainage and flooding, design
and layout, and environmental health are considered by officers to have a neutral and
acceptable impact.

Conclusion

There would be some harm arising from the development, namely harm arising from conflict
with development plan policies and the spatial strategy relating to housing. Harm would also
arise from the increase in traffic movements, however, this harm would be tempered as a
result of the propose TRO.

Significant weight should be given to the provision of housing and this benefit would attract
weight in favour of granting permission in light of the Council's housing land supply position
along with economic and environmental benefits of the scheme. There is also weight in
favour of the economic benefits and employment potentials that the development would
provide.

Taking account of all the material considerations and the weight to be attributed to each one,
it is considered that the identified harms would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits in the overall planning balance.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

It is considered that the proposed development would constitute sustainable development in
the context of the NPPF as a whole and it is therefore recommended that authority be
DELEGATED to the Development Management Manager to PERMIT the application,
subject to any additional/amended planning conditions and the completion of Section
106 legal agreement to secure the heads of terms listed within this report (subject to
any amendments arising from ongoing discussions).

Conditions

The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date
of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

84



2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
documents:

Site location plan (Drawing no. 2498-001 Rev A)

Topographical Survey (Drawing no. 37674/1)

Proposed site plan (Drawing no. 2498-100 Rev P11)

Farmhouse Elevations 2 (Drawing no. 2498-106 Rev B)

Farmhouse Elevations (Drawing no. 2498-105 Rev B)

Farmhouse First and Second Floor Plan (Drawing No. 2498-102 Rev A)
Farmhouse Ground Floor Plan (Drawing no. 2498-101 Rev B)

Farmhouse Roof Plan (Drawing no. 2498-103 Rev A)

Barn existing GF plan, elevations & sections (Drawing no. 2498-019 Rev A)
Barn Proposed GF, Elevations & Sections (Drawing no. 2498-119 Rev P1)
Barn Ground Floor (Drawing no. 2498-110 Rev B)

Barn Elevations 1 (Drawing no. 2498-115 Rev A)

Barn Elevations 2 (Drawing no. 2498-116 Rev A)

Barn Elevations 3 (Drawing no. 2498-117 Rev A)

Barn Elevations 4 (Drawing no. 2498-118 Rev A)

Terraced Home Ground Floor Plan (Drawing no. 2498-120 Rev A)
Terraced Home Elevations 2 (Drawing no. 2498-126 Rev A)

Terraced Home First Floor Plan (Drawing no. 2498-121 Rev A)

Terraced Home Roof Plan (Drawing No. 2498-11 Rev A)

Terraced Home Elevations 1 (Drawing no. 2498-125 Rev A)

New single storey barn roof plan (Drawing no. 2498-151 Rev A)

New single storey barn elevations (Drawing no. 2498-152 Rev A)

New single storey barn GF and FF Plans (Drawing no. 2498-150 Rev A)
Landscape Strategy (Drawing no. 20253.103 Rev C)

Technical Note by Rappor dated March 2023 Redevelopment of Almsbury Farm
Barns, Vineyard Street, Winchcombe.

Except where these may be maodified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved

plans.

3 Prior to development above DPC level a sample panel of stonework (1m x1m) shall be
constructed on site showing jointing, corners and pointing finishes for all buildings. The
sample panel shall be agreed by the Planning authority and remain on site until all
construction is completed. The development as approved by this approval shall be
constructed in accordance with the approved panel.

Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area.

4

Prior to installation, a schedule of details of roof materials, fences, gates and rainwater goods
are to be submitted and agreed. The development shall be constructed in accordance with
the approved materials.

Reason: to ensure that the development respects the character of this site and area within

the Conservation Area and safeguard the character and appearance of these buildings of
special architectural or historical interest.

85



Prior to installation of windows and external doors, design and colour details (including
scaled cross sections) are to be submitted to the planning authority and agreed. All window
and door openings to be recessed from the external surface by a minimum of 75mm. The
development shall be constructed in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason: to ensure that the development is constructed in accordance with approved
drawings and respects the character of this site and area within the Conservation Area and
safeguard the character and appearance of these buildings of special architectural or
historical interest

No development shall commence on site until a detailed design, maintenance &
management strategy and timetable of implementation for the surface water drainage
strategy presented in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage Strategy has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The detail must
demonstrate the technical feasibility/viability of the drainage system through the use of SuDS
to manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures taken to manage the
water quality for the life time of the development. The scheme for the surface water drainage
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before the development is first
put in to use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and
thereby preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these details are agreed prior to the
commencement of development as any works on site could have implications for drainage,

flood risk and water quality in the locality.

No development shall be put in to use/occupied until a SUDS management and maintenance
plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by
any public authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime, has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved SUDS maintenance plan shall be
implemented in full in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features serving
the site and avoid flooding.

The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the proposed access gates
have been set back 5 metres from the adjoining carriageway edge and made to open inwards
only.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

No development shall commence on site until a site investigation of the nature and extent of
contamination has been carried out. The site investigation shall be in accordance with a site
investigation methodology that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, prior to the commencement of the investigation. No construction works
shall start until the results of the site investigation have been submitted to, and approved in
writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

If the site investigation identifies any contamination, the report shall specify the measures to
be taken to remediate the site to render it suitable for the development hereby permitted, as
well as an implementation timetable for the remediation. The site shall be remediated in
accordance with the approved measures and timetable. If, during development, any
contamination is found which has not been previously identified, work shall be suspended

86



10

11

12

and additional measures for its remediation, as well as an implementation timetable, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site shall be
remediated in accordance with the additional approved measures and timetable.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property, and

ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

This condition is required as a pre-commencement condition because there is potential for
unknown contamination to exist on the site.

No development shall take place within the application site until the applicant, or their agents
or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of survey work to
record the historic structure of the buildings adversely affected by development, in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: It is important to agree a programme of work in advance of the commencement of
development, so as to make provision for the investigation and recording of historic
structures that may be adversely affected by the scheme. The programme of work will
advance understanding of any heritage assets which will be lost, in accordance with
paragraph 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework. This condition is required as a
pre-commencement condition because there is potential for historic structures to be lost
without appropriate recording.

Prior to commencement of any development within the site a Construction (and demolition)
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include (but is not limited to):

Site access/egress

Staff/contractor facilities and travel arrangements

Dust mitigation

Noise and vibration mitigation (Including whether piling or power floating is required
and please note white noise sounders will be required for plant operating onsite to
minimise noise when in operation/moving/ reversing)

Mitigation of the impacts of lighting proposed for the construction phase

Measures for controlling leaks and spillages, managing silt and pollutants

. Plans for the disposal and recycling of waste

oW

@mm

Development shall take place only in accordance with the approved CEMP.

Reason: To protect existing and proposed properties from the impacts of short term
exposure to noise, vibration, light and dust nuisance

During the construction phase (including demolition and preparatory groundworks), no
machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries shall be taken
at or dispatched from the site outside the following times: Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm,
Saturday 8.00 am-1.00 pm nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

87



13

14

15

16

17

Noise from adjacent commercial elements of the development shall be assessed in
accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019. This shall include business-generated noise,
external plant and delivery noise etc. Additionally, if the development plan includes the
installation of any type of Heat Pumps careful consideration should be given to the acoustic
characteristics and location of the heat pumps. The individual and cumulative noise impact of
any heat pumps should be assessed in accordance with BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 prior to
installation and comply with those standards.

Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

Mitigation and enhancement measures should be undertaken as outlined in the Ecological
Assessment report, with the addition of measures to protect hedgehogs. The type, extent and
location of removed, retained and newly created habitats outlined in the landscaping plans
should be consistent with those set out in the BNG assessment prepared by Ecology
Solutions dated April 2023.

Reason: To protect and enhance the habitat of the site.

A lighting strategy scheme covering both construction and operational phases should be
submitted to the LPA detailing location and specification of the lighting, supported by
contouring plans demonstrating any light spill into adjacent habitats prior to the
commencement of development. This plan should be completed in conjunction with advice
from the project ecologist. The development shall be completed and maintained thereafter in
accordance with the submitted lighting strategy.

Reason: To protect the habitat and amenity of the area.

The non-residential uses herby approved within the site shall comprise only uses within
Class E9(g) and E9(c) of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 as
amended.

Reason: To protect the amenity of residential occupiers of the application site.

No development shall commence until a detailed site waste management plan or equivalent
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The detailed
site waste management plan must identify; the specific types and amount of waste materials
forecast to be generated from the development during site preparation and demolition and
construction phases and set out what site specific measures will be employed for dealing with
this material so as to; - minimise its creation, maximise the amount of re-use and recycling
on-site; maximise the amount of off-site recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site;
and reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill. In addition, the site waste management plan
must also clearly set out the proportion of recycled content from all sources that will be used
in construction materials. The detailed site waste management plan shall be fully
implemented as approved unless the local planning authority gives prior written permission
for any variation.

Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource
efficiency in accordance with adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy Policy SD3 — Sustainable Design and Construction; adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy; Core Policy WCS2 — Waste Reduction; adopted Minerals Local Plan for
Gloucestershire Policy SR01 and Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste.

88



18

12.

No above-ground development shall commence until full details of the provision made for
facilitating the management and recycling of waste generated during occupation have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This must include details
of the appropriate and adequate space and infrastructure to allow for the separate storage of
recyclable waste materials. The management of waste during occupation must be aligned
with the principles of the waste hierarchy and not prejudice the delivery of local waste
management targets. All details shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local
planning authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource
efficiency in accordance with adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy Policy SD3 — Sustainable Design and Construction; adopted Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy; Core Policy WCS2 — Waste Reduction; adopted Minerals Local Plan for
Gloucestershire Policy SR01 and Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste.

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you must
enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the County
Council, which would specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to
be carried out.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation
and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in
undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

Approving the highway details
Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement under
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the
Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be
considered and approved.

You are advised that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is required. You must submit a plan to
scale of an indicative scheme for a TRO, along with timescales for commencement and
completion of the development. Please be aware that the statutory TRO process is not
straightforward, involving advertisement and consultation of the proposal(s).

You should expect a minimum of six months to elapse between the Highway Authority’s TRO
Team confirming that it has all the information necessary to enable it to proceed and the TRO
being advertised. You will not be permitted to implement the TRO measures until the TRO
has been sealed, and we cannot always guarantee the outcome of the process.

89



We cannot begin the TRO process until the appropriate fee has been received. To arrange
for a TRO to be processed contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development
Management Team at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.

The cost of implementing any lining, signing or resurfacing required by the TRO is separate
to the TRO fees, which solely cover the administration required to prepare, consult, amend
and seal the TRO.

If there is a public right of way running through the site, the applicant will be required to
contact the PROW team to arrange for an official diversion, if the applicant cannot guarantee
the safety of the path users during the construction phase then they must apply to the PROW
department on 08000 514514 or highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk to arrange a temporary
closure of the right of way for the duration of any works.

We advise you to seek your own independent legal advice on the use of the public right of
way for vehicular traffic.

The site is traversed by a public right of way and this permission does not authorise additional
use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion.

Access to the site is via a public right of way and the applicant's attention is drawn to the
restrictions imposed by Section 34 of The Road Traffic Act, 1988, regarding the driving of
motor vehicles over public footpaths/bridleways.

The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely to
impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any demolition
required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network Management Team at
Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any work, to
discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such as footway, Public Right
of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking restrictions a minimum of eight weeks
prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared and
a programme of Temporary Traffic Management measures to be agreed.

You are advised that as a result of the proposed layout and construction of the internal
access road, the internal access road will not be accepted for adoption by the Highway
Authority under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980.

The development will be bound by Sections 219 to 225 (the Advance Payments Code) of the
Highways Act 1980, unless and until you agree to exempt the access road.

The exemption from adoption will be held as a Land Charge against all properties within the
application boundary.

Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway
and/or vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway. No drainage or
effluent from the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway drain
or over any part of the public highway.

90


mailto:highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors scheme and
comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is made to “respecting the
community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the public

Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;
Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;
Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the Code.

The CEMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also confirm
how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed Service
Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations under
existing Legislation.

91



v

o 7 100862 | on bumeia

Ueld uojeoo ays | aiL Bumesq

Buljem@ Bunsix3 o) suolppy pue suonesdly | uonduosaq joseloid

76 $S79 *9qI0OUDUIAN ‘IS PIEABUIA ‘esnoyuied AIngswly | sseippy 102foid

w v M woo v lole @ 01888 58210 1
&NZw.33_05.%296._mgmion.wﬂ_e:io.m%.zs<=%=g>

NOIDNVIA

85799
HoS 1 00k 0
e _ ERLTE
umesq S3JON dleq | A%y
Wi onss| Buueld |1zoz/bbizh| v

ealy uoneolddy

U/

NV
O
7

‘azls Jaded plepuejs-uou e

aq Aew pue Inojod ul panss| aq Aew Buimelp syl g

‘sasodind Buiuueld Joy sssjun ‘Ajuo

suoisuawip painBly asn ‘Buimelp Jo ojess Jou og ‘i

QRS

ay) 0} Apoauip papodas aq Jsnw saouedalosiq g

“Siom

1O JUBWIAdUSWWOD 0} Joud SUORIPUOD BYIS 309D '
‘sBuime.p sjuejnsuoo

12430 Yypm uonounfuod ul peas aq oy st Buimelp siyj |

:S9JON [esaudn

puz weag

susenp 9SNOH Y980 8Y L
uelpu|

AN

asnoy
1ealn

1025€0001 AoAIng aoueupIO Lz0z siubu aseqejep pue JybLAdod umol) (9) syusjuod Buiddepy

obpug
prefouin

suepJen
uaunoly

92



td i i i 001-86%2 | on bumeia

Ueig ons posodoig | oL Bumeig

o1 suonppy

415 1919 "aW09U 1S PrekeUIA 'Ssnouue Aindswry | sseippy 1sfoi

[P A

NOONVIA

ELEGL

WD 00s:k
woe (3 oL
uneig
) abenoo par
o -4 sn po
o Danou a10is 9¥ PUE PaND ORI SSEID ]

suopjoweq -

N S
O« ao<Ss

93



$>mwymgym oqmowucm._
9QUWODYIJUIAA .wc._mm wie \C:ch\__< oreos
|

0571 £2-6080
B axg

2

y \\“\\\

ped
0o

Asepunog oeayddy

Bunued qing ewnen pesoodoig

sseib Auawy pesoodosd

i& e o)
Bunued aniug pasoodosd uopeioBon pue seai Bunsha

43 0) UMOJ BqUIOIYIUIM WOy S
o0pped Suiuiofpe uiym Supue)




oy

G0L-86Y2 | on Bumeia

1 suonenar3 esnoyuse | oL Bumeiq

18 9419 "BAUOOUOI 1S PIRASUIA 'BSNOUIES AINaswly | SSaIppY 13fosd

DOUZ<_>

ceELL
Jaqun feuss VO
vl o
WY@ 00k: L

i 0 oos
uneig saon aea [ ney
Wt anss! Buuelg v
o Sumep ma o1 pesejep - Ieiop o ferowsy | ez0z/vore0| @

(poureisun) eo 10 wnny Supts  si000
wnuy o} J00y el

uiz

pajued Yea -

sliem
Jawioq Bunosfoig
100y

wieled edhL uojeniesuoy  BIRoOY
Bunsixg se paioisay  SMOpUIM Jowioq
si00q
'SMOPUIM
5p00S Jajemuey
siiem
Jooy

9215 Joded pJepuejs-uou
& 5q Aew pue 4N0j0d Ul panss aq Aew BuIMeIp SIL °G
‘sesodind Buuue(d Joj ssajun
U0 SuoisuBLUIP painBly asn ‘BUIMEID 4O B23S 10U 0Q
a1y Uy 0} ARoaip papioda aq Jsnw senuedainsiq '€
SHOM JO JUBLIBOUBWILIOD 0} JOLd SUORIPUOD BIS 30BYD) 2
“sBumesp Sjuelnsuod
J8UIO Y UOROUN[UOD Ui PEai 8q O} S BUIMEIP SIUL *|
:SIJON [eJsusD

NOILLYAT 13 (HLNOS) LNO¥A

NOILVAT 13 (HLYON) ¥v3y

TSRS

padeidas jo paiteda sopu Bxo

A

paoeidas 1o pauteda Adoueo Bixe

NOLLYAZ13 (LSVY3) 3aIs




oy

901-867Z | onsunei0

2 suonersi osnouusie | oy Bumeig

o) suonpy

18 9419 "BAUOOUOI 1S PIRASUIA 'BSNOUIES AINaswly | SSaIppY 13fosd

e oA BenDoRER 05157 5210 |
o a3 19015 940 ¢ 9500H 94Q SPUIEI PG

DOUZ<_>

SheLL
Jaqun feuss VO
vl o
WY@ 00k: L
i 0 oos
uneig saon aea [ ney
o Bumesp Mau o) pasajap - panowa: 1219Q | £202/%0/80| @

4 - (WNIYLY HONOYHL) NOILO3S 3als V- NOILVAZ T3 (LS3IM) 3aIS

308V 33S NOILVAIT3 4O NOILVNNILNOD 04

WY T

il 0 R e )
5. 1IVI3A INFWIOVTdIY ¥O4=—
6LL-6VZ ONIMVAA MIN OL 334 -

— ix)»l

PU panouwas mopu Bixa

Jeuibuo urew
o1 pavadoss mopupn Bixa

NOLLYAZ 13 (LS3M) 3aIS

uoas0s poze(f mou 100p B pue UasI0S PoZel Mou *puq Bixe.

| P ——

.__<._.m_n_ ._.Zm__>_m_u<._n_m~_ mOu_ E \.A

il I ‘

— m._“_‘ wmww ONIMVIa >>mZ oL zm_u_mm.

(POURISUN) YEO  SULINOD/SUOIYOUEIS
Iyeues 10 ouiz
wirieg A1 uonEnasU00

SMOpUI Jauwog
sioog

SMOpUIM
P09 Jajemutey

sliem

Ip peLodas oq 1w seipuedaisiq ¢

SHOM JO JUBLIBOUBWILIOD 0} JOLd SUORIPUOD BIS 30BYD) 2
“sBumesp sjueynsuco

J8UIO Y UOROUN[UOD Ui PEai 8q O} S BUIMEIP SIUL *|

:SIJON [eJsusD

96



v [ ] 201-86+2 | on tumein

UBiq 10014 puoooss pUS 4 OSnOULIE | oL BUEIY

15 4570 ‘SqUOXSUM 1S PIRASUI ‘ssnouuse Knqsury | sseippy Pakid

UDTToBU A WO IOBRADRIORER O 0519 SGI0 |

NODNVIA

7

N

3

0715 oded piepuers-uou

£ 6q ABw puE IN0J0d | panss| oq Aew BuIMEIp SIUL S

“sesodind Bujuued 10; sseun

“Au0 SuoISUBLIP PaINByy asn “Buimeip 4o S[edS 10U 0Q b

198494 8L 0} AljoeuIp paniodes oq isnw sepuBdeI0SI] “E

410 J0 JUBLIBIUBLILLIOD O} 10Ld SUOPUCD BYS %0BUD 'Z
“sBumelp sjuelnsuoo

18410 UM UONOUN[UCD U PEs) 8 0} | Bumelp SIUL |

:se)ON [eJoUSD

IN3IW3sve

S o e b
r |

¥OO014 ANOO3S

¥OOT4 LsHid

97



oy

101-86Z | on sumei

Ueig 001 punosg ssnoyue | opuL Bumeiq

o1 suonppy p i

41 1919 "auOAU 1S PIEAeUIA 'BsnouE Kindswiy | SseippY 1eloid

geeLL
Jaqun feuss VO

vl o

WY@ 00k: L

us 0 opos
e saion aeq oy
ot anss) bueld | 120 v
o BUMEIp Mo 01 Pasajop - PaNOWRS 1190 | E20Z/VOKE0| 8

wooy bumis

wooy Buuig e

| wooupog

21s Jaded piepuejs-uou
& q Aew pue nojoo Ul panss| aq Aew Bumelp SIUL '
sesodind Buiuueld Joj ssejun
AU suoIsuBLUIP paInBly asn ‘BuIMEIP 4O B[edS 10U 00 b
J08)Yo1y 3U} 0} Ajoaup papiodal aq jsnw sauedaiosiq ‘g
HOM JO JUBLUBOUBLUWIOD 0} Joud SUORIPUOD B)IS 08U 'Z
“sBuimelp sjuejnsuoo
48UI0 ypm uonounfuod ul peal aq o} st Bumelp siyy L

:SIJON [eJsusD

98



v "oy 610-86%2 | o Bumeig
500005 pue suoNeAd(3 ‘ueid 49 Burstx3 wed | opu Bumei
- V-V NOILD3S
415 457 ‘0auOOUOUN IS PIEAoUIA asnouuse Kinasury | ssaippy 10fosd
oot wcsrobuekBenencue o 0LaRR S0 |
aa NV1d 3400174 ANNOYO
r®
eeeLt
Jaqun feuss VO
s o
W@ 00k: L
uig o opos I S | S EEE S
e saon aeq oy
o wasuos Bupuuerd 1, penss | 6202120116 | V.
8-9 NOILD3S NiZai
NOILVAIT3 HLNOS
1215p MaU 0 1313 9
NOILVAITI HLYON
100K PayoNd
1e15p mou Jo o)
punOI pu siem Busxa I
e
s
ke
=
21s Jaded piepuejs-uou
& q Aew pue nojoo Ul panss| aq Aew Bumelp SIUL '
sesodind Buiuueld Joj ssejun
AU suoIsuBLUIP paInBly asn ‘BuIMEIP 4O B[edS 10U 00 b
“yoeNyaIy 8y} 0} Aoaup papiodas o 1snw serouedeinsia e
“}I0M 40 JUBLIBIUBWILIOD O} J0Ud SUORIPUCD BYS %9BUD 'Z
“SBumep sueynsuoo
JBUI0 YyM UOROUN[UCD Ul Peal aq 0} I Buimesp siyL ‘|
S3JON [elausn




o =] svvaere e

oo o Tt DanRSREIS © 051659 S0 |
[T S

MOODNVIA

2bELL
JoquInN €8S VO
us1 0
W@ 00k: L
g ° s
e Seron awa rey
o wauiwoo 1o, panssi | £202/70/£0 | 1

Jooy pauold
asnai 1o} ouqe) pebenles

9uqed pesodoid

e Bunsia I

A3

Per

o215 Joded piepuels-uou
& 5q Aew pue 4N0j0d Ul panss aq Aew BuIMeIp SIL °G
‘sesodind Buuue(d Joj ssajun
U0 SuoisuBLUIP painBly asn ‘BUIMEID 4O B23S 10U 0Q
“1oaIY U} 0} ARoBIp papoda) o snw seloUEdeIOSIq ‘€
SHOM JO JUBLIBOUBWILIOD 0} JOLd SUORIPUOD BIS 30BYD) 2
“sBumesp Sjuelnsuod
J8UIO UM UORIUNUOD Ul PEB1 8] O} SI BUIMEIP SIUL |
:SIJON [eJsusD

sassni Bunsixa mojaq

Wwooipeay aseainu; o} [rs] Jamo] 18

qels Joojy paie|nsu mau [lelsul

Ajleusorur washs Bupuey
+ 8100 21015U0D PadIOJuUI] €

V-V NOILD3S

g Ajjeuseie suols pabenjes
Buisnai ‘jjem paje[nsul Mo Yt
Jiem Buureras pajie} pinas

wioy jeuBuio sy ut
patersuias pue paseda oq
01 aimpnsts Joos Bunsie

sassni Busixe mojaq

wooipesy sseainu 01 [2As| 13MO] 1

qels oo} paje|nsul MU elsul

9-9 NOILD3S

O

R

100p/MOpUIM 120 Mo
pue sjjem papIeoq eo Ajjednsen
‘sau03s sjppels Uo sisod eo meu

PuI2q 395 S100p
Buipijs paze|6 yum sauols
a|ppe3s pue s150d yeo mau

s3u01s sippels
pue s1s0d e mau

NV1d §O0 014 ANNOYDO

Jlem
ouq ppingas

NHAHS

Sa]1 91e[S QUOIS PaIMSUODD Y
400131 pue 21N J0OI Paiedal BjelsuUIRs ‘jem
Buluieles pajie) plinGas pue J0oj; Pale|nsul mau
||e3sur YuawaEISUIS Jane| 10f pastedas 5G 0}
anponis Joo) Butsixe spuewsip Ajinjse>

s100p Buipis paze(6 mau

s100p Buy

59126 20 mou

Jre30p Bujuueld euonipp

s pozelf mau

spuq Bunsia

100p ye0
Y Aemioop sjeai o}
Buiuado Bupsixe aBiejus

NOILVYA3IT3 HLNOS

Buiuado mau

e Buiuieiss pajiey pinges

20p Bujuue|d [euor

jem Buuiesas pa)

4 plings

NOILVYA3IT3 HLYON

OpuIM MaU]

Ajleuserxe aucts paBenjes
Buisnai ‘|jem pale|nsul mau [m
m Buiuiela pajiey pjinga:

100



oy

0L1-86¥2 | on sumei

Uelg 10014 punoi9 ieg | e Bumeiq

18 9419 "BAUOOUOI 1S PIRASUIA 'BSNOUIES AINaswly | SSaIppY 13fosd

abeLL

Jaqun feuss VO
vl o
WY@ 00k: L

fin 0 opos
uweq sa10N sieq | noy
o ansst buelg v
o BUMEIp Mo 01 Pasajop - PaNOWRS 1190 | E20Z/VOKE0| 8

9215 Joded pJepuejs-uou
& 5q Aew pue 4N0j0d Ul panss aq Aew BuIMeIp SIL °G
‘sesodind Buuue(d Joj ssajun
U0 SuoisuBLUIP painBly asn ‘BUIMEID 4O B23S 10U 0Q
a1y Uy 0} ARoaip papioda aq Jsnw senuedainsiq '€
SHOM JO JUBLIBOUBWILIOD 0} JOLd SUORIPUOD BIS 30BYD) 2
“sBumesp Sjuelnsuod
J8UIO UM UORIUNUOD Ul PEB1 8] O} SI BUIMEIP SIUL |
:SIJON [eJsusD

8
=
O Y
o
s =
o,

|

7

A7,

101



v

oy

SLL-86VZ | oNbumeia

 suonenai3 wieg | apuL Bumeiq

Bulomq BulsIX3 o} SUONPPY U SUOREISIY | UONdUosaq 13losd

15 ¥719 ‘9qUIOULINN IS PIERSUIA ‘8Sn0WIE Aingsuiy | sseippy 108l0s

o noBRmNN K e neBRBANDONER 5 051038 SA2L0 |

e s g
Th199
1oquInN 1298 VO
usk []
WD 0ok: L

& o opos
e Saion eq | rou
o anssi buueld | 1202y | v

(pouiEISUN) YEO  SUWNIOD/SUOIYOUEIS
(paureisun) e 10 wnuiwnly Buipys  s100Q
PaYUIEd IEQ - UOIBS WIS WNIUWINY
POOMPIEH PAUSIQINJoY PRIOISRY  SMOPUIA
paluIed Yieq - UOJ| 1SED  SPO0D Jolemuiey
U0l BIGaMY POSINOD [EIMEN  SIIEM.
Sjels BUOJS [eANlEN  Jooy

o215 Joded piepueis-uou

& 5 Aew pue In0jod il panssi aq Aew BuMEID SIL '

‘sesodind Buiuueld ioj ssajun

*A|u0 SuOISUBLLIP painBly 3N ‘BUIMEID 1O 23S 10U 0Q

P3UGIY 8U) 0} ANo2.1p paodal aq jsnw saiouedaiosiq ¢

HI0M JO JUBLIZOUSWIOD O} JOUd SUOIPUOD BYIS 03D “Z
‘SBUIMEIp SIue|nsud

J8UI0 UM UOOUN[UOD Ul PEaJ 3G O} S| BUIMEIP SIL *|

:S9JON [eIoURD

¢ NOILVAZ3

102

I NOILVAT3



v =] T

2 suonenai3 wieg | enu umeig

sy | uonduosaq wslosd

15 ¥719 ‘9qUIOULINN IS PIERSUIA ‘8Sn0WIE Aingsuiy | sseippy 108l0s

e noBumtmNn K  weneBeBanDORER 5 051030
ars ka e

NOINVIA

2199
usk 0
WD 0ok: L
fin [ opos
e Saion ea | row
e anss) Buuueld | 1Z0ZIEL | ¥

T 21qe6 upm paze(6 pue pauado
_ s sioopmau $I0[s uone|nuA Bixa.

¥ NOILYATT3

Joued soquiy

Baxa yzrew o padejdas pauado-ai 2|qe6 UM
10 paseda1 100p 6ix mopuim B 105 5100p M3U usa15 paze, *¥7eq pauud
= " | doop Be € NOILVAT13

6@ a2e1das 03 yBiyoos Bixa adejdar
UOREAJDSUOD MaU a1 sybiyoos
uonensasuo> mau

suwnjoo/suolLoUEIS
WBIyooy
si00g

smopuim
P00 Jalemuiey

© 0 kew pue “nojos u

S
n
R4
k3
z

3

JBUJO UM UOOUNIUOD Ul P !
:S3JON [eJdURD

103



oy

LLL-86YZ | oNbBumeia

& suogenar3 wieg

Buljamq Bunsix3 o} SUOIPPY U SUORELEIY

15 45719 '9qUWOoULINN IS PIERSUIA ‘BSnOYWIE S AIngSuIY.

]

(poureisun) %20
PalllEd Weq - VOO WIS WUy
pooMpIEH MAN

polUIEd Yeq - Uoi 1580

ouoIS 9Iqqne PaSIN0 [EIMIEN

1199
Jaqun feuss VO
vl o
WD 0ok: L

iy [ oos
e Soon aea | rew
WA anss| Buluueld | 1Z0Z/LZL | ¥
(PoUIRISUN) O SUWNIOD/SUOIOUEIS

si00g

smopuim
Spo0g Jejemurey
stiem

elued Aelo  jooy

o215 Joded piepueis-uou

& 5 Aew pue In0jod il panssi aq Aew BuMEID SIL '

‘sesodind Bujuueld Joj ssejun

*A|u0 SuOISUBLLIP painBly 3N ‘BUIMEID 1O 23S 10U 0Q

a1y BU) 0} Apoauip patiodas aq 1snu sauRdaNSIA €

HI0M JO JUBLIZOUSWIOD O} JOUd SUOIPUOD BYIS 03D “Z
‘sBumeip sjueynsuco

JBUI0 UM UOROUNIUD Ul PeaJ aq 0} | BUIMEIP SIL |

:SIJON [eIaUID

8 NOILVATT3

19210 UORAISUO UM
poaibeaq 013l

13210 UONEAIZSUO) YM
poaiBeaq 01 iy

100p saquin
joued pazel6
|

e
|

1231440 UOREAIDSUOD YyM

paaibeaqorain

12140 UORRAIZSUOD YiiM
poaibeaq 012l

L NOILVYAFT3

9 NOILVATT3

S NOILVATT3

104



v

-] 8L1-86YZ | on Sumeia

¥ suonerai3 wieg | oL Bumeq

Bulomq BulsIX3 o} SUONPPY U SUOREISIY | UONdUosaq 13losd

16 4719 '9qUOULIAN 1§ PIEASUA ‘ssnoue  Kingsuiy | ssaippy 1o

s

o noBRmNN K e neBRBANDONER 5 051038 SA2L0 |
4 119 anssono 15900050 1904 RAQ £ S5nOH KOG SPOEN POSUIA

NODNVIA

0199
1oquInN 1298 VO
usk []
WD 0ok: L
& o opos
neiq Saion eq | rou
o enss) bueld | s20zibizy | v

(pouteisun) ¥eo  s100q
DPOOMPIEH MON  SMOPUI
PolUEd YEQ - UOJ| 1SED  SPO0D Jalemuley
SU0IS B1GGNY PESINOD [BIMEN  SIIEA.
sljued ety jooy

‘o215 Joded piepuels-uou
& 5 Aew pue In0jod il panssi aq Aew BuMEID SIL '
‘sesodind Bujuueyd 1o} ssejun
*Ajuo SuoisuaLUIP painBy asn ‘BUIMEID 4o 3[E3s 10U 0g Y
a1y BU) 0} Apoauip patiodas aq 1snu sauRdaNSIA €
HI0M JO JUBLIZOUSWIOD O} JOUd SUOIPUOD BYIS 03D “Z
sbumesp sjueynsuoo
JBUI0 UM UOROUNIUD Ul PeaJ aq 0} | BUIMEIP SIL |

:SIJON [eIaUID

0L NOILVAZT13

1321440 UORRAIISUOY
i paaibe 3q o1 axels

6 NOILVAZT3

105



SZ1-86%C | oNBumeiq

oy

1 suoena[3 owor| peseuiay | sjuL Bumeiq

Buyjmq Buysix3 o} SUoNPPY PUE suoREsayY | uondussaq 1slosd

15 $S19 "AUOIOU 1S PIEASUIA "BSNOUWIE Anaswy | Ssaippy 10afosd

[ AR

e s i
Le199
Jaqun feuss VO
vl o
WD 0ok: L

us [ oeos
e SaoN awq | oy
e anss) Buuueld | 1207 v

(pouiEISUN) YEO  SUWN|OD/SUOIYOURIS
(psuieisun) Yeo  siooq
'SMOPUIM
po0g Jajemuiey
slier

shouw
Jooy

NOILVAT 13 (HLNOS) ¥v3Y

NOILVAT13 (HLYON) LNOYS

18IYRIY BU) 0} Afloeulp pariodas aq 1snw seipuedaisiq €
OM JO JUBLIBOUBWIOO O} JOLd SUORIPUOD SIS %09UD 2
“SBUME.P SIUBNINSUCO

J8LJ0 UM UOKOUN[UOD Ul Pea) 3q 0} S1 BUMEIP SIUL |
:SIJON [eIaUID

106



v

-] 921-86Z | on Buneia

2 suoiensi woi peveuey. | oL Bumeig

Bulomq BulsIX3 o} SUONPPY U SUOREISIY | UONdUosaq 13losd

15 $S19 "AUOIOU 1S PIEASUIA "BSNOUWIE Anaswy | Ssaippy 10afosd

DTN A o TGt DanRSE § 01999 SZL0 |

e s g
9p199
1oquInN 1298 VO
usk []
WD 0ok: L
us [ oeos
e saon aiea [ ney
o anss) Buuueld | 1Z0ZIEL | ¥

(PoUIRISUN) EO  SUWNIOD/SUOIOUEIS

(psuieisun) Yeo  siooq

poompieH maN 'SMOPUIM
PajUIEd ieq - UOJ| 1SED  SPO0S) JelemuIEY
au0lS ajqany PasINeD [eimeN il
sbuidded ouols paimsuooey
M Bigany pesiNo [eimeN  skeuwiyd
(om) slels  Jooy

o215 Joded piepueis-uou
& 5 Aew pue In0jod il panssi aq Aew BuMEID SIL '
‘sesodind Buiuueld ioj ssajun
*A|u0 SuOISUBLLIP painBly 3N ‘BUIMEID 1O 23S 10U 0Q
a1y BU) 0} Apoauip patiodas aq 1snu sauRdaNSIA €
HI0M JO JUBLIZOUSWIOD O} JOUd SUOIPUOD BYIS 03D “Z
“sBumesp Sjuelnsuod
J8UI0 UM UOOUN[UOD Ul PEaJ 3G O} S| BUIMEIP SIL *|

:SIJON [eIaUID

NOILVAT T3 Q¥VALINOD TYNYILNI (LSIM) 3aIS

T

2

NOILVATT3 TYNY3LX3 (LSv3) 3aIs

NOILVAT13 TYNY3LX3 (LSIM) 3aIS

107



v

=] 024-86v2 | on bumeia

Ueld 1001 punos auio peoewaL | apuL Bumeiq

6ulomq Bulsix3 o} SUOPPY U SuoREIaIY | UONdUosaq 13losd

15 4719 '9qUIOULIAN IS PIEASUIA ‘ssnoyuwe ) AIngsuiy | ssaippy i

d

e s osiamm sezi0 |

62199
1oquInN 1298 VO
usk 0
WD 0ok: L
fin [ opos
neiq Saion eq | rou
e nss1 buneig | 12021 v

‘o215 Joded piepuejs-uou
& 5q Aew pue ‘INojod uj panss| aq Aew BuMEIP SIUL G
‘sesodind Bujuueyd 1o} ssejun
*Ajuo suojsuawIp painBy asn ‘BuIMEIp 4O B[E9S 10U 0F P
8NYaIY BU) 0} Afoeulp pariodas aq 1snw seppuedaisiq €
I0M JO JUBLIBIUBWILIOD O} O SUONIPUOD BIIS HoBUD 2
sbumesp sjueynsuoo
1810 UM UOKOUN[UOD U PERI 8] O} S| BUIMEIP SILL |

:SIJON [eIaUID

108



v

-] 121-86vZ | onsumeia

Ueld 1001 15114 GWOH Peoeal | oL Bumeq

6uliomq BulsiX3 o} SUONPPY U SUOREIaIY | UONdUosaq 13losd

18 $419 "BAUOOUDUIA 1S PIEASUIA "BSNOUUIE AInaswy | SsaIppy 1fosd

NODNVIA

eetgg
JoquIN 1eUSS VO
usk []
WD 0ok: L
I o opos
neiq SaoN awq | oy
- enss) dueid | sz0zitizy | v

N

o215 Joded piepuejs-uou
€ 5q Aew pue ‘INojod uj panss| aq Aew BuMEIP SIUL '
‘sesodind Bujuueyd 1o} ssejun
1uo SuOIsUBLUIP PaINBY SN ‘BUIMEIP 1O B[S 10U OQ p
18NYRIY 8U) 0} Afoeulp pariodas aq 1snw seipuedaisiq €
SH0M JO JUBLIZOUBWIOD O} JOUd SUOIPUOD BYIS 03D '
sBumesp sjueynsuoo
1810 UM UOKOUNUOD U PERS 8] O} S| BUIMEIP SILL |

:SIJON [eIaUID

109



o Bumeiq

iuosaq walosd

iz 115 s e 00 OAG € S5 G

NODNVIA

uoieas|3 isey

9LbSL

Joquin fewas VO

/

AN

vl o
WD 0oL: L

wg [ oreos

@J[,

Tl

=

=

L
A =

== |

/\Muk
_

wmeig saioN aeq

on

o onss) buuend | 1zozimbiz | v

I

uolloeg

(pourisun) 60 s100Q
POOMPIEH MON  SMOPUI
PolUEd YieQ - UOJ ISED  SPO0S Jojemuley
UOIS BIGaNY POSINOD [EIMEN  SIIEM
(@) aieis  Jooy

uoieaa|3 yinos

uoneAe|3 yuopN

N

= -
.ofl
= |

w‘?%

xS

I

ENENEIENE

110

uolleAa|3 1S M\

%@

ST

LI

R

bl o

=TT

i

¥
L

82is Jaded piepuels-uou

“A|uo Suojsuawp paInBy asn ‘Buime;
10831421y 8U) 0} ARosulp papodal o
SHOM JO JUBLIBOUBWILIOD 0} Jolid

J8U0 Yy UOOUN[UOD Ul PE3) 8 O} S BuiMelp SIUL *|
:S3JON [esausD

N
NOILVA3T3 HLNOS
-]

NOILVA313 HL¥ON




v

oy

051-86%2 | oN Bumeiq

SuBid 44 pue 49 weg Kasois BUIS maN | oL Bumeia

6ujoMQ BusiX3 0} SUoNPPY pue suonEsaNY | uoduasaq elosy

475 ¥$719 ‘aquIoRURUM 15 PieAaUIA ‘Ssnoyue Aindswiy | sseippy foi

NOONVIA

SLbSL

1oquINN (€8S VO

I

o

0

D00k L
.

e seioN awa | rey

JussU0D BUIUEIg 10} PANSS| | £20Z/Z0/L1

<

sifem pasodoig

(peuleisun) yeo  siooQ

ue|d 100|4 _UCZO;:,U

¥ - | uieg Kaioys a|buig maN

=

=l
L

(o)

e
4l

=

1

q

— =

(o)

|
J

e
o ;

pajuied yieq

SMopUIM
P00 Jojemuiey

fpms

L] /\j

N

N

N7
\
NN

Sz N
ANANRS .

AR

111

ueljd 100j41si4

¥ - | uieg Kaioys a|buig maN

su0lS 219aNYy PaSINOY silem
100y

]

¥ peg

@
o

&
[a}

B
@il

]

5215 Jaded pIepuels-uou
&89 Aew pue Inojoo Uj panss| aq Aew BuMEIp SIUL ‘G
sesodind Bujuueld 1o} ssejun
*A1uo suojsuaLIp PainBy asn ‘Buimelp 4O 8[eds 10U 0g Y
1eyyaIy au) o) ARoaup periodas oq 1snw seouedaisiq
HIOM JO JUBIBOUBWIWOD O} Joud SUONIPUOD 8IS HBYD 'Z
SBUIMEI SIUE)INSUOD
18I0 UM UORIUN(UOD Uy PEB] 8 O) S| BUIMEIP SILL |

S8JON |esousD € . _‘




Agenda Iltem 5c

Planning Committee

Date 17 October 2023
Case Officer Frank Whitley
Application No. 23/00044/0UT

Site Location

Land at Horsbere Drive, Longford

Proposal Residential development of up to 21 apartments, associated
infrastructure, ancillary facilities, open space and landscaping with all
matters reserved (amended description).

Ward Innsworth

Parish Innsworth

Appendices Site location plan

lllustrative layout amended

Apartment Block A elevations

Apartment Block A floor plans

Apartment Block B elevations and floor plans
lllustrative streetscene

Landscape context plan

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Outline application for the erection of 10 or more residential units

Recommendation

Delegated Permit

Site Location

.
Vo
(*/)’

112




1. The Proposal

1.1 This application seeks outline planning permission for a residential development of up to 21
apartments, associated infrastructure, facilities, open space and landscaping. All matters
(Appearance, Means of access, Landscaping, Layout and Scale) are reserved for future
consideration. The application therefore seeks to establish whether the principle of
development for up to 21 apartments within the identified site boundaries is acceptable.

1.2 The application has been accompanied by a suite of drawings, however, with the exception of
the location plan, all plans at this stage are illustrative and the matters as outlined above
would be subject consideration at the reserved matters stage if this outline planning
permission were to be granted.

2. Site Description

2.1 The application comprises an area of residual, disused land on the corner of Horsbere Drive,
and Clock Tower Road. The site measures approximately 35m x 70m and is bounded to the
east by the residential development on Whitefield Crescent. To the north is Longford Park
Primary Academy and on the opposite side of Horsbere Drive, a row of shops which includes a
Co-op supermarket.

2.2 The site is grassed and has open boundaries onto the tarmac public footpaths of Horsbere
Drive and Clock Tower Road. The eastern boundary is partly defined by a dilapidated timber
panel fence immediately beyond which are Nos 2,4,8,10 Whitefield Crescent. On the western
boundary, there is bus stop, street lighting and a row of immature trees which are be retained.

2.3 While the site is relatively flat, it is however set at a lower level to Longford Lane to the South.

2.4 The site is not subject to any landscape, heritage or ecological designations.

3. Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision

Number Date

05/00883/0OUT Outline planning application for residential appeal 3.7.08
development (C3), Community Uses (D1), local allowed

centre comprising classes Al, A2, A3, A4 and A5
and associated physical infrastructure and open
space

11/00385/FUL Residential development (C3), Community Uses permit 17.5.13
(D1), local centre comprising classes Al, A2, A3,
A4 and A5 and associated physical infrastructure
and open space (Extension of time of planning
ref: 05/0883/0OUT).

16/00058/MINOR Residential development (C3), Community Uses permit 15.8.16
(D1), local centre comprising classes Al, A2, A3,
A4 and A5 and associated physical infrastructure
and open space (Extension of time of planning
ref: 05/11485/0883/OUT).

113




19/01098/FUL Construction of two apartment blocks comprising | refuse 22.7.2020

33 dwellings and associated parking and
landscaping.

21/00880/0UT Outline application for a residential development refuse 16.2.22

of 24 apartments and associated operations
(access reserved for future consideration).

3.1

3.2

3.3

This application follows two previous applications.

The first, scheme was a Full application for 33 apartments which was refused at planning
committee in July 2020 for reasons of scale, bulk and massing.

The second application was an Outline application for 24 apartments with matters of
access reserved (21/00880/0OUT). This was refused, at planning committee in February
2022 for the following reasons:

1. Given the context of the site and its surroundings, the development as proposed, by
virtue of the overall scale, the resulting bulk and massing and uninspired and generic
appearance, would not be an appropriate scale, type, density and appearance for the site
and its setting and therefore would fail to respond positively to, and respect the character,
appearance and visual amenity of the site and the surrounding area.

In addition, due to the scale of the building, the quantum of the housing units proposed
and the resulting requirement to provide the level of car parking as shown, the built form
would dominate the site which would result in there being insufficient space on the site for
meaningful landscaping. As such the development would appear cramped and would
represent overdevelopment of the site.

It therefore follows the development would fail to create a high quality, beautiful and
sustainable buildings and places which is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve.

Accordingly, the proposed development would be contrary to guidance in Section 12 of
the National Planning Policy Framework, guidance in the National Design Guide, Policy
SD4 and SD6 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-
2031 (December 2017), Policy CHIN2 and CHIN3 of the adopted Churchdown and
Innsworth Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2031 and emerging Policy RES5 of the Main
Modifications Pre-submission Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2021).

2. In the absence of an appropriate planning obligation, the proposed development does
not make provision for the delivery of recycling and waste bin facilities and therefore the
proposed development would be contrary to Policies IN4, INF6 and INF7 of the
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

3. In the absence of an appropriate planning obligation, the application does not provide
housing that would be available to households who cannot afford to rent or buy houses
available on the existing housing market. As such, the proposed development conflicts
with Policy SD12 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy
2011 -2031 (December 2017) and emerging Policy RES12 of the Main Modifications Pre-
submission Tewkesbury Borough Plan (2021).

114




3.4  The current application for 21 units seeks to address the above reasons for refusal.
4, Consultation Responses
Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.
4.1 Longford Parish Council- objection
In summary:
e Land was approved for services and facilities under planning application
11/00385/FUL. Application represents erosion of local centre requirements
¢ Will lead to more car journeys, pollution and less employment in area
JCS supports provision of infrastructure
e Masterplan of 11/00385/FUL showed low level of school and local centre ensured
connection with farmland beyond. Three storey apartment blocks would create an
imbalance and would not be in keeping with rest of development, mainly two storey
houses.
e Affordable housing distribution not made clear.
o 40% requirement of affordable housing is 8.4 units. There should be no financial
contribution in lieu.
¢ Insufficient car parking
e Surface water drainage impacts
4.2  Treel/ Landscaping - objection
In summary:
e Development ‘squeezed’ into site
¢ Views from lower windows of Block B facing Longford Lane would be straight into
sloping bank
e Screening effects from trees in streetscene drawings exaggerated
Parking dominant
4.3 Urban Design- express concerns
In summary:
e support overall
e scale and the height of development appears appropriate
¢ insufficient provision for walking and cycling,
¢ lack of ground level amenity space could be addressed by fewer units
e parking dominant
¢ limited sunlight on ground floor apartments facing Longford Lane
4.4 Natural England- no objection subject to conditions and S106 obligations
4.5 Ecology- no objection subject to conditions
In summary, development is likely to meet Biodiversity Net Gain requirements
4.6 Community and Economic Development- no objection
4.7 National Highways- no objection
4.8 County Planning Section S106 Monitoring Officer- no objection

Education: No contribution required
Libraries: No Contribution required

115


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.9 Housing and Enabling Officer- no objection
e Section 106 required.
o Affordable units should include balconies and/ or at ground floor level terraced
private space.
4.10 County Council Highways Officer- no objection subject to conditions
4.11 Environmental Health- (amenity and air quality) no objection subject to conditions

4,12 Severn Trent Water — no objection

4.13 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and Tewkesbury BC drainage— no objection
subject to conditions

4,14 Waste Services - objection
Further details required in respect of waste vehicle access and bin collection points

5. Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1 Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.2 Approximately 140 objections have been received in response to the consultations. The
comment raised are summarised below:

Not in keeping with existing development

Loss of light, more noise

Lack of need for more housing

Parking and traffic congestion, blocked roads for emergency services

Should be left as Green Belt

Lack of doctors and dentists and school at near capacity

Drainage infrastructure at capacity

Too much development locally

Site should be used for infrastructure serving local area

Risk of more flooding

Flats are out of character

Urging people to use bicycles doesn’t work

Flats would be an eyesore due to height and size

Doctors surgery should be built instead, community centre, green or community

area

Contrary to NPPF, JCS, TBC and Neighbourhood plan policies

Harm to amenity during construction

Road safety risk because close to primary school

Balconies overlooking school fields is unacceptable

Reduce visibility for drivers on road

Better alternative would be development to boost local economy

Overdevelopment

Would attract unwelcome occupants

Will put pressure on limited disabled parking spaces

Should not be allocated for residential development

Loss of village feel

116


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

No explanation of how affordable housing would be distributed through development
Would attract more anti-social behaviour and crime

Not contributing to net-zero targets

Area needs families to grow the community rather than single occupants

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG).

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SP2 (Distribution of New Development)

Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

Policy SD6 (Landscape)

Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

Policy SD10 (Residential Development)

Policy SD11 (Housing Mix and Standards)

Policy SD12 (Affordable Housing)

Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)

Policy INF1 (Transport Network)

Policy INF5 (Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022
Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)

Policy RES5 (New Housing Development

Policy RES12 (Affordable Housing)

Policy RES13 (Housing Mix)

Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards)

Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

Policy HEA1 (Healthy & Active Communities)

Policy TRACL1 (Pedestrian Accessibility)

Policy TRAC2 (Cycle Network & Infrastructure)

Policy TRAC3 (Bus Infrastructure)

Churchdown and Innsworth Neighbourhood Development Plan (CHINDP)

Policy CHIN1: Parking to support residential development

Policy CHIN2: Layout and appearance of residential development

Policy CHIN3: Environmental considerations in the design of residential development
Policy CHIN9: Provision for wildlife in new development

Policy CHIN11: Blue infrastructure

Policy CHIN12: Flood mitigation

Policy CHIN14: Pedestrian and cycle movement routes

117




Policy Context

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of
'made' Neighbourhood Development Plans

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

Main Issues
e Principle of Development
Scale, Character and Appearance
Waste and Recycling
Residential Amenity
Highways and Parking
Drainage and Flooding
Affordable Housing
Ecology
Other matters

Principle of Development

The application site formed part of an outline scheme ref 05/0883/OUT for a major
housing development approved in 2008. The approved Masterplan, Phasing and Design
Code identified the site, alongside a parcel of land to the west of Horsbere Drive, as land
which would provide a local centre to serve the Longford development as well as the
wider community.

No reserved matters application came forward, though the outline planning permission
was renewed by way of application no.11/00385/FUL, approved on 17 May 2013.
Condition 2 of the decision notice for 11/00385/FUL required reserved matters
applications to be submitted within three years, that being by 17 May 2016. No reserved
matters application was submitted in respect of the land and the consent has
subsequently lapsed.

Officers note the concerns regarding site’s provisions for community related development.
However, planning permission no longer exists for a community use at the site. As a
result, there is no current requirement to deliver a community related development on the
site and no realistic prospect (given opportunity was not taken up in the 8 years whilst the
permission was live or since) that such a use would be delivered. The application
therefore stands to be determined on its own merits.

118



8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

The NPPF states that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The NPPF at Chapter 5 seeks to deliver a sufficient supply of homes.

Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development) of the JCS states that provision will be
made for 35,175 new homes, within existing urban areas through District Plans, existing
commitments, urban extensions, and strategic allocations.

Policy SP2 (Distribution of New Development) of the JCS amongst other things, states
that dwellings will be provided through existing commitments, development at
Tewkesbury town, in line with its role as a market town, smaller scale development
meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service Villages.

Section 3 (Housing) of the adopted TBP explains that Longford is an ‘Urban Fringe
Settlement’ of Gloucester, rather than falling within the settlement hierarchy of
Tewkesbury Borough. According to the adopted TBP, urban fringe settlements are
considered sustainable settlements possessing a good range of services and good
accessibility to Gloucester and Cheltenham.

Map No.20 of the adopted TBP Policies Maps, indicates the settlement boundary of
Longford within which the application site is located.

Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries) of the adopted TBP states (amongst other
settlement types), the principle of residential development in urban fringe settlements is
acceptable, subject to meeting other relevant policy requirements.

Officers consider that the application site is suitable for residential development in
principle under the provisions of SP1, SP2 (of the JCS) and RES2 (of the TBP). The
‘tilted balance’ in favour of sustainable development according to paragraph 11 of the
NPPF does not need to be engaged to establish the principle of acceptable residential
development in this location.

The principle of new residential development on the application site is considered
acceptable and in accordance with the NPPF, the adopted JCS and adopted TBP.

Scale, Character and Appearance

The NPPF at Chapter 12 seeks to achieve well-designed places. Policy SD4 of the JCS
seeks to ensure design principles are incorporated into development, in terms of context,
character, sense of place, legibility and identity. These requirements closely align with the
requirements of the National Design Guide. Policy RES5 of the TBP seeks to ensure
proposals are of a design and layout which respect the character, appearance and
amenity of the surrounding area.

Policy CHINZ2 of the made Churchdown and Innsworth Neighbourhood Plan states that
proposals for new development should contribute towards the local distinctiveness of
Churchdown and Innsworth. They should demonstrate high quality, sustainable and
inclusive design and architecture.

119



8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

Although the application is in outline with all matters reserved, the application has
nevertheless been supported by indicative plans to demonstrate how a development of up
to 21 apartments could be accommodated within the site. The plans show how the
apartments could be accommodated in two separate apartment blocks. The illustrative
scheme shows how ‘Block A’ to the north and ‘Block B’ to the south could comprise a total
of 12 x 1 bedroom and 9 x 2 bedroom apartments respectively. The applicant has also
advised that 40% of the proposed apartments would be affordable.

The indicative plans also demonstrate how there could be active principal elevations onto
Longford Lane to the south and Clock Tower Road to the north. In addition, the
development could provide a frontage onto Horsebere Drive, and provide pedestrian/cycle
only access, between the two apartment blocks and linking to Whitefield Crescent. The
main vehicle access would be via the existing Whitefield Crescent. This vehicle and
pedestrian/cycle access could lead into a parking court providing 35 parking spaces.

The development as shown on the indicative drawings would be a combination of three
and two storeys, with a maximum height of 8.5m for the three storey and 5.5m for the two
storey elements. Officers recommend that building height is limited by condition to a
maximum of 8.5m (see proposed Condition 22 below). In all other respects the precise
design (appearance, layout and scale) would remain to be considered at the reserved
matters stage.

The indicative drawings also show how the development could provide landscaped areas
at ground level, ‘green roofs’ and garden roof terraces for additional occupier amenity
space.

Generally, the indicative design approach of the apartment blocks is considered well-
articulated, and achieves natural surveillance over frontages, without dominating the
street scene. The appearance of the buildings is softened by a mix of materials, green
landscaping at ground and upper levels. No concerns have been raised by the urban
design consultant regarding scale and massing, though it is suggested that useable
ground level amenity space could be improved by a smaller building footprint. A reduction
in the number of units would also provide further space for soft landscaping to flourish and
avoid any risk of elevations appearing cramped within boundaries. Nevertheless, the
details of the scheme remain for future consideration and it is considered that an
appropriate layout could be achieved with further thought and at the reserved matters
stage.

The proposed use of shared roof gardens is supported and reflects the National Design
Guide where there is recognition of sustainable benefits including water management,
biodiversity as well as amenity space. Some concerns are raised that over reliance on
shared amenity space could result in limited private amenity space, and it is suggested that
more generous balconies are provided, thereby compensating for shared roof top space
which may not be accessible to occupiers with mobility issues. It is therefore considered
that an appropriately designed scheme of up to 21 dwellings could realistically be achieved.

Waste and Recycling

Policy RES5 (New Housing Development) requires new developments to make provisions
for the efficient and effective high quality household waste collection services.

120



8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

According to the Design and Access Statement, it is envisaged that for apartments adjacent
to Longford Lane and Horsbere Drive, refuse collection would take place from either
Whitefield Crescent or Horsbere Drive. Apartments backing onto Horsbere Drive and Clock
Tower Road would be serviced from Clock Tower Road.

Officers note that Waste Services have objected to the development, citing concerns
regarding waste and recycling storage and inadequate information regarding access routes
for occupiers and refuse vehicles.

In response, Officers advise there is no requirement at the outline stage, particularly where
all matters are reserved, for plans to show bin storage locations and collection points and
these details would need to be demonstrated in an appropriate manner at the reserved
matter stage.

Notwithstanding, the applicant has submitted a Waste Minimisation and Management Plan.
Paras 4.24-4.30 explain intended disposal and recycling arrangements for occupiers.
Occupants would be entitled to kerbside collections and the developer would ensure that
each apartment would have all the necessary containers within a communal storage facility.
In Officers’ opinion there is sufficient certainty of the development being able to achieve bin
storage and collection in accordance with Policy RES5 such that refusal of the application
on these grounds would be unjustified at this time.

Residential Amenity

Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards) of the TBP confirms the adoption of the
Government’s nationally described space standards. Minimum floor areas for each of the
apartments proposed are 39sgm for one bedroomed, and 50sgm for two bedroomed
respectively. All apartments are intended to exceed minimum space standards.

Amongst other requirements, Policy SD4 of the adopted JCS states that new development
should, ‘...enhance comfort, convenience and enjoyment through assessment of the
opportunities for light, privacy and external space.’

Policy SD10 states that. “...residential development should seek to achieve the maximum
density compatible with good design, the protection of heritage assets, local amenity, the
character and quality of the local environment.’

Shared amenity space for all apartments is considered adequate, though as noted above,
concerns have been raised that private amenity space is insufficient as illustrated.

In response to the issue of shared versus private amenity space, the applicant’s agent has
responded by confirming there would be 180sgm of communal garden space accessible
direct from apartments and not to the general public. Further the agent has emphasised
the benefits of the ‘central boulevard’ between the two blocks which has the potential to be
used as a semi-private courtyard, subject to detailed designs at the reserved matters stage.

The applicant’s agent points out that balconies are currently 1m deep and is willing to accept

a condition requiring their extension to 1.5m deep so that these could provide improved
outdoor amenity space for future occupiers.

121



8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

A further concern raised by consultees is the amenity of occupiers of the ground floor
apartments of Block B, where they face Longford Lane. The application site is set lower
than the highway, therefore ground floor occupiers would face a bank, with potential loss of
sunlight. In response, the applicant has commented that windows are sufficiently set back
from the bank and in any event are south facing, so maximising daytime sunlight. Officers
take note of the concerns raised, though do not consider that residential amenity would be
adversely affected to the extent refusal would be warranted. Nevertheless, layout and
associated impacts remain to be considered at the reserved matters stage.

Policy SD14 of the adopted JCS states new development must cause no harm to local
amenity including the amenity of neighbouring occupants. In this regard, there is potential
to overlook neighbouring dwellings from upper-level apartments and from roof garden
space. Risks particularly relate to the rear windows and small garden spaces of Nos 2,4,6,8
Whitefield Crescent, and to a far lesser extent No.10, whose side gable would face the
development. The roof garden space of Block A as shown on the indicative drawings would
could be separated from the boundary of Nos 2-8 Whitefield Crescent by a distance of 26m.
Similarly the Block B roof garden space would be separated from the boundary of Nol10
Whitefield Crescent by a similar distance. Officers consider the separation distance
demonstrated would be sufficient to reduce the risk of amenity harm to an acceptable level
and that this separation distance is better than typically found in new housing
developments. Furthermore, there would be potential for further mitigation by careful
management of boundary treatments should this be required as part of the consideration
of any reserved matters application.

Highways and Parking
The NPPF at Chapter 9 seeks to promote sustainable transport.

Policy INF 1 (Transport Network) requires that developers should provide safe and
accessible connections to the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and
commuters. Chapter 10 of the adopted TBP states that an efficient and safe transport
system is critical to the success of the Borough and the quality of life of its residents and
visitors.

Section 10 of the adopted TBC (Transport and Accessibility) sets out policies for
pedestrians (TRACL1), cycle network (TRAC?2) and bus infrastructure (TRAC3).

Policy CHIN1 (Parking to Support Residential Development) of the CHINDP seeks to
achieve one and two parking spaces for every one bedroomed and every two bedroomed
dwelling respectively.

In terms of layout, concerns remain, for example that the development is vehicle dominant
and comprises excessive dedicated carparking. Instead, more emphasis could be placed
upon pedestrian and cycle routes. At the same time though, the development seeks to
comply with the CHINDP which requires adequate parking to reduce the risk of on-street
parking. Compliance with Policy CHIN1 would equate to the provision of at least 30
carparking spaces in the development.

Accepting the layout plans are indicative, the proposal comprises 35 spaces. The applicant
has emphasised that the additional five unallocated spaces are for visitor parking.

122



8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

On balance, and taking into account that matters of layout are indicative, Officers consider
that appropriate parking provision is likely to be achievable and within the scope of
consideration at this outline stage.

Drainage and Flooding

The NPPF at Chapter 14 (in part) seeks to meet the challenge of climate change and
flooding. Policy INF1 of the adopted JCS and Policy NAT2 of the TBP seek to manage
flood risk. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment, and consultations
have taken place with the Environment Agency, Gloucestershire County Council (as the
Lead Local Flood Authority), and Tewkesbury Borough Council’s drainage officer.

Policy CHIN11 (Blue Infrastructure) of the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to ensure new
development incorporates sustainable solutions to water and flood management, and
where possible, enhancing the provision of wetland habitat for wildlife.

The application site is in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk of flooding) and in an area already
served by foul water and surface water sewers.

It is intended the development would connect to the existing public connection on Clock
Tower Road. Neither Severn Trent Water nor the Lead Local Flooding Authority has
raised any objection.

A condition is recommended to secure and approve an appropriate drainage scheme prior
to works commencing.

Ecology
Chapter 15 of the NPPF seeks to conserve and enhance the natural environment.

Policy SD9 of the adopted JCS (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states amongst other
things that the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected and
enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to
current and future pressures. Similarly, the adopted TBP Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity,
Geodiversity and Important Natural Features) requires amongst other things that
proposals will, where applicable, be required to deliver a biodiversity net gain across local
and landscape scales, including designing wildlife into development proposals.

The submitted ecological assessment concludes there are no adverse impacts upon
protected species. During the survey, a small number of common birds used the site for
foraging.

A Habitats Regulation Assessment has been submitted in relation to potential impacts upon
the Cotswolds Beechwoods SAC. Natural England has raised no objection to the proposal,
subject to appropriate mitigation, which includes Strategic Access Management and
Monitoring (SAMM) measures and the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANG). In combination with the provision of on-site public open space, contributions for
SAMM and SANG have been agreed with the applicant and would be secured through the
S106. Further, as recommended by the Council’s ecologist, residents’ packs are to inform
new occupiers of the recreational opportunities available to them, the sensitivities of local
nature conservation sites.

123



8.50

8.51

8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

A Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Assessment has been submitted and checked by the
Council’s ecologist. Overall, the scheme would deliver a 15.7% net gain in habitats and
100% net gain in hedgerows. The scheme would therefore meet BNG requirements.

Affordable Housing

Chapter 5 of the NPPF seeks to deliver a sufficient supply of homes, and that the needs
of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed, in terms of amongst other
affordability and tenure.

Policy SD12 of the JCS sets out that outside of the Strategic Allocations a minimum
requirement of 40% affordable housing will be sought on developments. Affordable
housing must also have regard to the requirements of Policy SD11 concerning type, mix,
size and tenure.

The submitted Affordable Housing statement recognises the minimum affordable housing
requirement would equate to 8.4 units. The Housing Enabling and Strategy Officer has
confirmed the applicant has constructively engaged with the Housing team in preparing
an affordable housing proposal set out in the applicant’s affordable housing statement
reflecting local housing needs.

The applicant proposes to provide eight affordable units on site, plus a commuted sum
payment calculated at £30,000 on commencement of development. Officers advise this
figure has been accepted by the Housing Team.

Affordable Discounted Market Sale units would comprise 4 x 1bedroom apartments and 4
X 2 bedroom apartments.

The Council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer considers the proposed scheme
would be policy compliant and therefore acceptable. This requirement could be secured
by way of a Section 106 agreement.

Community Facilities

Policy RCNL1 states that proposals for new residential development shall provide
appropriate public outdoor space, sports pitches and built sports facilities to meet the
needs of local communities.

No specific contribution has been requested by the Parish Council, nor the Council’s
Community Team which has been consulted. The Draft Section 106 with agreed Heads
of Terms requires submission to the Council a specification for on-site open space prior to
the first reserved matters application and not to commence development until approval
has been obtained. This is considered appropriate given the scale of development
proposed.

In terms of County Council Education contributions, the proposed development falls below
the threshold of qualifying dwellings, that being at least 10 dwellings with 2 bedrooms or
more. As such Education contributions are not being sought. Similarly the County
Council states it has carried out a Site Specific Assessment and no library contribution is
required.

124



8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

Section 106 and CIL

JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any infrastructure
requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or having regard to the
cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate and appropriate on/off-
site infrastructure and services. The Local Planning Authority will seek to secure
appropriate infrastructure, which is necessary, directly related, and fairly and reasonably
related to the scale and kind of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of the JCS
requires appropriate social and community infrastructure to be delivered where
development creates a need for it. JCS Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct
implementation or financial contributions towards the provision of infrastructure and
services should be negotiated with developers before the grant of planning permission.
Policy SAL sets out that infrastructure should be provided comprehensively across the
site taking into account the needs of the whole Strategic Allocation. Financial
contributions will be sought through S106 and CIL mechanisms as appropriate.

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise funds
from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst the Council does
have a CIL in place, infrastructure requirements specifically related to the impact of the
development will continue to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement. The CIL
regulations stipulate that, where planning obligations do not meet the tests, it is ‘unlawful’
for those obligations to be taken into account when determining an application.

The Council’s Community and Place Development Officer has confirmed that the Parish
would receive up to 25% of CIL receipts which can be used for community infrastructure.
No other financial contributions are being sought through the Section 106 agreement
route.

The following Heads of Terms have been agreed with the applicant according to
consultee requests:

Affordable Housing: 8.4 units equating to 8 affordable units on site with a £30,000
commuted sum.

Public Open Space: Specification to be agreed prior to reserved matters application
being made

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM): £4,053

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG): £10,080

Refuse and Reycling: £1,533

Other Matters

Paragraph 74 requires Local Planning Authorities to identify and update annually a supply
of deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing
(5YHLS). Tewkesbury Borough Council currently is unable to identify five years’ supply.
In these situations, the NPPF presumption in favour of sustainable development applies,
according to Paragraph 11. Development should be approved unless any adverse

impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against NPPF policies. This approach is known as the ‘tilted balance’.

125



8.65

8.66

8.67

8.68

Notwithstanding the provisions of NPPF Paragraph 11, the location of the application site
accords with the Council’s housing and settlement strategy as set out in the adopted JCS
and adopted TBP. There is no requirement in Officers’ opinion to engage the ‘ilted
balance’ to establish the principle of development.

It should be noted the number of apartments has been reduced from previous
applications, and this time seeks only to establish the principle of development with all
matters reserved, accepting that relatively detailed plans have also been submitted for
illustrative purposes only.

Officers do however consider that the Council’'s 5YHLS position has relevance when it
comes to assessing the weight to be attached to adverse design and layout comments.
Taken together, these comments collectively point towards either a reduction in the
number of apartments or revisions to the design and siting of the blocks in order to
remedy identified concerns.

Overall, Officers consider there is sufficient prospect of a policy compliant scheme of up
to 21 dwellings coming forward at the reserved matters stage.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

10.

Development accords with the housing and settlement strategy of the adopted JCS and
TBP. The application site falls within the Urban Fringe Settlement of Longford as set out
in Policy RES2 of the adopted TBP where the principle of new residential development is
considered acceptable.

To the extent relevant to the application made in outline, Officers consider that issues of
scale and massing have been resolved over previous applications and there is sufficient
prosect of an acceptable scheme coming forward at the reserved matters stage to
comprise development of up to 21 apartments.

It is considered that the proposal would accord with policies of the NPPF, adopted JCS,
TBP and the made Churchdown and Innsworth Neighbourhood Development Plan, as
outlined above. Therefore, it is recommended that outline planning permission be granted
subject to the recommended conditions and completion of a Section 106.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

It is recommended that authority be DELEGATED to the Development Manager, to
PERMIT the application, subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement with
obligations as set out above.

Conditions

Standard Conditions

Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (hereinafter called “the
Reserved Matters”) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority before any development is commenced and the development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: The application is in outline only and the reserved matters referred to in the
foregoing condition will require further consideration.

126



Application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of 24 months from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before:
0] the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or
(i) before the expiration of 12 months from the date of approval of the last of
the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
- Location Plan No. LC.P.1 dated 22.1.21

Reason: In order to define the permission.

The development hereby permitted shall provide no more than 21 apartments.
Reason: To define the scope of the permission

Pre-commencement Conditions

Prior to the commencement of development, including any preparatory work a scheme for
the protection of the retained trees and hedgerows, in accordance with BS 5837:2012,
including a Tree Protection Plan(s) (TPP) and an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS)
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The TPP
and AMS should include details of the following:

(a) Location and installation of services/ utilities/ drainage.

(b) Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the retained trees.

(c) a full specification for the installation of boundary treatment works.

(d) A specification for protective fencing to safeguard trees during construction phases
and a plan indicating the alignment of the protective fencing.

(e) a specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree protection zones.

(f) Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP and construction plan and
construction activities clearly identified as prohibited in this area.

(g) details of site access, temporary parking, on site welfare facilities, loading, unloading
And storage of equipment, materials, fuels and waste as well concrete mixing and use of
fires.

All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To prevent existing trees from being damaged during construction work and to
preserve the amenities of the locality.

127



Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed Sustainable Drainage System
(SuDS) Strategy document shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This should be in accordance with the proposal set out in the
approved submission (Drainage Statement; LON.LCE.DS.02; September 2022). The
SuDS Strategy must include a detailed design and a full risk assessment for flooding
during the groundworks and building phases with mitigation measures specified for
identified flood risks. The SuDS Strategy must also demonstrate the technical
feasibility/viability of the drainage system through the use of SuDS to manage the flood
risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures taken to manage the water quality for the
life time of the development. The approved scheme for the surface water drainage shall
be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is first
occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage
and thereby preventing the risk of flooding. It is important that these details are agreed
prior to the commencement of development as any works on site could have implications
for drainage, flood risk and water quality in the locality.

Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed site waste management plan shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The site waste
management plan must identify the type and amount of waste materials expected to be
generated from the development during site preparation and construction phases and set
out what site specific measures will be employed for dealing with this material so as to; -
minimise its creation, maximise the amount of re-use and recycling on-site; maximise the
amount of off-site recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site; and reduce the
amount of waste sent to landfill. In addition, the site waste management plan must also
clearly set out the proportion of recycled content from all sources that will be used in
construction materials. The detailed site waste management plan shall be fully
implemented as approved unless the local planning authority gives prior written
permission for any variation.

Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource
efficiency in accordance with adopted Joint Core Strategy Policy SD3 — Sustainable
Design and Construction; adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy; Core Policy
WCS2 — Waste Reduction; adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SRO1
and Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste.

Prior to the commencement of development, provisions for facilitating the management
and recycling of waste generated during occupation shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. This must include details of the appropriate and
adequate space and infrastructure to allow for the separate storage of recyclable waste
materials. The management of waste during occupation must be aligned with the
principles of the waste hierarchy and not prejudice the delivery of local waste
management targets. All details shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local
planning authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource
efficiency in accordance with adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy Policy SD3 — Sustainable Design and Construction; adopted Gloucestershire
Waste Core Strategy; Core Policy WCS2 — Waste Reduction; adopted Minerals Local
Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SR01 and Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for
Waste.

128



10.

11.

12.

Prior to commencement of development, a Construction and Environmental Management
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The plan/statement
shall include but not be restricted to:

e Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to
ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring
properties during construction);

e Advisory routes for construction traffic;

e Any temporary access to the site;

Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction

materials;

Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

Number of vehicle trips and timings

Arrangements for turning vehicles;

Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

Highway Condition survey;

Noise and vibration mitigation (Including whether piling or power floating is

required and please note white noise sounders will be required for plant operating

onsite to minimise noise when in operation/moving/ reversing)

e Mitigation of the impacts of lighting proposed for the construction phase
Measures for controlling leaks and spillages, managing silt and pollutants

e Methods of communicating the Construction and Environmental Management Plan
to staff, visitors and neighbouring residents and businesses.

e Lighting plan showing light spill in lux levels to ensure that any bat foraging habitat
is not unduly illuminated.

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development and
in the interests of protecting ecological assets.

Prior to the commencement of development, a noise assessment, in line with
BS8233:2014 and BS4142:2014+A1:2019, together with any necessary noise mitigation
measures shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

No apartment requiring noise mitigation measures shall be occupied until those noise
mitigation measures as approved have been implemented. Noise mitigation measures
shall be maintained as approved thereafter.

Reason: To ensure appropriate living conditions for future occupiers.

Prior to commencement of development, a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
(LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
LEMP will include ecological mitigation and enhancement details as outlined in the
submitted Ecological Assessment dated November 2022 and the Biodiversity Net Gain
Assessment dated May 2023. Following finalisation of the soft landscape proposals (to
be included in the LEMP), the biodiversity metric will need to be updated and submitted to
the local planning authority for review to ensure that positive net gain can still be
achieved.

Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity.

129



13.

14.

15.

16.

No works or development shall take place until full details of all proposed street tree
planting, root protection systems, future management plan, and the proposed times of
planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and all tree
planting shall be carried out in accordance with those details and at those times.

Reason: To ensure the continued wellbeing of the trees in the interests of the amenity and
environmental quality of the locality.

Prior to Occupation Conditions

Prior to first occupation, a SuDS management and maintenance plan for the development
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan
shall include arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker
and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.
The approved SUDS maintenance plan shall be implemented in full in accordance with
the agreed terms and conditions.

Reason: To ensure the continued operation and maintenance of drainage features
serving the site and avoid flooding.

Prior to first occupation, a Resident’s Pack shall be produced and left in each apartment,
to inform new residents of the recreational opportunities available to them, the sensitivities
of local nature conservation sites and how visitors can minimise their impact plus details
for becoming involved in the ongoing conservation of these sites. The pack will also
provide residents with details of public transport links and foot/cycle paths to encourage
the use of other modes of transport to the car. The packs should also advise people how
to behave carefully in protected areas so as not to harm wildlife and habitats, e.g. putting
dogs on leads during bird nesting season and throughout the year in protected areas. The
Resident’s Pack should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to
occupation, and provided to residents as approved.

Reason: In the interests of preserving and enhancing ecological assets.

Prior to the first occupation details of external lighting shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include:

i) A drawing showing sensitive areas and/or dark corridor safeguarding areas.

i) Description, design or specification of external lighting to be installed.

iif) A description of the luminosity of lights and their light colour including a lux contour
map.

iv) A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the light
fixings.

v) Methods to control lighting (e.g. timer operation, passive infrared sensor)

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the approved details. These shall be maintained thereafter in
accordance with these details.

Reason - To ensure the proposed development does not have an adverse effect on the

character and appearance of the area and does not harm biodiversity within the site and
the wider area.

130



17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

The development shall not be occupied until sheltered, secure and accessible bicycle
parking has been provided in accordance with details to be submitted as part of the
Reserved Matters application(s). The storage area shall be maintained for this purpose
thereafter.

Reason: To promote sustainable travel and healthy communities.
Additional Conditions

During the construction phase (including preparatory groundworks), no machinery shall
be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries shall be taken at or
dispatched from the site outside the following times: Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm,
Saturday 8.00 am-1.00 pm nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

The relevant Reserved Matters application(s) submitted pursuant to Condition 1 shall
include details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of
any building and surface treatments. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity

Details to be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application(s) in accordance with
Condition 1 shall include existing and proposed levels, including finished floor levels and a
datum point outside of the site. All development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity the visual amenities of the area.

Details to be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application(s) in accordance with
Condition 1 shall include balconies at least 1.5m deep, installed to a minimum of all
affordable units.

Reason: To conform with requirements of the adopted adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham,
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Policy SD4, and the National Design Guide HN1.

Details to be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application(s) in accordance with
Condition 1 shall include maximum building height elevations not exceeding 8.5m above
existing ground level.

Reason: To conform with requirements of the adopted adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham,
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Policy SD4, and the National Design Guide HN1.

The landscaping details to be submitted pursuant to Condition 1 shall provide full details
of both hard and soft landscape proposals. The landscape scheme shall include the
following details:

(a) positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatments to be erected,;

(b) hard landscaping materials;

(c) a plan showing details of all existing trees and hedges on the site. The plan should
include, for each tree/hedge, the accurate position, canopy spread and species, together
with an indication of any proposals for felling/pruning and any proposed changes in

131



ground level, or other works to be carried out, within the canopy spread,;

(d) a plan showing the layout of proposed tree, hedge, shrub, ornamental planting and
grassland/wildflower areas;

(e) a schedule of proposed planting, noting species, planting sizes and proposed
numbers/densities;

(f) a written specification outlining cultivation and other operations associated with plant
and green grass establishment;

(g) a schedule of maintenance, including watering and the control of competitive weed
growth, for a minimum period of five years from first planting.

All planting and seeding/turfing shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details in the first planting and seeding/turfing seasons following the completion or first
occupation of any apartment.

The planting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved schedule of
maintenance. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from the completion
of the planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, to ensure the development contributes to a
multifunctional network of green infrastructure, delivers ecosystem services for people
and wildlife.

12. Informatives

1 In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought
to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

2 The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is likely
to impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and any
demolition required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities Network
Management Team at Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before
undertaking any work, to discuss any temporary traffic management measures required,
such as footway, Public Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking
restrictions a minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary
Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of Temporary Traffic
Management measures to be agreed.

3 It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors scheme

and comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is made to
“respecting the community” this says: Constructors should give utmost consideration to
their impact on neighbours and the public

¢ Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

¢ Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

o Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

» Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the Code.

132



The CEMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the local
community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should also
confirm how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an agreed
Service Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared with
the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for the site
coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to obligations
under existing Legislation.

The applicant is reminded that written permission for the proposed connection from the

current S104 owner must be obtained before a S106 application can be made to Severn
Trent Water for the indirect sewer connection.

133



&
&
&0

Wl A

A




KEY

¢ RIYC

21NO. APARTMENTS

MAIN ACCESS

EMERGENCY ACCESS

FOOT/CYCLE ACCESS

BLOCK PAVED
PARKING BAYS

TARMACADAM ROAD

o/

PAVED LINK WITH FEATURE
LANDSCAPING/PUBLIC
REALM TREATMENT

FOOTPATH

PROPOSED TREE ALONG
ROAD FRONTAGE

RETAINED TREE

GREEN SPACE WITH
LANDSCAPE PLANTING

FEATURE LANDSCAPING

2|l m

®

NEW HEDGEROW

GREEN TERRACE

GREEN ROOF

MOTORCYCLE PARKING

1.8M CLOSE BOARD FENCE

FEATURE TREE IN
PARKING AREAS

5 10 20m
_—_
Robert Hitchins

The Complete Development Solution

SITE: LONGFORD

TITLE: ILLUSTRATIVE LAYOUT

oer Revison:
NUMBER: 366.UD.04 REVISION: E

Sy

LD

Chedeasy

GRJ

E= e

04.09.2023 1/250 @ A2

‘The Manor, Boddington, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL51 0TJ
Tel: 01242 680694
www.robert-hitchins.co.uk

caD Ret: RErERENCE




EEE——

3IN°02SUIYIUY-IAGOI MMM
69089 Z¥Z10 1191

10 1§79 ‘24USIZASIIN0D ‘WeUUIALD UOIBLIPPOg JouB 3L

@001

w5

w/LorLe

g

4o

Hapors

al

g eia

worspoy

90°aN"eLE

ssaquny supmeia

SNOILVA3T3 - V %2018 LNIWLYVdY

onyy Bupmeia

QY¥049NO1T

o s

LoRNIoS 3ueLidojeAeq S1edwoD UL

SUII H3q0y

wg € 3 0

9[edS 0041

SNV1dd00714 - V X12019 LNINLIVdV




EEE——

5N°02°SUIYIINY-1I2GOI MMM

£10 1679 ‘2 2010 ‘Weyua:
v ® 00411 /T
s e
v §0°an"eLE
ooy oqua Sumesa

SNVIdY00T4 - V %2078 LNIWLYVdY

i Bomesa

QYO49NOT

uey 215

uonnjos juswidojaasq s3e|dwon 8y

SUII H3q0y

4

||I

wg € 3 0

9[edS 0041

¥007T4 ANOD3S

Bunys

aoeuia) Jooy

¥00Td Lsyld

Bunys

¥007T4 ANNOYO

Bunus

o

uaypy

Ly

137

Bumis

=N

€L'8

SNVI1dd00714 - V )20719 LNINLAVdV




EEE——

3IN°02SUIYIUY-IAGOI MMM
9 ZPZ10 1191
£10 1619 ‘24SIA15INIO “WIRYUYIU) ‘WOIBUPPOG “Jouew L

@001 wine ryo al
s owg | sgpmrmn | g uneig

v £0°AN"€LE
wospay oqunn upmesa

SNVId¥007T4 B SNOILVAITS - 9 ¥D079 LNIWLHVAY

i Sowesa

QY049NOT

ouey a5

LoRNIoS 3ueLidojeAeq S1edwoD UL

SUII H3q0y

.4

||I

wg € 3 0

9[edS 0041

¥0O07d 1syld

9L’L

¥0074 ANNOYD

Bunus

—MHM_ 210}5 8194 \

uayony
| Fo

2911

SNV1dd00714 8 SNOILVATTI - 9100719 LNINLYVdV

138




N0 SUIUY-11Dq0L MMM
169089 25710 :19L.
10157 ‘sauussong W) “BiBARPOG e

4o

sasocmo

al

s

v ® 00z:k /0T

£0°aN"€LE

e e

SINIDSLITULS IALLYOIANI

QY049NO1

Uonnjos wewidojeneq e1eidwos eyl

sUIUPUH 1150y

Y 4

i

JDIdg 39139 ILTINN

woe ol S 0

¥IONT
HIATIS/WYIID/ILIHM By AW

K218 paules
ONIGYVOd LNINID 4814
/40 ONIAAv 1D ¥3GNIL

(v3¥V ILVIGIWWI FHL NINTZS SY) STVI¥ILYIN JAILYDIANI

3INV1 Q4O49NO1 - a/d INIISLIFILS

1N3IISFAD @13I43LIHM WONH HOVOYddY - D/ ANIISLIFALS

AdvOod ¥YIMOL XD01D - 9/9 ANFISLIFILS

AVOY IYIFSYOH - V/V INIISLIILS




DONIYI4Y 428 QYD

3N°03°SUIYY-1ISGOI MMM
69089 Z¥Z10 ‘191

10 1679 ‘241Ysia)1$a0N0]9 ‘Weyualdy) ‘uoysulppog ‘louew ayl
€V ® 0051 7/80/0¢€ r4o ai
saes woveq | :Ag paoau g umeig
- orL-an-ese
“uoisinay Liaquiny Bumesq

NVd Ld3ONOD 3dVISANY

:apuL Suwmeiq

Q4O4ONOT

‘awen a5

uonnjog juswdojaraq 818|dwo) ay |

SUILRAH Haqoy

Joujw e2UIA

SISUBJBILIOG BUBGIDA

aoe1I9 | UBpIED)

[ ]

Jooy usplen

| ]

ssel) Aluswy

8unue|d [pausweulQ pasodoid

a8paH pasodold

931 ainiea pasodold

291 199.43G pasodold

(,exei8nse4, sniniaq snuidied)
2a.] 8unsix3y

o® ¢/

ADI

,2|eluoissed, edin |
8n[RA uelpuy|, edijng
luassey x eyadaN
snssioJeuopnasd snssinieN
118galIs sN204D)

sqIng 1@ snoaseqJaH

punowmous eselids

U3y, BSOY

\aulWlisH,p neaquely, snydspe|iyd
1iseey eLes|Q

siiejonad eaBuelpAH

lIpuUeIayIng aqeH

98p3 pay, suediqje aqaH

eleuls] eAsioy)

1IPOOMING SNYI0URSD)

Sunue|d |eausweusQ

wnijoyinbe xaj|

snjnieq snuid.ie)

98paH aAneN |ew.do4

\BIOPUE, Snun.d
Juiddig a8ueiQ s,x0D), B2ISBWOP SNje|A|

,92UBJ3JU0D), SIUNWWOoD snJAd

,91S949A7F, SN[e|

$334] ainjeaq

(e21353(e|N, BlIE SNQUIOS

‘ereiSnsed, snjniaq snuidied)

s33.4] 193415

1S17 LNV1d JAILVIIANI

\eieiBnsey, snjniaq snuidied

,BIOpUEY, SNUNId

\ea11safe|y, LB SNGJOS

91591943, SNej

By, eSOy




Agenda Iltem 5d

Planning Committee

Date 17 October 2023
Case Officer Alison Young
Application No. 22/01004/APP

Site Location

Parcel 2988 Downfield Lane Twyning Tewkesbury

Proposal Reserved matters application for 47 zero carbon dwellings including
layout, scale, appearance and landscaping pursuant to original outline
application 19/01084/0OUT granted at appeal ref:
APP/G1630/W/21/3280979

Ward Tewkesbury North and Twyning

Parish Twyning

Appendices Site location plan 792-01

Site layout plan 792-06A
Landscape proposals 223102-101C
Street scene plan 792-12-01

Street scene plan 792-12-02
Example house types 792-30-02
Example house types 792-32-02
Example house types 792-33-02

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Reserved Matters application for the erection of more than 20
dwellings

Recommendation

Approve

Site Location

131P00YH

S

e1S

lears
“Lang

141



1. The Proposal
Full application details are available to view online at:

1.1 The application is a reserved matters submission for 47 dwellings following the approval of
outline consent reference 19/01084/OUT at appeal. The principle of the development and the
access to the site were approved at outline and the current application is for the reserved
matters details of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping. The proposed layout has a mix
of detached and semi-detached dwellings as well as a mix of 1 bed, 2 bed, 3 bed and 4 bed
properties. The proposed dwellings are a mix of bungalows, one and a half storey and two
storey house types.

1.2 The site access is proposed from Fleet Lane to the south of the site and areas of open space
are proposed in the south- western and south-eastern corners of the site as well as to the
north- eastern and north -western sides of the site. These areas of open space consist of two
proposed wildflower meadows, an orchard and grassland surrounding an infiltration basin.

2. Site Description

2.1 The site is a roughly L-shaped piece of land which is pastureland and measures
approximately 2.59 hectares in area. The site adjoins Fleet Lane to the south, Downfield Lane
to the east, agricultural land to the north and the rear gardens of dwellings fronting onto
Goodier’s Lane to the west. The site is bound by mature hedgerows to the northern, eastern
and southern boundaries and a mix of boundary treatments associated with the neighbouring
dwellings to the west.

2.2 The site is located within flood zone 1. There are no listed buildings directly adjoining the site
and the nearest is Fleet Farmhouse which is approximately 170m from the site. The site is
located within the red zone for newts and within 1km of the Upham Meadow and Summer
Leasow SSSI.

3. Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision

Number Date

T.6181 Outline application for residential development. REFUSE | 18.04.1973

New vehicular access.
19/01084/0UT Outline application for residential development for | REFCON | 22.02.2021
up to 52 units and associated works with all
matters reserved for future consideration except
for access.

21/01082/0UT Outline application for residential development for | WDN 17.06.2022

up to 47 units and associated works, with all
matters reserved for future consideration except
for access (Revised proposal further to refused
application ref: 19/01084/0OUT.

142




Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

4.1  Building Control — requires Building Regulations approval

4.2  National Highways — no objection

4.3 Land Drainage — further information required in the form of a drainage strategy

4.4  Building Control — requires Building Regulations approval

4.5  Highway Authority — no objection subject to a cycle parking condition

4.6  Minerals and waste — no comment

4.8  Natural England — no comment

4.9 LLFA - No objection, condition 16 of the outline consent requires the submission of surface
water drainage details prior to commencement of development to accord with the FRA and
Drainage Strategy approved at outline.

4.10 Archaeology — assessed at outline and no comments

4.11 Housing and Enabling Officer — no objection subject to mix and tenure being secured by
s106 (s106 secured affordable housing at outline)

4.12 Ecology — no documents relating to ecology — all previous requirements apply — HRA and
BNG required.

4.13 STW — no objection but attention drawn to assets on site.

4.14 Tree Officer — more street trees and trees around the infiltration basin required.

4.15 Twyning Parish Council — no objection subject to the resolution of certain details:-
- Removal of silver birch trees
- Landscape management plan needs to specify who is responsible for actioning and
financing the plan
- Comment that it is noted that custom/ self-build plots will be identified

5. Third Party Comments/Observations
Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.1  The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21

days. Four third party representations have been received and are summarised below
e Existing problems with surface water disposal and sewerage infrastructure
e The site is low lying land and acts as a soakaway for the existing village
o Highway safety concerns resulting from additional traffic — construction and
residential — on the narrow lane network
¢ No footpath linking the site to the school or wider public transport network
o More affordable housing required

143


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.

e Self build/ custom build mentioned but not identified
e pressure on infrastructure
e Controls are required to prevent loss of hedgerow

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Statutory Duty

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

— SP1 (The Need for Development)

— SP2 (Distribution of New Development)

— SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)
— SD4 (Design Requirements)

— SD6 (Landscape)

— SD8 (Historic Environment)

— SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

— SD10 (Housing Development)

— SD11 (Housing Mix and Standards)

— SD12 (Affordable Housing)

— SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
— INF1 (Transport Network)

— INF2 (Flood Risk Management)

— INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

— INF6 (Infrastructure Delivery)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

— RESS5 (New Housing Development)

— RES12 (Affordable Housing)

— RES13 (Housing Mix)

— DES1 (Housing Space Standards)

— NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
— ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

— TRAC1 (Pedestrian Accessibility)

— TRAC2 (Cycle Network and Infrastructure)

— TRAC3 (Bus Infrastructure)

— TRACS9 (Parking Provision)

144



6.5

6.6

Neighbourhood Plan

Twyning Neighbourhood Development Plan — 2011-2031 (adopted January 2018)

GD1 - Development outside the development boundary
GD3 - Development Principles

GD4 — Landscape and biodiversity

GD5 - Provision for vehicles

GD6 — Effect on neighbouring properties
GD7 — Water resources, quality and flood risk
GD8 — Lighting

H2 — Housing standards, design and mix

H3 — Affordable housing

TP1 — Traffic

TP2 — Access

Other relevant policies/legislation

— Human Rights Act 1998
— Article 8 (Right to Respect for Private and Family Life)
— The First Protocol - Article 1 (Protection of Property)

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that
the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so
far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), saved
policies of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a
number of 'made’ Neighbourhood Development Plans including the Twyning NDP.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the
National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

Conditional Requirements

The outline permission included conditions requiring the submission of details and these
conditions are summarised below:

Condition 4 requires the reserved matters to include details of materials, existing ground and
proposed floor levels, proposed boundary treatment and details of the retention of existing
trees and hedges and their protection during the course of development. The submission
documents include a schedule of external finishes as well as an external finish key plan. The
finished floor levels of the proposed dwellings are shown on the site layout plan and a

145



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

building height plan forms part of the submission. In addition a boundary and enclosure
plan, tree report and landscaping scheme have been submitted.

Condition 12 required submission of a housing mix statement for the proposed open market
housing. The submitted Housing Mix Statement clarifies that the affordable housing element
will be as set out in the s106 agreement for the outline consent. In terms of open market
housing the total number of properties is 28 with 3 x 2 bed dwellings, 19 x 3 bed dwellings
and 6 x 4 bed dwellings.

Condition 14 requires the submission of construction management plan prior to the
commencement of development.

Condition 16 requires details of the means of disposal of surface water to be submitted
which accord with the details set out in the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy
submitted with the outline application and Condition 17 requires submission of a
management and maintenance plan for the surface water drainage system. These details
are required prior to the commencement of development and no additional drainage
information has been submitted with the reserved matters

Condition 18 requires drainage plans for the disposal of foul water drainage and condition
19 requires investigation into whether foul sewerage improvements are required and any
identified improvements to be undertaken.

The outline permission was also subject to Section 106 agreements with the Borough
Council and Gloucestershire County Council regarding school transport costs, library
provisions, travel plan monitoring, affordable housing, public open space contributions,
refuse and recycling contribution and self build housing.

Principle of development

The principle of residential development at the site has been established through the grant
of outline planning permission. This current application relates to the approval of reserved
matters in respect of layout, appearance, landscaping and scale of the development.

The application is supported by a range of technical documents including the following:
- Design statement
- 10 year landscape management plan
- Arboricultural report
- Housing mix statement
- Materials, Boundary Treatments and Storey Height Plans
- Proposed parking and refuse storage/collection plans
- Proposed Landscaping/planting Plans
- House Type Plans

Layout, appearance, scale and density

The NPPF states that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and
work and helps make development acceptable in communities. Policy SD4 of the JCS
advises that new development should respond positively to and respect the character of the
site and its surroundings, enhance local distinctiveness and the grain of the locality. Policy
INF3 states that where green infrastructure assets are created, retained or replaced within a

146



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

scheme they should be properly integrated into the design and contribute to local character
and distinctiveness. Policy RES5 of the TBLP states that proposals should be of a design
and layout that respects the character, appearance and amenity of the surrounding area and
is capable of being integrated within it. Policy GD3 of the Twyning NDP requires new
dwellings to respect the local character and historic and natural assets of the surrounding
area in accordance with listed design criteria.

An illustrative layout plan was submitted with the outline application and the reserved
matters submission is broadly in accordance with these details. As described above the
proposed layout has a mix of detached/ semi-detached dwellings and one and a half storey
and two storey house types are proposed as well as bungalows. Existing hedging is to be
largely retained and areas of open space are proposed in the south- western and
south-eastern corners of the site as well as to the north- eastern and north -western sides of
the site. The Appeal Inspector for the outline scheme concluded that the development would
result in moderate harm to the character and appearance of the area through the
introduction of built development on a green field site but that there would be scope through
the reserved matters to retain the existing hedges and provide landscaping in order to soften
the impact. The location of the proposed areas of open space to the corners of the site and
retention and reinforcement of the existing boundary hedging helps with the transition
between the site and the open countryside to the north and east.

The Design Statement submitted with the reserved matters application assesses the context
of the site and states that there is a mix of detached and semi-detached dwellings in the
area and that built development is generally set back from the road frontage. Dwellings are
proposed to be a mix of construction materials although predominately brick with some
render and with varying roof finishes. Boundaries are predominantly brick walls or hedging.
The design principles outlined for the development include orienting the properties to create
active frontages, ensuring suitable separation from existing dwellings along with suitable
landscape screening, biodiversity enhancement and green infrastructure through the site,
building heights and form taking local developments into consideration, a design responsive
to the local context and a simplified material palette and architectural detailing to break up
the built form and add variety.

These design principles have been incorporated within the proposed layout, house types
and detailed design elements proposed. The dwellings front onto the open space around the
development creating active frontages with parking to the sides or fronts of dwellings
creating opportunities for active surveillance.

The proposed scale/ height and design/ materials of the house types reflect the context of
the site and adjoining residential development and the scheme is of a relatively low density
in keeping with the location adjoining a rural settlement. One and a half and single storey
dwellings are proposed at the entrance to the site and in the south east corner adjoining the
attenuation basin and facing towards the junction of Fleet Lane and Downfield Lane. Single
storey and one and a half storey dwellings are also proposed to the west of the site
adjoining the rear gardens of the dwellings fronting onto Goodier’s Lane and two storey
properties would be sited towards the centre and northern parts of the site. The siting of the
dwellings with the lower ridge heights to the edges of the site along with the retention of the
existing boundary hedges will help to ensure that the development is not visually prominent
within the rural landscape.

147



8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

The proposed house types incorporate traditional design features including porches, brick
headers, plain brick eaves including dentil courses and plain verges. The design features
proposed are considered acceptable and appropriate in the context of the surrounding built
development.

The materials and finishes plan indicates that the majority of the dwellings will be finished in
brick with some render finish dwellings on key corners and some dwellings with render
features/ gables. All properties would have tiled roofs. This mix of materials accords with the
existing dwellings in the vicinity of the site which are predominantly of brick finish. The
application includes a materials schedule and the brick and tile types proposed are
considered acceptable and would blend in with the materials used in the relatively recent
development to the southern side of Fleet Lane opposite the site.

The plan of proposed boundary treatments submitted with the application, whilst generally
considered acceptable, includes some sections of close boarded fencing which will be
visible within the public realm which is not considered acceptable. Amended boundary
treatment details have been requested along with elevational plans of the proposed
boundary treatments and further details will be reported to Committee.

Overall, in terms of layout, scale, character and design, the development is considered to
accord with the requirements of JCS SD4, TBP RES5 and Policy GD3 of the NDP.

Access and highway safety

Policy INF1 of the JCS advises that proposals should ensure safe and efficient access to the
highway network is provided for all transport modes and that the impact of development is
severe upon the highway network. Policy SD4 (vii) also requires development to be well
integrated with the movement network within and beyond the development itself, ensuring
links by other modes and to green infrastructure. Policy GD5 of the Twyning Neighbourhood
Plan states that where possible new development should include off street parking and that
new roads should be achieved in a way that does not detract from the character and
appearance of the area.

The principle of developing the site with regards to highway safety impacts was considered
and agreed at outline. The means of accessing the site was approved at outline and the
decision included conditions relating to the access junction, carriageways, visibility splays
and their future management and maintenance to ensure safe access and egress to the
site.

The Highway Authority originally raised objections to the reserved matters layout on the
grounds of the lack of pedestrian footways on some of the plots and limited visibility
resulting from the position of Plot 16, as well as a lack of plans showing forward visibility
splays and a swept path analysis. However, following the submission of amended plans,
additional details and further commentary the Highway Authority has removed their
objection on the basis that the layout is broadly acceptable and that technical details can be
dealt with through a section 38 Highway Agreement.

The layout does not incorporate street trees on the main route through the site and the
reason given for this has been clarified with the applicant and relates to the drainage
easements that have to be maintained in these locations. Trees are proposed adjoining the
private drives and within the parking areas to the north and east of the site and the main
road through the site has low hedging with grass behind fronting the road.

148



8.18

8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

In regard to car parking, the County Highways Authority is satisfied that the development
meets the car parking standards within the Addendum to Manual for Gloucestershire Streets
(October 2021). The majority of units have on-plot car parking which does not dominate the
street scene. Most of the plots have garaging which can be used for secure cycle parking.

Overall it considered that the access, internal road layout and car parking provision is
acceptable and accords with Policy INF1 of the JCS, GD5 of the Twyning NDP and the
NPPF.

Trees, Landscaping and Open Space

JCS Policy SD6 seeks to protect landscape character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its
benefit to economic, environmental and social well-being. All applications will consider the
landscape and visual sensitivity of the area in which they are to be located and which they
may affect. JCS Policy SD4 (iv) requires the design of open space and landscaped areas to
be of a high quality design, providing a clear structure and constitute an integral and
cohesive element of the design. JCS Policy INF3 states that existing green infrastructure will
be protected in a manner which reflects its contribution to ecosystem services. Policy GD4
of the Twyning NDP requires new development to respect the local landscape character,
natural and ecological assets of the locality.

The principle of the development in the open countryside adjacent to Twyning, which is not
subject to any landscape designation, has been established through the outline consent.
The Inspector for the outline considered that there would inevitably be some landscape
harm resulting from the development of the site and that it would be important to retain the
existing hedges surrounding the site and to provide further landscaping to soften the impact
of the development.

The submitted layout plan is broadly in accordance with that submitted at outline and the
existing hedges surrounding the site are to be retained and where there are gaps additional
planting is proposed. There are four principal areas of open space proposed in the layout,
an orchard to the north west of the site, a wildflower meadow to the north east, a wildflower
area adjoining the site access to the south west corner of the site and the proposed
infiltration basin and grassland to the south east corner of the site. A green corridor and
pathway is proposed to the east of the proposed development linking the entrance to the
site with the wildflower area in the north eastern corner of the site.

A 10 year landscape management plan has been submitted which includes key objectives
such as the conservation of existing trees, scrub and hedgerows in good condition and
gapping up boundaries with additional native species, establishing new grassland,
wildflower and orchard areas, strengthening existing boundaries with additional planting and
providing a new, native wetland meadow in the infiltration basin. The plan states that 67
individual trees are to be planted with native species to the site perimeter and ornamental
species towards the centre of the site. The proposed orchard will be planted with a mix of
apple and pear varieties. Three new sections of hedgerow are proposed along the western
boundary to fill in gaps along with a further short section in the north-eastern corner. The
front boundaries of the dwellings adjoining the roads are to be planted with ornamental
hedges and planting beds to provide a green frontage to development through the site.

149



8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

The Tree Officer has commented that further tree planting needs to be incorporated within
and around the infiltration basin, that a footpath could also be included to create a circular
route within the open space and that dog/Litter bins should be placed at access points within
the site. The Applicant has provided feedback with regards to additional trees — both
adjoining the street and within the infiltration basin and has stated that planting in these
locations is not possible due to the existing drainage easements. They have also stated that
the creation of a mown path through the proposed wildflower meadow on the left hand side
of the access would encourage human activity in an area proposed for biodiversity
enhancement. As a footpath is incorporated in the layout to the right hand side of the access
this is considered acceptable. A revised plan has been submitted to address the Parish
Council’s concerns regarding birch trees.

Given the above it is considered that the proposed landscaping and open spaces within the
scheme would be broadly in accordance with the outline masterplan and that the detailed
planting proposals are acceptable with regards to JCS Policy INF3 and Policy GD4 of the
Twyning NDP.

Biodiversity

Policy SD9 of the adopted JCS (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) states amongst other things
that the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be protected and enhanced
in order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to current and future
pressures. Similarly, the adopted TBP Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and
Important Natural Features) requires amongst other things that proposals will, where
applicable, be required to deliver a biodiversity net gain across local and landscape scales,
including designing wildlife into development proposals.

The Council’s Ecology Advisor has commented that no documents have been submitted
with regards to ecology and that previous comments relating to 21/01082/OUT apply.
However that application was an outline application that was submitted subsequent to the
outline (19/01084/0OUT) to which this reserved matters relates and once the appeal for
19/01084/0UT was allowed the subsequent outline application was withdrawn.

The comments made by the Ecologist in relation to outline consent reference 21/01082/OUT
were that an HRA would be required and that revised BNG information would be required.
However, the current reserved matters application relates to a separate outline consent and
the Inspector added a condition requiring the submission of Home Information Packs to
educate future residents on the recreational impacts of European protected sites. The
outline consent to which this reserved matters relates contained no reference to or
requirement for BNG and therefore it would be unreasonable to require this at reserved
matters stage.

The site has traditionally been pastureland and used for grazing. In the previously submitted
ecology report the majority of the site was classified as poor semi-improved grassland which
was bounded by species poor hedgrows to the north, east and south. There was no
evidence of the site providing habitat supporting protected species and the habitats were
considered to be of low to moderate ecological value. The report recommended that new
areas should be created to support wild plant populations by seeding with appropriate seed
mixes. The proposed landscaping scheme incorporates two areas of wildflower meadow
planting as well as the creation of an orchard - including the retention of the grassland below
the new trees. The hedges surrounding the site are to be retained and where there are gaps
in the hedges these are to be planted with new species rich sections of hedgerow.
Therefore, whilst the proposed development will result in the loss of pastureland the

150



8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

landscaping scheme to be implemented will deliver biodiversity enhancements in the form of
the creation of more diverse habitats through the wildflower and orchard planting as well as
the new species rich sections of hedgerow.

Existing and future residential amenity

Policy SD4 (iii) requires that new development should enhance comfort, convenience and
enjoyment through the assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external space,
and the avoidance of mitigation of potential disturbance, including visual intrusion, noise,
smell and pollution. Policy SD14 further requires that new development must cause no harm
to local amenity, including the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Policy GD6 of the
Twyning NDP requires new development to demonstrate that they will not lead to
unacceptable impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties.

The proposed dwellings will be positioned sufficient distance from existing neighbouring
dwellings and one another to ensure an acceptable standard of amenity for both existing
and future occupiers in terms of impacts from overlooking/ loss of privacy and overbearing
impact. The proposed dwellings will meet the nationally described space standards in terms
of internal floor areas and each property will benefit from appropriately sized private, garden
areas.

It is therefore considered the proposed development would result in acceptable levels of
amenity being maintained for the existing residents and secured for future residents of the
development.

Housing Mix and Affordable housing

Policy SD12 of the JCS sets out a minimum requirement of 40% affordable housing within
the Strategic Allocation sites. It follows that where possible, affordable housing should be
provided on site and be seamlessly integrated and distributed throughout the development.
Affordable housing must also have regard to the requirements of Policy SD11 concerning
type, mix, size and tenure. The design of affordable housing should also meet required
standards and be equal to that of market housing in terms of appearance, build quality and
materials. Policy H2 of the NDP requires a requires an appropriate mix of housing along with
appropriate design and housing standard and Policy H3 seeks affordable housing provision.

Condition 12 of the outline consent required submission of a housing mix statement for the
open market housing. The affordable housing requirements are set out in schedule 2 of the
s106 agreement associated with the outline. 19 affordable dwellings are to be provided on
the site — a mix of 4 x 1 bedroom, 8 x 2 bedroom, 6 x 3 bedroom and 1 x 4 bedroom
properties, 11 for social rent and 8 in shared ownership. The proposed mix of open market
housing is 3 x 2 bedroom, 19 x 3 bedroom and 6 x 4 bedroom properties.

The submitted Housing Mix Statement assesses the proposals against the relevant local
plan policies, local housing need assessment and Neighbourhood Plan and concludes that
the proposed mix is acceptable.

The affordable housing mix has been amended slightly in relation to the s106 agreed at
outline with one 2 bed unit proposed in place of one of the 1 bed. The Housing Strategy and
Housing Enabling Officer has not raised any objection to the proposed amendment.

The proposed affordable housing mix is considered acceptable with regards to the
provisions of Policies SD11 and 12 of the JCS.

151



8.38

8.39

8.40

Foul and Surface Water Drainage

JCS Policy INF2 (2) (iv) requires new development to incorporate Sustainable Urban
Drainage Systems (SUDS) where appropriate to manage surface water drainage. Policy
INF6 also requires that the infrastructure requirements generated by a proposal are met,
including by adequate on and off-site infrastructure. Policy GD7 of the NDP requires the use
of SuDs in new developments.

The principle of developing the site is established by the outline consent which includes a
condition requiring the submission of a drainage strategy. The Drainage Engineer has
commented that the reserved matters submission is lacking information and recommends
conditions regarding a drainage strategy. However, as stated, this condition was included on
the outline consent and the details have not yet been submitted. The LLFA has confirmed
that they have no objections based on the fact that the layout of the surface water drainage
strategy is as indicated at outline and that the final design is subject to the provisions of
condition 16 of the outline approval.

Other matters — Sustainability credentials

The supporting design information states that the use of high levels of insulation and
installation of solar panels and air source heat pumps will ensure that the proposed homes
are zero carbon in terms of energy use. Each property will have water butts and a SUDs
drainage system is proposed for the site.

Conclusion

9.1

10.

Considering all of the above, the proposed development is acceptable in regards to layout,
scale, appearance, and landscaping. The application accords with the relevant Core
Strategy, Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan policies as detailed and the scheme
advanced would be in accordance with the outline consent and the indicative layout plan
approved under that permission.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

The application is therefore recommended for Approval

Conditions

The development hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the following
plans, documents and details:

792-01__ Location Plan (Approved)
792-06A__ Planning Layout

Details

792-07__Building Heights Key Plan
792-08__ Affordable Housing Key Plan
792-10__ External Material Finishes Key Plan
792-10-01__ External Materials Schedule
792-11 Site Sections_Al

792-12-01__ Street Scenes_Al

792-12-02__ Street Scenes_Al

792-144-1 - Swept Path Plans (Sheet 1)

152



792-144-2 - Swept Path Plans (Sheet 2)

792-145 - Parking Allocation Plan

792-146 - Refuse Strategy Plan

792__Proposed Access and Visibility - 2019-F-009-008 (Approved)
22132.101.C Landscaping

House types

792-30-01__House Type HO2
792-30-02__House Type HO2
792-31-01_ House Type HO2 DA
792-31-02___House Type HO2 DA
792-32-01__ House Type SC3
792-32-02__House Type SC3
792-33-01___House Type AG3
792-33-02__House Type AG3
792-34-01_ House Type TY3
792-34-02__House Type TY3
792-35-01__House Type PB3
792-35-02___House Type PB3
792-36-01__ House Type PB3
792-36-02__ House Type PB3
792-37-01___House Type HT4
792-37-02__House Type HT4
792-38-01__ House Type 2B4P + 1B2P
792-38-02__ House Type 2B4P + 1B2P
792-39-01__House Type 2B3P
792-39-02__ House Type 2B3P
792-40-01__ House Type 2B4P
792-40-02__House Type 2B4P
792-41-01__ House Type 3B5P
792-41-02__ House Type 3B5P
792-42-01  House Type 1B2P + 4B6
792-42-02__House Type 1B2P + 4B6P
792-50__Garages_A3 Engineering

Reports

792 Design Statement

792__ Arboricultural Report

792__Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
792 Landscape Management Plan

792 Housing Mix Statement

Except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans.

153



12.

The Landscaping scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details no
later than the first planting season following the first occupation of the development and
shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the details set out in the 10 year
Landscape Maintenance Plan.

Reason: Interest of the landscape character and visual amenity of the area.

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

The decision is to be read in conjunction with planning permission 19/01084/OUT including
the associated S106 legal agreements.

The developer is advised that all pre-commencement conditions on outline approval ref:
19/01084/0UT shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing,
prior to commencement of the development hereby approved.

Highway to be adopted

The development hereby approved includes the construction of new highway. To be
considered for adoption and ongoing maintenance at the public expense it must be
constructed to the Highway Authority’s standards and terms for the phasing of the
development. You are advised that you must enter into a highway agreement under Section
38 of the Highways Act 1980. The development will be bound by Sections 219 to 225 (the
Advance Payments Code) of the Highways Act 1980. Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal
Agreements Development Management Team at
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

You will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils cost's in undertaking the following
actions:

¢ Drafting the Agreement

e Set up costs

e Approving the highway details

¢ Inspecting the highway works

You should enter into discussions with statutory undertakers as soon as possible to
co-ordinate the laying of services under any new highways to be adopted by the Highway
Authority. The Highway Authority’s technical approval inspection fees must be paid before
any drawings will be considered and approved. Once technical approval has been granted a
Highway Agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed and the
bond secured.

Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway
and/or vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway. No drainage or
effluent from the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway
drain or over any part of the public highway.

154



— ovunea g P11 S3UIOH PUEIMBN 2202 O
- TO-C6L o 1=
anssr s s
720z Jaquiandas EV@OSTT:T
wheig
0D _]
/,,

ue|d uoi3ed07

Z 9seyd
3uiuAm] ‘sueq plaiyumoq

SIWOH |
PUB[MAN = A —

aSNoH Iy Jopry T
- 3

uojuel)

popay | jemui | sieq uonduosaq| Aoy

155

elyjeous|g

*3WI} 01 dWI} WOJJ panss| aq Aew YdIym s|ie3ap pue panss| suimelp
pajeoosse Jaylo |le ‘uonesypads diysueunpJop ‘uoneaydads Sulysiulg
yum uonounfuod Ul peay ‘suonedyads | sianjoejnuew jonpoud pue
sjuawalinbais Asonieis ‘sauljaping pue SpiepuelS |BUOISS3j0ld pue apel]
JUBA3[2J Y}IM 3DUBPIOIIE Ul 3¢ 03 UOIINIISUOD ||y *SPa220.d 3}JoM pajeldosse
2103q payuep pue papodas aq 03 Assnb 1o Aouedaisip Auy “sway
pa1ealigejaid Jo a1n3oejnueW 03 Joud YIS UO Pa}I3YD 3 O3 SOl Ip |IY

ONIMVYA SIHL IWO¥4 31v2S LON 0d

9snoH
Aingsipp3

pooma|Bue |




ooy

v 90-26, ™

Z2o¢ sequiandas @005T
-
%

P saUH pUEyRON 2202 O

Inoken Juuuery T u0sI3d9/pagy  (2)vIN SOT 9Bt
z9seyd 9 uosIad S /P3F € (e)on €6 dsae

i € uosiadp /pag T 6L dvaz
SuluAm] ‘aueq pjaumoq T uosiagv/pogz (440 ave
T uosIady /pagZ  (49) (E)INOL dveT

€ UOSIAJE /pAGT 9 deaz

T uosiadz /pag T (34)0s dzat

] T uos1adz /pRaT  (49) (2)vIN 0 dzat
PUBIMIN (¥ P
(%0p) BuisnoH ajqepioyy

9 uosiad £ /pagy PIH

z uosiad9 /pag € vagsd

v uosiadg /pag € €84

z uosiads /pag € AL

v U0sIad S /PAGE £V

7% u0sIad9 /pag € 5

T uosiady /P38 VAZOH

z uosiady /pag T ZOH

“oN adAL 2y

BuisnoH e uado

UOREPOWILIOY 40 I|NPAS.

mmmtsw_

auojg Buiddeys

Bupyied pajesolieun

(leoosey Hnojo Buined sooig)
Bunired Joysin
(e12:0u09 Jjeydsy)
Ppeos a0euNs paleys a|qeidopy
(e1puug 1nojo) Buined ooig)
abeseb yum aAup sjeALd
i
(alpuug “nojoy Bued o0ig) w
Bunpied pue onup SleAld
(leameN ‘1nojoQ "sqejs Buined)
Uedioo} sleAlid
ured umop ‘m‘
=
eoeds usdoolgnd *
Bunueid pasodoid .
uoneyeben Bunsixg .

19A8] geIS ;

L
@®
sawoy s|qepiogy
®
sawoy pasodoid ‘

sapiadosd Bunsixg -

[\EDEY]

aloejjeH

15910 I1H

MBI/ UOAY

uejieyo

elyjeous|g

asnoH

\f“
Aingsipp3 ¢
I ]
pooma|bue [ \\
\ v

sunaisunuon

Rt e . vt . et e smmoepons togos et N

ol o P o PO S, s P P 245 o
SNUAVRQ L WO¥3 3195 10N 00




Plant Schedules

plants from an T, . nursery and in the
National Plant Specification.

TREES

Key Specios Specification

AC  Acer campestre
ACS  Acer campestre ‘Streetwise’

CBFF Carpinus betulus 'Frans Fontaine’
CP  Crataegus prunifolia
LS Liquidamber siyraifluca
ME  Malus Evereste’

PA_ Prunus avium

PSR Prunus sargenti ‘Rancho'
PCC Pyrus calleryana Chanticleer
QR Quercus robur

SA_ Sorbus aucuparia

SAS Sorbus aucuparia ‘Streetwise'

Natve mse
hedgo 3am.
aws

Nt

Downfield Lane, Twyning
Landscape Proposals

SEL STD 10-12cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
SEL STD 10-12cm girth rootbalied
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed
HVY STD 12-14cm girth rootballed

— Nt e hige t6m

ORCHARD TREES

‘Orchard tree species to be local varieties of apple and pear and native crab
apple and pear. Final selection dependant on avalabilty.

Species.
MAK Malus domestica ‘Ashmead's Kernal'

Specification
MAIDEN M25 Rootstock

MAS Malus domestica ‘Aringham Schoolboys' - MAIDEN M25 Rootstock

MBP Malus domestica
MDR Malus 'Dymock Ret
MS  Malus syivestris
PBLR Pyrus Blackney Red'
PDB Pyrus ‘Ducksbam’
PC Pyrus communis

erkeley Pippin'
o

MIXED NATIVE SCRUB PLANTING
cies %

Species
Corylus avellana 30
Crataegus monogyna 10
Cornus sanguinea 20
Euonymus europaeus 5

llex aquifolium 10
Rosa arvensis 10
Rosa canina 5

Viburnum opulus. 10

LIGHT STD 6-8cm girth rb

ype
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
3-40-60cm 3L

Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot

To be planted in a shrub block at 1 per m2. Protect with shrub shelter! guard

60cm in height supported by cane.

QRCHARD WITH
LONG MEADOW GRASS

Native mied hige 60m

v ke hdge 1.

&

An
Wem 7

MIXED NATIVE HEDGE PLANTING
(Mix as recommended by consultant ecologist)

Species %
Acer campestre 20
Corylus avellana 5
Crataegus monogyna 50
Hlex aquifolium
Euonymus europacus 5
Prunus spinosa 10
0sa canina 5

SizefType
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
3-40.60cm 3L

Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot
Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot

SINGLE SPECIES NATIVE HEDGE PLANTING
Key Specios i

Cb  Carpinus betulus.

izelType
‘Transplant 1+1 60-80cm Bareroot

o be planted in a double staggered row, 300 mm between plants and

400mm between rows. (7 plants per

r m). Or in a shrub block at 1 per m2.

Protect with shrub shelter/ guard 60cm in height supported by cane.

SINGLE SPECIES ORNAMENTAL HEDGE
Key S si

cles

eg Euonymus ‘Emerald n Gold
Ejg  Euony:

rm  Escallonia Rubra Macrant
Lnf  Lonicera nitida ‘Fertiis'

Lnbg Lonicera nitida ‘Baggensens Gold'

Ob  Osmanthus burkwoodi

wo
Pil Photina fraseri Litle Red Robin'
Ped Prunus cistena ‘Crimson dwarf
Pol  Prunus laurocerasus ‘Otio Luyken’

VU Viburnum tinus ‘Eve Price’

erberis thunbergi f. ‘Atropurpurea’

pe
30-40cm 3L container
20-30Dcm 3L container

/mus japonicus ‘Green Rocket! ~ 20-30Dcm 3L container
R tha'

-40cm 3L container
30-400m 3L container
30-400m 3L container
40-60cm 5-7.5L container
20-30em, 3L container
30-40cm 3L container
30-40cm 3L container
40-60cm 5-7.5L container

To be planted in a single row, 300 mm between plants. (3 plants per m).

" ELTRATON, o
LB L

ORNAMENTAL PLANTS
Key Species

Al Amelanchier lamarkii

Als Anemanthele lessoniana

Bs  Brachyglottis 'Sunshine’

B5(B) Buxus sempervirens - Topiary Ball
BS(C) Buxus sempenvirens - Topiary Cone
Bdc Buddlieia davidi ‘Cotswold Blue'
Cbm_ Ceanothus ‘Blue Mound"

Cla Choysia tenata ‘Aztec Pearl”

Ct  Choysiatenata

Cis  Choysia tenata 'Sundance’

Cp  Cistus x purpureus.

Ea  Euonymus alatus

Esq Evonymus ‘Silver Queen’

Fim  Forsythia x intermedia Mini Gold'
Hre  Hebe albicans Red Edge’

Heg Hebe Emerald Gem'

Hgg  Hebe ‘Green Globe"

Hr Hebe rakaiensis

Hpp Heuchera Palace Purple’

Hm  Hypericum x moserianum

Jn Jasmine nudifiorum

Lah  Lavendula angustifoia "Hidcote'
Mss Miscanthus sinensis ‘Starlight

Nd  Nandina domestica

Pt Pachysandra terminalis

Ptb  Phormium tenax ‘Bronze baby'

Pmh Potentila Manteau d'Hermine

Son Santolina chamaecyparissus ‘Nana'
Sjr Skimmia japonica ‘Rubella’

Sjn  Skimmia japonica ‘Nymans'
Spirea japonica ‘Genpel'
‘Sarococca hookeriana var. humilis

st
St Stipatenussima
Vd  Viburnum x davidii
Vma Vinca minor ‘Alba"
Vie

SizefType
80-100cm 10L container
5-7.5L container 3/m*

30-40cm 3L container 3im*
40cm dia 10L container

80cm high 10L container
80-100cm 10L container
30-400ia 5-7.5L container 3/m*
30-40cm 3L container 3im?
40-60¢m 3L container 3/’
40-60cm 3L container 3/
30-40cm 2L container 4/m*
80-100cm 10L container
20-30Dem 3L container
80-100cm 10L container
30-40cm 3L container 3im*
30-40cm 3L container 3/m*
30-40cm 3L container 3/m?
30-40cm 3L container 3/m?

2L container 5/m

60-805-7.5L container 3/m?
30-40cm 3L container 3/m?
30-40cm 5L container 3/m*
57.5L container 2/m*

5-7.5L container 3/m*

15-20D 3L container S/

10L container

30-40cm 5-7.5L container 3/m*
20-30cm 3L container S/
30-40cm 3L container 3/m?
30-40cm 3L container 3im?
30-40cm 3L container 4/m?
20-30cm 3L container 4/m?

3L container /m*

30-40cm 5-7.5L container 3/m*
20-30dia 2L container S/m*

0.
Viburnum tinus ‘Eve Price' - Standard 80-100cm 10L container, haf standard

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAMME
Rootballed trees

planting stock to be p

season (Nov -March) within the fist planting season following completion of the

buiding works. Grass seed
buiding and planting work.

ac

to be sown in the first spring following completion of the.

Key

Existing rees

@
@z

Area of native scrub planting

N

Troe planting

Single species hedge planting
Native mixed hedge planting

Shrubs and herbaceous planting
Widfower grassiand

Long meadow grassiand

Amenty grass areas sown vilh a low

flowering lawn seed mix

Short mown amenity grass areas and
lawn to back gardens.

Welland meadow seeding to SuDS
features.

(@]
[
]

@ Mown grass pathiroute

GRASSLAND
Amenity seed mix / turf / lawn: 50 Mix Quality Lawn,
DLF Trifolium Pro Master.

Grass and Wildflower Mixes from Emorsgate Seeds or
equivalent. (Where possible seeds should be locally
Sourced to support the geneic integrity of local wild
plant populations):

EL1 - Flowering Lawn Mix

EMS3 - Special General Purpose Meadow Mixture.
EMS - Meadow Mixture for Wetlands

a7 e

Nt scrt e 206m2

Natwe mised adgs S

Scale 1:250
0123 5 10 20

1) Existing vegetation shown is indicative and
based on the topographical survey and aerial
photographs.

2) This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all other relevant MHP drawings and
information supplied by other consutants.

3) Hatch patters displayed on this drawing are
indicative only and do not represent actual
paving units or materlal sizes.

4) Alltree planting in proximity to buildings to
be checked by engineers to ensure foundation
detailing is appropriate.

P Downfield Lane, Twyning, Phase 2

=T Newland Homes.

T Landscape Proposals

22132.101
" FOR PLANNING

TewEy  Owesy e Ssam
HS AT Aug 2022 1250

LANDSCAPE
anchTECTE




PY1 SOUOH PUEIMAN 7202 &

s _— B - S 5 ' o gy s = 5 B
10-21-26L am onenunio> 5 2oass e
sy s puog 2
. T s
M,N%N ny VO00T:T i ov30ld Ty-€v 30ld
N T PLH (@)W 6L dvae
2U225 393115 nawaey E
soouns g
z aseyd :
SuiuAm] ‘aue pjayumoq i PR i
I3 Sy
£ swvon
y/ aneyen
B
[ -
e
—
> z
00z:T 3e3s
Tiold 88 9udds10ans

viold €301d 201
v

S30ld
€5 €S €5

oy 01d To-€7101d b-L101d
YIH (2)yW 6L dvae  0S dzaT/(2)v N 0S dZ8T 8 (€)Y OL dvaT €9V

00:T 3[e35
UONENUNUO) Y- 2UIS 192115

LE 8 9€ 10Id

SE0ld
(2)pW €6 dsae

810ld L30ld
va €8d

T30d 0T 01d 630ld
€9V €8d VIH €8d VIH

158

007 2[5
V-V 3U25 192115

6€101d

8€10ld
Y1H

€8d

v

e B i soraues . e Sueness Sl Sk oot N

1130 01 UDIDISO) |y “SPaEIOIA om PIIEDOSSE 210120 PAED pUe AT 30 01 A
ONIMYYA SIHL WO¥3 T1¥25 LON 00




wosnon ovsneia
- ¢0-CT-¢6L
20t ny Y@00ZT i
e

ENELISELYIS

po0

¢ 9seyd
SuluAm] ‘aueq pjaiyumoq

PUBIMIN (§

T [re——

o1 oun wosy

panss 0 few o
wonexyeads B
1139 01 Gommsos |y 5p3330.0 1iom FOIEOOSEE 3100 PRI PUE P13 20 O Nan

ONIMYYQ SIHL WO¥3 1¥D5 LON O

SLN :ueid Aoy

,
g,
Wiog

r—

o

ssauns.

auars Buddars

pr—

e

wereao

pa—

wouery

GOODIERS LANE

wenon
smoon

o vony

L2014 9z30ld
EAL EAL

2z01d
€9V

TZ101d
€5

0z101d
€9V

P sawoH puemoN 220z @

159

0021 3|e%S
270 Busds 1RAS

v



uosinay ‘oN Buimelq

P11 SAWOH pue|maN zz0Z @
- 20-06-26/ o s Ll N 4

anss) 1suty

ajeas
Tz0z Isnany EVO00T:T

umeig
o]

(zoH)
suonend|j adA| asnoH

SuluAm
\wcmn_ playumoq uoleAs|3 apiS uoleAs|J Jeay

PUB|M3N (§ | m

PRy lemul  aleq

I

160

uoljeAs|3 apis uoleAs|g Juol4




uosinay ‘oN Buimelq

- 20-CE-T6L o il =
770z 1sn3ny EY@O00T'T |
:U\s”w‘.n_
(€29)
suonend|j adA| asnoH
SuiuAm)

‘aueq p|ayumoqg uonens|3 epis

uoneAs|g Jeay

P¥] SSWOH pue|maN zz0z ®

PuUB|MIN(§

uonens|3 spls

.

Pt

il
I

L

[l O

uoneAs|3 juoid




uosinay ‘oN Buimelq

- C0-€E-C6L 2
Z20¢ 1sn8ny EV@OOT'T
oo
(eov)
suonend|j adA| asnoH
SuiuAm)

‘aueq pjaumoq

Sl "ol g

uoneAs|3 opis

PY1 SAWOH PURIMAN Z20Z @

uoneAs|J Jeay

PUB|M3N (§

=

PRy lemul  aleq

uoneas|3 apis

L T R

162

uoleAs|J juolq

ev



PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED (01/09/2023 —29/09/2023)

Appeal TBC Planning .
Start Date Number Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address Appeal Procedure
Mountross
05-Sept-23 | 21/00301/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3322288 Erection of a self-build dwelling. Cleeve Hill Written Representation
Southam
. Plot 10 Warren Fruit
Dismissed, Appeal against Farm
06-Sept-23 | Enforcement 19/00172/OPDEV APP/G1630/C/23/3322207 ppealagainst
. enforcement notice Evesham Road
Notice Upheld
Greet
Residential
development
Alowed welinge cregtionof | 1ane At Trumans Farm
1]Iﬁept-23 : 22/00650/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3314936 &> . Manor Lane
Planning new access, public open .
o . Gotherington
W Permitted space and other
associated ancillary
works.
14-Sept-23 | 23/00240/FUL | APP/G1630/D/23/3328529 Erection of a first floor rear extension and installation of a 9B Beckford Road Fast Track Appeal

rear roof dormer

Alderton

9 wa)| epuaby




	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5a 21/01307/FUL - Moat Farm, Malleson Road, Gotherington
	21.01307.FUL - Moat Farm Gotherington - Plans

	5b 21/01496/FUL - Almsbury Farm, Vineyard Street, Winchcombe
	21.01496.FUL - Almsbury Farm Winchcombe - Plans

	5c 23/00044/OUT - Land at Horsbere Drive, Longford
	23.00044.OUT - Land at Horsbere Drive Longford - Plans

	5d 22/01004/APP - Parcel 2988 Downfield Lane, Twyning
	22.01004.APP - Parcel 2988 Downfield Lane Twyning - Plans

	6 Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update

